
           
OFFICIAL AGENDA

TUESDAY September 19, 2023
Meeting Start Time:  9:30 a.m.

Board of County Commissioners
Yellowstone County, Montana

Stillwater Building
316 N. 26th Street, Room 3108

Billings, MT
9:15 a.m. Agenda Setting 

           

Pledge to the Flag: Moment of Silence: Minutes
REGULAR AGENDA

9:30 a.m. RECOGNITION

Brenda McKinnon Treasurer/Assessor 25 Years of Service
Ingrid Rosenquist County Attorney 20 Years of Service
Kimberly Foreman Youth Services Center 15 Years of Service

 

9:30 a.m. PRESENTATION

MetraPark Financial Update by Mike Mayott, Advisory Board President
 

 

9:30 a.m. BID OPENING

Bid Opening for Audit Services for Yellowstone County
 

 

9:30 a.m. PUBLIC HEARING

Public Hearing for MRM Unified Campus Low Income Housing Tax Credit Project 
 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON REGULAR, CONSENT AND FILED AGENDA ITEMS

 

1. PLANNING DEPARTMENT  

a. Onyx Pointe Subdivision - Preliminary Major Plat  
b. Gresham Subdivision - County Major Preliminary Plat  
c. Olive Grove Subdivision - Preliminary Minor Plat

 
 

2. PUBLIC WORKS  

Resolution 23-98 of Intent to Adopt No Parking Area on a Portion of Iroquois Trail and Setting the
Public Hearing for Tuesday October 10, 2023 @ 9:30 a.m. in Room 3108

 

CLAIMS

 CONSENT AGENDA 

1. CLERK AND RECORDER  

Release of an Agricultural Covenant for Lots 2B, 2C, 2D, and 2E, of Amended Plat of Lot 2, Johnson  



Release of an Agricultural Covenant for Lots 2B, 2C, 2D, and 2E, of Amended Plat of Lot 2, Johnson
Lane Materials Subdivision
 

 

2. COMMISSIONERS  

a. Board Resignation Thank You Letter - Richard Klose Sr., Cheryle Fisher & Robert Wolske  
b. Board Openings - Updated List  
c. Board Appointment - Erika Guy to Downtown Billings Partnership  
d. Letter to MTDOR Director Beatty

 
 

3. FINANCE  

a. Metra ARPA Infrastructure Contract with Terracon for Materials Testing on Construction Projects  
b. Memorandum of Understanding with the Eugene Sara Detachment #418 Marine Corps League for

Marker Placement at Riverside Cemetery
 

c. MetraPark Request to Expend for Cattle Panels for 4-H  
d. MetraPark Contract with Cushing Terrell for Architectural Services for Northwest Arena Level &

Concourse Level Concessions
 

e. Memorandum of Understanding and Agreement to Sub-Contract with Turn Key Health Clinics for the
MBCC Grant RSAT

 

f. Memorandum of Understanding and Agreement to Sub-Contract with Turn Key Health Clinics for the
DPHHS Grant HEART and SOR
 

 

4. SHERIFF  

Memorandum of Understanding between the Department of Justice - Highway Patrol Division and
Yellowstone County Sheriff's Office
 

 

5. HUMAN RESOURCES  

PERSONNEL ACTION REPORTS - Road and Bridge - 2 Appointments; District Court - 1
Appointment, Detention Facility - 1 Termination; Youth Services Center - 1 Termination; Sheriff's
Office - 1 Salary & Other
 

 

 FILE ITEMS 

1. AUDITOR  

Conflict of Interest Statements
 

 

2. CLERK AND RECORDER  

Board Minutes - Policy Coordinating Committee Board Minutes
 

 

3. CLERK OF DISTRICT COURT  

Disbursements and Checks for August 2023
 

 

4. COMMISSIONERS  

Public Comment - ZC 717
 

 

5. FINANCE  

Detailed Cash Investment Report August 2023
 

 

6. HUMAN RESOURCES  



Letter to Director of Emergency Management
 

 

7. PUBLIC WORKS  

a. Land Appraisal for Schmalz Property and Contract for Land Appraisal  
b. Right of Entry Permit for the Worden Ballantine Yellowstone County Water & Sewer District  

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON COUNTY BUSINESS

 
*Elections Canvass Immediately Following Board Meeting 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: September Recognition
Submitted By: Amy Mills

TOPIC:
Brenda McKinnon Treasurer/Assessor 25 Years of Service
Ingrid Rosenquist County Attorney 20 Years of Service
Kimberly Foreman Youth Services Center 15 Years of Service

BACKGROUND:
na

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
na



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: MetraPark Financial Update by Mike Mayott, Advisory Board President
Submitted For: Kevan Bryan, OMB Director  Submitted By: Kevan Bryan, OMB Director

TOPIC:
MetraPark Financial Update by Mike Mayott, Advisory Board President
 

BACKGROUND:
MetraPark recently developed a recap of FY23 operations and economic impact for public dissemination.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Presentation

Attachments
Metra FY23 Report 







   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Bid Opening for Audit Services for Yellowstone County
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
Bid Opening for Audit Services for Yellowstone County
 

BACKGROUND:
N/A

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Open and read aloud the bids.  Refer the bids to staff for recommendation. 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Public Hearing for MRM Unified Campus Low Income Housing Tax Credit Project 
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
Public Hearing for MRM Unified Campus Low Income Housing Tax Credit Project 
 

BACKGROUND:
No action from the Commissioners is required 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Hold Public Hearing 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular 1. a.        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
SUBJECT: Onyx Pointe Subdivision - Preliminary Major Plat
THROUGH: Monica Plecker 
FROM: Dave Green

TOPIC
Onyx Pointe Subdivision - Preliminary Major Plat

INTRODUCTION
On July 3, 2023, Land Development Solutions, LLC, agent for Myron and Nancy Gross, applied for preliminary
major plat approval of Onyx Pointe Subdivision. The subject property is generally located west of South 64th
Street West and south of Hesper Road. This parcel of land is outside of zoning. It is surrounded by residential
uses and farmland.

RECOMMENDATION
The Planning Board is forwarding to the Board of County Commissioners a recommendation to conditionally
approve the preliminary plat of Onyx Pointe Subdivision and adopt the Findings of Fact as presented in the staff
report.

VARIANCE REQUESTED
The applicant is not requesting a variance.

PROPOSED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL
Pursuant to Section 76-3-608(4), MCA, the following conditions are recommended to reasonably minimize
potential adverse impacts identified within the Findings of Fact.

1. To protect public health and safety and ensure maintenance of the proposed community septic system for some
of the lots within this subdivision, prior to final plat approval, the applicant will create RSID's for the maintenance
of the community septic systems and define which lots are part of which RSID.
2. To protect public health and safety, prior to final plat approval, the applicant will receive approval from the
MDEQ for the proposed water systems, septic systems and the proposed storm water management.
3. To protect public health and safety and provide for future road maintenance, prior to final plat approval, the
applicant will create an RSID for the maintenance of the new public roads within the subdivision.
4. To protect public health and safety, prior to final plat approval, any information in the TIS that needs to be
included in the SIA will be added to the final SIA for the subdivision. Any recommendations County Public Works
and the Board of County Commissioners determine need to be built will also be included in the final SIA.
5. To protect public health and safety with proper fire suppression, prior to final plat approval, the applicant will
submit construction drawings of the dry hydrant system to Billings Fire Department for review and approval. Once
installed the applicant will request Billings Fire Department to test the system to ensure it works correctly and get
a sign off from Billings Fire Department. The applicant will also create an RSID for the dry hydrant system
maintenance and create a public easement for where the fire tank is located.
6. To provide for the correct cash-in-lieu contribution for parkland, prior to final plat approval, the applicant will
follow Section 10.6 Determining Cash Contributions for Parkland, for the correct amount to be paid to Yellowstone
County parks department. The applicant will also change language in the SIA under the heading VII. Parks/Open
Space stating they will be providing a cash-in-lieu of parkland for the subdivision.
7. To minimize the effects on local service, prior to final plat approval, the applicant will coordinate with the USPS
for locating and providing the correct amount of space for safely delivering the mail to the residents.
8. To minimize effects on the natural environment, prior to final plat approval a weed management plan and
property inspection shall be completed by the County Weed Department.
9. Minor changes may be made in the SIA and final documents, as requested by the Planning, Legal or Public
Works Departments to clarify the documents and bring them into the standard acceptable format.
10. The final plat shall comply with all requirements of the Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations, rules,



policies, and resolutions of Yellowstone County, and the laws and Administrative Rules of the State of Montana.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY
Pre-application meeting December 1, 2022
Preliminary plat application submitted to Planning Division on July 3, 2023
Departmental review meeting July 13, 2023
Preliminary plat resubmittal July 20, 2023
Planning Board plat review August 8, 2023
Planning Board public hearing August 22, 2023
Preliminary plat to Board of County Commissioners, September 19, 2023
60 working-day preliminary plat review period ends September 27, 2023

PLAT INFORMATION
General location: West of South 64th Street West and south of Hesper Road  
Legal Description: Tract 3 of COS 3753  
Owner/Subdivider: Myron and Nancy Gross  
Surveyor/Engineer: Land Development Solutions, LLC  
Existing Zoning: Outside of zoning  
Proposed Zoning: Outside of zoning  
Existing Land Use: Farmland  
Proposed Land Use: Residential  
Gross area: 40 acres  
Net area: 31.37 acres  
Proposed number of lots: 36  
      Max.: 1.65 acres
      Min.: 0.56 acres  

Parkland requirements: Parkland dedication requirement is 1.86 acres.  

PLANNING BOARD PUBLIC HEARING DISCUSSION
Planning staff gave a brief presentation about the proposed Onyx Pointe Subdivision. The conditions of approval
were reviewed and staff was available for questions. There were a couple of questions from the board seeking
clarity for proposed utility easements. Staff deferred those questions to Mr. Travis West, the engineer for the
proposed subdivision. There was another question regarding the parkland and where the nearest park is located.
Staff stated there are parks in the area but that they are not necessarily close and convenient to this subdivision.
There were no other questions for staff regarding the proposed subdivision. 

Board President Cook opened the public hearing, Mr. Travis West stood to speak about the proposed subdivision.
He explained the community septic systems proposed and why they are being proposed. Some lots are within 1/4
mile of a state waterway, so they are proposing community septic systems for the lots that are just within that
boundary. Mr West also stated they are going to ask the Board of County Commissioners to accept the proposed
0.2 acre public park for the subdivision. The County Park Board has stated they do not want the small parcel as
parkland and has requested a cash in lieu contribution for parkland instead. Mr. West explained the utility
easements for the subdivision to the board.

There were no other questions and there was no one to speak for or against the proposed subdivision.

The public hearing was closed and Board President Cook asked for a motion. A motion was made to forward to
the Board of County Commissioners a recommendation of conditional approval with the Findings of Fact and the
SIA. The motion was seconded.There was no further discussion from the board.The motion passed with a
unanimous voice vote. 

YELLOWSTONE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS FINDINGS OF FACT
See attachment Findings of Fact



CONCLUSIONS OF FINDINGS OF FACT
See attachment Findings of Fact

RECOMMENDATION
The Planning Board is forwarding to the Board of County Commissioners a recommendation to conditionally
approve the preliminary plat of Onyx Pointe Subdivision and adopt the Findings of Fact as presented in the staff
report.

Attachments
Findings of Fact
Proposed Plat
SIA Draft



 Page 1 of 5 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 

The City-County Planning Division Staff has prepared the Findings of Fact for Onyx 

Pointe Subdivision.  These findings are based on the preliminary plat application and 

supplemental documents addressing the review criteria required by the Montana 

Subdivision and Platting Act (76-3-608, MCA) and the Yellowstone County Subdivision 

Regulations (YCSR).  

  

A.  What are the effects on agriculture, local services, the natural environment, 

wildlife and wildlife habitat and public health and safety (76-3-608 (3) (a) MCA) 

(Section 3.2 (H) (2) YCSR) 

  

1.  Effect on agriculture and agricultural water users’ facilities  

The subject property has historically been used for farming purposes. There are no water 

rights or shares that will be available for the future property owners in this subdivision. 

Any surrounding ditches will be left in place with access to them for maintenance 

purposes. This proposed subdivision will have minimal impact on water users’ facilities.  

  

2.  Effect on local services 

  

a.   Water – The applicant is proposing individual wells for each lot. They will be 

installed meeting the requirements outlined in Section 4.9 of the Yellowstone County 

Subdivision Regulations and the DEQ. The operation and maintenance of the well shall 

be the responsibility of the lot owner.   

 

b. Septic - The applicant is proposing some lots will have their own septic system, and 

some lots will be part of a community septic system. They are proposing 2 utility lots for 

community septic systems, utility lots 3 and 4. Those systems are for some of the lots on 

the east end of the subdivision. The utility lots will be dedicated to the public and an 

RSID created to maintain the community septic systems. The lots using the community 

septic systems will be part of the RSID’s for maintenance. This is outlined in the SIA 

under VI Utilities B. second paragraph. (Condition #1) They will be built in compliance 

with the requirements outlined in Section 4.8 of the Yellowstone County Subdivision 

Regulations and the DEQ.  Each system will be maintained by the individual lot owner. 

 

Both the proposed water and septic systems will be reviewed and approved by MDEQ 

with a copy of the approval provided with the final plat. (Condition #2) 

 

All private utilities, power, telephone, gas and cable television will be installed in the 

public right of way or easements. 

  

c.   Streets and roads – Roads within the subdivision will be built in 60-foot-wide right 

of ways with a 24-foot paved surface and 2-foot-wide shoulders on each side. Drainage 

swales will be installed along the road sides as required by MDEQ for stormwater 

management. The applicant will be required to create an RSID for maintenance of roads 

within the subdivision. (Condition #3) 

 



 Page 2 of 5 

The applicant has submitted a TIS to the Yellowstone County Public Works department 

for their review and comment. Once County Public works has reviewed the document, 

any corrections or clarifications will be worked out between Public Works and the 

applicant for a complete and acceptable TIS. Any information in the TIS that needs to be 

included in the SIA will be added to the final SIA for the subdivision. Any 

recommendations from the TIS are only implemented by the Board of County 

Commissioners based on recommendations from County Public Works. (Condition #4) 

 

d.   Fire and Police services – The property is within the BUFSA firefighting area, 

which is handled by the Billings Fire Department. Subdivision regulations require that 

major subdivisions have a 30,000-gallon dry hydrant system for the subdivision. The 

proposed location of the dry hydrant is on utility Lot 3. They will be providing a public 

easement for it and creating an RSID for its maintenance.  The applicant will provide 

drawings and specification to the Billings Fire Department for review and approval prior 

to installation. The dry hydrant will be tested and signed off by the Billings Fire 

Department prior to final plat. This information is outlined in the SIA under the heading 

IV. Emergency Service. (Condition #5) 

 

The Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Department will provide law enforcement services to 

this subdivision.   

  

e.   Solid Waste disposal – The Billings Landfill has capacity for solid waste disposal.  

Solid waste will be collected and disposed of by a private garbage collection company.  

Each lot owner will be responsible for arranging for collection. 

  

f.   Storm water drainage – Proposed storm water drainage shall be submitted to the 

MDEQ for review and approval prior to final plat. All proposed stormwater systems shall 

meet the requirements of Section 4.7 of Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulation’s 

and the requirements of MDEQ. (Condition #2) 

  

g. School facilities – The proposed subdivision is located within Elder Grove School for 

K through 8. Students will attend West High School for 9-12. 

  

h. Parks and recreation – This proposed subdivision is required to provide parkland. 

The amount the applicant is required to provide is 1.86 acres. They are proposing to 

provide a .2-acre lot for parkland. This would be 8,712 square feet of public parkland. 

County Parks and County Public Works are not accepting this as parkland and are 

requiring a cash in lieu contribution for the entire 1.86-acre requirement. The County 

does not want such a small area for parkland. The applicant is to add language in the SIA 

under the heading VII. Parks/Open Space stating they will be providing a cash in lieu of 

parkland for the subdivision. (Condition #6) 

 

i. Postal Service – The applicant will coordinate with the USPS to provide areas for 

Central Box Units for the subdivision and enough area for the postal delivery person to 

safely deliver the mail. (Condition #7) 

 

j. Historic features – No known historic or cultural assets exist on the site. 



 Page 3 of 5 

 

k.   Phasing of Development - The applicant is not proposing to develop this subdivision 

in phases.  

  

3.  Effects on the natural environment 

The development will use noxious weed control measures to prevent the spread of 

noxious weeds to adjacent developed or agricultural land. As required by County 

Subdivision Regulations Section 4.15 all county subdivisions are required to apply for 

and obtain a weed management plan with the County Weed Department. That plan will 

be submitted with final plat approval. (Condition #8) 

  

There are no apparent or known natural hazards on the property. 

  

4.  Effects on wildlife and wildlife habitat 

There are no known endangered or threatened species on the property.  A paragraph in 

the ‘Conditions that Run with the Land’ section of the SIA warns future lot owners of the 

likely presence of wildlife in the area and their potential to damage residential 

landscaping.   

  

5.  Effects on public health and safety 

Plans and designs for the water and septic system will be reviewed and approved by 

MDEQ prior to final plat approval to ensure public health and safety. 

 

Fire and emergency services are provided for this proposed subdivision from Shepherd 

Volunteer Fire Department and the Yellowstone County Sheriff’s department.  

  

B.   Was an environmental assessment required?  If yes, what, if any, significant 

adverse impacts were identified? (76-3-603 MCA) (Chapter 9, YCSR) 

  

An environmental assessment was required for this subdivision. Because the current use 

of the land is for farming purposes the natural habitat has been disrupted long ago. There 

are no known endangered species on the land. Impact to habitat should be minimal. There 

were no other impacts identified on the land. 

 

C.  Does the subdivision conform to the Yellowstone County 2008 Growth Policy, 

the 2018 Urban Area Transportation Plan and the Billings Area Bikeway and Trail 

Master Plan Update? [BMCC 23-302.H.4.] 

 

1. Yellowstone County - 2008 Growth Policy 

The subdivision is consistent with the following goals of the Growth Policy: 

• Goal:  Predictable land use decisions that are consistent with neighborhood 

character and land use patterns.   

There is existing residential development on the land north and south east of the 

proposed subdivision. With large lots residential development to the south and west. 

• Goal:  New developments that are sensitive and compatible with the character of 

adjacent County town sites. 

This proposal is consistent with the type of development in the surrounding area. 



 Page 4 of 5 

• Goal:  Controlled weed populations.   

The developer shall complete a weed management plan and shall provide a re-vegetation 

plan as required by County Subdivision Regulations. 

 

2.  2018 Billings Urban Area Long Range Transportation Plan 

  

The subject property maintains the road study area of the Transportation Plan. As 

proposed, the internal streets are neighborhood streets associated with this subdivision.  

  

3.  Billings Area Bikeway and Trail Master Plan (BABTMP) 

This subdivision is within the BABTMP boundaries for trails. There is a long-term trail 

identified along South 64th Street West. They will not be required to build any trail as part 

of the development. 

  

D.  Does the subdivision conform to the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act 

(MSPA) and to local subdivision regulations? [MCA 76-3-608 (3) (b) and Section 3.2 

(3) (a) YCSR] 

  

The proposed subdivision meets the requirements of the MSPA and the YCSR.  The 

subdivider and the local government have complied with the subdivision review and 

approval procedures that are set forth by local and state subdivision regulations. 

  

E.  Does the subdivision conform to sanitary requirements? [Section 4.8 (C) and 4.9 

(C), YCSR] 

  

The subdivider must receive approval from the MDEQ prior to final approval. New 

parcels are subject to MDEQ review for water and septic systems. 

  

F.  Does the proposed subdivision meet any applicable Zoning Requirements? 

 [Section 3.2 (H) (3) (e), YCSR] 

  

The proposed subdivision is outside County Zoning Jurisdiction. There are no 

Yellowstone County zoning regulations on the subject property.  

 

G.  Does the subdivision provide for necessary planned utilities?   [MCA 76-3-608 

(3) (c) and Section 3.2 (H) (3) (b), YCSR] 

  

Should the private utility companies require easements the applicant will be required to 

coordinate the easements needed with the private utility companies.  

 

H.  Does the proposed subdivision provide for Legal and Physical Access to all lots?  

[MCA 76-3-608 (3) (d) and Section 3.2 (H) (3) (c) (d), YCSR] 

  

Legal and physical access will be provided for the subdivision from South 64th Street 

West. Access to individual lots will be from internal streets. 

 

CONCLUSIONS OF FINDINGS OF FACT 



 Page 5 of 5 

• This subdivision does not create adverse impacts that warrant denial of the 

subdivision.  

• Impacts to agriculture, agriculture water user facilities, local services, public 

health and safety, the natural environment, and wildlife should be minimal, and 

can be mitigated by reasonable conditions of final plat approval.   

• The subdivision conforms to some of the goals of the Growth Policy.    

• The applicant has complied with the MSPA and YCSR processes and the 

subdivision conforms to the law requirements. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Planning Board is forwarding to the Board of County Commissioners, the 

preliminary plat of Onyx Pointe Subdivision, recommending conditional approval and 

adopt the Findings of Fact as presented in the staff report. 

 































   
B.O.C.C. Regular 1. b.        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
SUBJECT: Gresham Subdivision - County Major Preliminary Plat
THROUGH: Hunter Kelly 
FROM: Hunter Kelly

TOPIC
Gresham Subdivision - County Major Preliminary Plat 

INTRODUCTION
On July 3, 2023, WWC Engineering, agent for Heath Olson, applied for preliminary major plat approval of
Gresham Subdivision. The subject property is generally located north of Hesper Road and east of South 64th
Street West. This parcel of land is outside of zoning. There is residential development to the north and south,
farmland to the east of the subject property and to the west, farmland and Elder Grove Middle School.

RECOMMENDATION
The Planning Board is forwarding to the Board of County Commissioners a recommendation to conditionally
approve the preliminary plat of Gresham Subdivision and adopt the Findings of Fact as presented in the staff
report.

VARIANCE REQUESTED
The applicant is not requesting a variance.

PROPOSED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL
Pursuant to Section 76-3-608(4), MCA, the following conditions are recommended to reasonably minimize
potential adverse impacts identified within the Findings of Fact: 

To protect public health and safety, prior to final plat approval, the applicant will receive approval from the
MDEQ for the proposed water systems, septic systems and the proposed storm water management.

1.

To protect public health and safety and provide for future road maintenance, prior to final plat approval, the
applicant will create an RSID for the new public roads within the subdivision. 

2.

To protect public health and safety and the impact to local services, prior to final plat approval, the applicant
may be required by Public Works to include mitigation measures based on the approved Traffic Impact
Study. Required mitigation measures shall be adequately addressed in the Subdivision Improvement
Agreement.

3.

To protect public health and safety with proper fire suppression, prior to final plat approval, the applicant will
expand the existing RSID #810M created to maintain the 30,000-gallon dry hydrant system in Hesper
Meadows Subdivision. This information is outlined in the SIA under the heading IV. Emergency Service.

4.

To provide for the correct cash-in-lieu contribution for parkland, prior to final plat approval, the applicant will
follow Section 10.6 Determining Cash Contributions for Parkland, for the correct amount to be paid to
Yellowstone County parks department. The 0.246 acre parkland adjacent to Lots 4 & 5 of Block 6 will be
extinguished and the area reallocated to adjacent residential lots prior to final plat approval, with the
appropriate adjustments made to the cash-in-lieu contribution. The applicant will also create and RSID for
parkland maintenance of any public parkland. *

5.

To minimize the effects on local service, prior to final plat approval, the applicant will coordinate with the
USPS for locating and providing the correct amount of space for safely delivering the mail to the residents.

6.

To minimize effects on the natural environment, prior to final plat approval a weed management plan and
property inspection shall be completed by the County Weed Department.  

7.

Minor changes may be made in the SIA and final documents, as requested by the Planning, Legal or Public
Works Departments to clarify the documents and bring them into the standard acceptable format. 

8.

The final plat shall comply with all requirements of the Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations, rules,
regulations, policies, and resolutions of Yellowstone County, and the laws and Administrative Rules of the
State of Montana.

9.



*Following the discussion meeting with the Yellowstone County Board of County Commissioners on 9/11/23,
condition number 5 was amended to include the statement regarding the extinguishment of the proposed 0.246
acres of parkland.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY
Pre-application meeting January 19, 2023
Preliminary plat application submitted to Planning Division on July 3, 2023
Departmental review meeting July 13, 2023
Preliminary plat resubmittal July 20, 2023
Planning Board plat review August 8, 2023
Planning Board public hearing August 22, 2023
Preliminary plat to Board of County Commissioners, September 19, 2023
60 working-day preliminary plat review period ends September 27, 2023

PLAT INFORMATION
General location: North of Hesper Road and east of South 64th Street West
Legal Description: Lot 2, Miller Farm Subdivision
Owner/Subdivider: Heath Olson
Engineer and Surveyor: WWC Engineering
Existing Zoning: Outside zoning
Existing land use: Farmland
Proposed land use: Residential 
Gross and Net area: 39.166 acres 31.86 acres
Proposed number of lots: 40
Lot size: Max: 1.50 acres
               Min.: 0.246 acres 
Parkland requirements: 2.18 acres required / 0.80 acres provided, maintained by an RSID. The remaining 1.38
acres of required parkland dedication will be covered by a cash-in-lieu contribution.

PLANNING BOARD PUBLIC HEARING DISCUSSION
Planning Board Pubic Hearing August 22, 2023
Discussion
President Cook asked the Board members for any questions or discussion. Planner Hunter Kelly, clarified from
last session, a Traffic Impact Study was received and included mitigation measures for traffic. Board member
Woods asked about the park access and if permission would be required from the property to the west (Miller
Subdivision) to access Eldergrove School. Planner Hunter Kelly affirmed permission would be needed

Public Hearing
President cook opened the public hearing and asked if there is anyone present wishing to speak in favor or
against Gresham Subdivision.

Greg Reid, WWC Engineering
Mr. Reid represents the applicant, Heath Olson.  He clarified a bike pathway is planned for the Hesper Road
right-of-way adjacent to the Gresham Subdivision and would be the responsibility of the developer. The pathway
would fall one lot short of access to the school, essentially 300-feet wide. There is parkland dedicated in lot 6,
however currently attempting to save it for a future storm water dedicated area.  DEQ approval is required,
however should it not be needed for storm water, there are two adjacent residential lots available.  The Traffic
Impact Study was turned in for comments, noted improvements on King & 64th, with recommendations for a
4-way all stop.                                                                     

President Cook asked if any members of the public had questions. There were no questions.
President Cook closed the public hearing.

Board member Dennie Stephenson made a motion and Board member John Staley seconded the motion that the
Planning Board recommend to BOCC that the preliminary plat of Gresham Subdivision be conditionally approved,
and the Findings of Fact adopted as presented in the staff report. The Motion was passed with a unanimous vote. 

BOCC Discussion Meeting September 11, 2023



Following the discussion meeting with the Yellowstone County Board of County Commissioners on 9/11/23, the
Board has requested condition number 5 to be amended to extinguish the 0.246 acre parkland adjacent to Lots 4
& 5 of Block 6 and the area reallocated to adjacent residential lots prior to final plat approval, with the appropriate
adjustments made to the cash-in-lieu contribution. The Board of County Commissioners found the size of the
proposed parkland at that specific location was not sufficient to warrant public maintenance.

YELLOWSTONE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS FINDINGS OF FACT
See attachment Findings of Fact

CONCLUSIONS OF FINDINGS OF FACT
See attachment Findings of Fact

RECOMMENDATION
The Planning Board is forwarding to the Board of County Commissioners a recommendation to conditionally
approve the preliminary plat of Gresham Subdivision and adopt the Findings of Fact as presented in the staff
report.

Attachments
Findings of Fact
Preliminary Plat
Draft Subdivision Improvement Agreement



Page 1 of 5

FINDINGS OF FACT

The City-County Planning Division Staff has prepared the Findings of Fact for Gresham 
Subdivision. These findings are based on the preliminary plat application and 
supplemental documents addressing the review criteria required by the Montana 
Subdivision and Platting Act (76-3-608, MCA) and the Yellowstone County Subdivision 
Regulations (YCSR).

A. What are the effects on agriculture, local services, the natural environment, 
wildlife and wildlife habitat and public health and safety (76-3-608 (3) (a) MCA) 
(Section 3.2 (H) (2) YCSR)

1. Effect on agriculture and agricultural water users’ facilities
The subject property is currently farmland. There are no water rights or shares that will 
be available for the future property owners in this subdivision. Any surrounding ditches 
will be left in place with access to them for maintenance purposes. This proposed 
subdivision will have minimal impact on water users’ facilities.

2. Effect on local services

a. Water – The applicant is proposing this subdivision will have individual wells for 
each lot. They will be installed meeting the requirements outlined in Section 4.9 of the 
Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations and the DEQ. The operation and 
maintenance of the well is the responsibility of the lot owner. 

b. Septic - The applicant is proposing each lot will have its own septic system. They will 
be built in compliance with the requirements outlined in Section 4.8 of the Yellowstone 
County Subdivision Regulations and the DEQ. Each system will be maintained by the 
individual lot owner.

Both the proposed water and septic systems will be reviewed and approved by MDEQ 
with a copy of the approval provided with the final plat. (Condition #1)

All private utilities, power, telephone, gas and cable television will be installed in the 10-
foot utility easement along the lot frontage shown on the plat.

c. Streets and roads – The streets within this subdivision: Miller Farm Road, Gresham 
Road, Anders Road, Arthur Road, and South 60th Street West, shall have a 60-foot-wide 
easement and be constructed to county paved road standards with a satisfactory subbase, 
base course, and asphalt surface. The roads within the subdivision shall be maintained by
creation of an RSID.

The applicant has submitted a TIS to the Yellowstone County Public Works department 
for their review and comment. The County has provided initial comments to the applicant 
which will need to be addressed prior to final acceptance of the TIS and required 
mitigation measures will be identified prior to final plat approval. Any information in the 



Page 2 of 5

TIS that needs to be included in the SIA will be added to the final SIA for the 
subdivision. (Condition #3)

d. Fire and Police services – The property is within the BUFSA firefighting area, 
which is handled by the Billings Fire Department. Subdivision regulations require that
major subdivisions have a 30,000-gallon dry hydrant system for the subdivision. There is
a dry hydrant located in Hesper Meadows Subdivision across Hesper Road south of the 
proposed subdivision.  This 30,000-gallon dry hydrant will provide the needed fire 
suppression for both subdivisions. Gresham Subdivision will expand the existing RSID 
#810M created to maintain the 30,000-gallon dry hydrant system in Hesper Meadows 
Subdivision. This information is outlined in the SIA under the heading IV. Emergency 
Service. (Condition #4)

The Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Department will provide law enforcement services to 
this subdivision.

e. Solid Waste disposal – The Billings Landfill has capacity for solid waste disposal.
Solid waste will be collected and disposed of by a private garbage collection company.
Each lot owner will be responsible for arranging for collection.

f. Storm water drainage – The storm water drainage will be collected onsite using a 
combination of swales, culvers, and the natural slope of the land. Proposed storm water 
drainage shall be submitted to the MDEQ for review and approval prior to final plat. All 
proposed stormwater systems shall meet the requirements of Section 4.7 of Yellowstone 
County Subdivision Regulation’s and the requirements of MDEQ. (Condition #1)

g. School facilities – The proposed subdivision is located within Elder Grove School 
District. Elder Grove School will provide educational services for students from K-8. 
Students will attend West High School for 9-12. 

h. Parks and recreation – This proposed subdivision is required to provide parkland. 
The amount the applicant is required to provide is 2.18 acres, they are proposing to 
provide 0.80 acres. They will be creating an RSID for the maintenance of the parkland. 
The remaining 1.38 acres of required parkland dedication will be covered by a cash-in-
lieu contribution. This information is outlined in the SIA under the heading VII. 
Parks/Open Space. (Condition #5)

i. Postal Service – The applicant will coordinate with the USPS to provide areas for 
Central Box Units for the subdivision and enough area for the postal delivery person to 
safely deliver the mail. (Condition #6)

j. Historic features – No known historic or cultural assets exist on the site.

k.   Phasing of Development - The applicant is not proposing to develop this subdivision 
in phases. 

3. Effects on the natural environment



Page 3 of 5

The development will use noxious weed control measures to prevent the spread of 
noxious weeds to adjacent developed or agricultural land. As required by County 
Subdivision Regulations Section 4.15 all county subdivisions are required to apply for 
and obtain a weed management plan with the County Weed Department. That plan will 
be submitted with final plat approval. (Condition #7)

There are no apparent or known natural hazards on the property.

4. Effects on wildlife and wildlife habitat
There are no known endangered or threatened species on the property. A paragraph in 
the ‘Conditions that Run with the Land’ section of the SIA warns future lot owners of the 
likely presence of wildlife in the area and their potential to damage residential 
landscaping.

5. Effects on public health and safety
Plans and designs for the water and septic system will be reviewed and approved by 
MDEQ prior to final plat approval to ensure public health and safety.

Fire and emergency services are provided for this proposed subdivision from BUFSA and 
the Yellowstone County Sheriff’s department. 

B. Was an environmental assessment required? If yes, what, if any, significant 
adverse impacts were identified? (76-3-603 MCA) (Chapter 9, YCSR)

An environmental assessment was required for this subdivision. Because the current use 
of the land is for farming / grazing purposes the natural habitat has been disrupted long 
ago. There are no known endangered species on the land. Impact to habitat should be 
minimal. There were no other impacts identified on the land.

C. Does the subdivision conform to the Yellowstone County 2008 Growth Policy, 
the 2018 Urban Area Transportation Plan and the Billings Area Bikeway and Trail 
Master Plan Update? [BMCC 23-302.H.4.]

1. Yellowstone County - 2008 Growth Policy
The subdivision is consistent with the following goals of the Growth Policy:

∑ Goal: Predictable land use decisions that are consistent with neighborhood 
character and land use patterns.

There is existing residential development on the land north and south of the proposed 
subdivision. 

∑ Goal: New developments that are sensitive and compatible with the character of 
adjacent County town sites.

This proposal is consistent with the type of development in the surrounding area.
∑ Goal: Controlled weed populations.

The developer shall complete a weed management plan and shall provide a re-vegetation 
plan as required by County Subdivision Regulations.

2. 2018 Billings Urban Area Long Range Transportation Plan



Page 4 of 5

The subject property maintains the road study area of the Transportation Plan. As 
proposed, the internal streets are neighborhood streets associated with this subdivision. 

3. Billings Area Bikeway and Trail Master Plan (BABTMP)
This subdivision is within the BABTMP boundaries for trails. There is a long-term trail 
identified along Hesper Road. A 10-foot-wide paved pathway will be constructed 
adjacent to Hesper within the designed parkland area.

D. Does the subdivision conform to the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act 
(MSPA) and to local subdivision regulations? [MCA 76-3-608 (3) (b) and Section 3.2 
(3) (a) YCSR]

The proposed subdivision meets the requirements of the MSPA and the YCSR. The 
subdivider and the local government have complied with the subdivision review and 
approval procedures that are set forth by local and state subdivision regulations.

E. Does the subdivision conform to sanitary requirements? [Section 4.8 (C) and 4.9 
(C), YCSR]

The subdivider must receive approval from the MDEQ prior to final approval. New 
parcels, without existing septic systems, are subject to MDEQ review.

F. Does the proposed subdivision meet any applicable Zoning Requirements? 
[Section 3.2 (H) (3) (e), YCSR]

The proposed subdivision is outside County Zoning Jurisdiction. There are no 
Yellowstone County zoning regulations on the subject property.

G. Does the subdivision provide for necessary planned utilities? [MCA 76-3-608 
(3) (c) and Section 3.2 (H) (3) (b), YCSR]

Should the private utility companies require easements the applicant will be required to 
coordinate the easements needed with the private utility companies.

H. Does the proposed subdivision provide for Legal and Physical Access to all lots?
[MCA 76-3-608 (3) (d) and Section 3.2 (H) (3) (c) (d), YCSR]

Legal and physical access will be provided for the subdivision by Hesper Road.

CONCLUSIONS OF FINDINGS OF FACT
∑ This subdivision does not create adverse impacts that warrant denial of the 

subdivision. 
∑ Impacts to agriculture, agriculture water user facilities, local services, public 

health and safety, the natural environment, and wildlife should be minimal, and 
can be mitigated by reasonable conditions of final plat approval.  

∑ The subdivision conforms to some of the goals of the Growth Policy.   



Page 5 of 5

∑ The applicant has complied with the MSPA and YCSR processes and the 
subdivision conforms to the law requirements.

RECOMMENDATION
The Planning Board recommends the Board of County Commissioners to conditionally 
approve the preliminary plat of Gresham Subdivision, and adopt the Findings of Fact as
presented in the staff report.



N52°25'46"W, 100.76'

C34

HESPER ROAD (120' EXISTING PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY)

LOT 12 LOT 13 LOT 18 LOT 19 LOT 36
(PRIVATE PARK)

T H E N I N E S S U B D I V I S I O N
B L O C K 4

H E S P E R M E A D O W S S U B D I V I S I O N

60'60'

60'
60'

S1/4 CORNER
SECTION 17
BRASS CAP

LOT 1
0.880 AC

LOT 2
0.730 AC

LOT 3
0.726 AC

LOT 4
0.723 AC

LOT 5
0.735 AC

LOT 1
1.500 AC

LOT 3
0.867 AC

LOT 4
0.867 AC

LOT 1
0.774 AC

LOT 2
0.774 AC

LOT 3
0.774 AC

LOT 4
0.774 AC

LOT 8
0.684 AC

LOT 1
0.930 AC

LOT 2
0.801 AC

LOT 4
0.800 AC

LOT 5
0.800 AC

LOT 7
0.801 AC

LOT 5
0.841 AC

LOT 7
0.835 AC

LOT 2
0.830 AC

LOT 1
0.829 AC

LOT 8
0.831 AC

LOT 1
1.127 AC

LOT 4
0.969 AC

LOT 5
0.879 AC

LOT 6
0.878 AC

LOT 6
1.055 AC

C33

248.23'

154.91'

208.91'

S00°13'5 2"E,153.96'

207.13'

207.13'

S00°13'5 2"E,153.17'

207.13'

207.13'

S00°13'5 2"E,152.38'

207.13'

207.13'

S00°13'5 2"E,151.59'

105.42'

207.18'

S00°13'5 2"E,171.54'

C6

209.08'

S00°13'5 2"E,181.42'
S00°13'5 2"E,179.31'

S89°46'08"W, 201.64'S89°46'08"W, 201.61'

S00°13'5 2"E,179.31'

S00°13'5 2"E,179.31'

S89°46'08"W, 201.61'

S37°34'14"W
36.62'

S00°13'5 2"E,179.99'

S00°13'5 2"E,180.70'

N89°46'08"E, 212.95'

161.98'

S89°59'14"W, 222.95'

171.13'

171.65'

S89°58'14"W, 222.95'

171.71'

100.20'

S89°58'14"W, 233.62'

187.91'

S89°58'14"W, 276.19'

119.65'

35.81'

20.00'

10.00'

171.11'171.11'

S89°58'14"W, 286.69'

172.37'

C
35

95.04'

704.10'

176.20'

171.09'

S00°01'39"E,186.20'

10.00'

S00°01'39"E,186.20'

180.97'

S00°01'39"E,186.20'

180.97' 171.09'

176.20'

189.92'

N89°58'21"E, 198.43'

189.92'

190.60'

N89°58'21"E, 197.72'

190.60'
191.29'

191.29'
119.92'

C1
1 551.12'

172.89'

S00°01'26"E,182.89'

S89°58'21"W, 190.31'

S00°01'26"E,182.89'

S89°58'21"W, 190.70' S89°58'21"W, 190.70'

S00°01'26"E,182.89'

S89°58'21"W, 190.66'

S00°01'26"E,182.89'

C20

N00°13'52"W
15.21'

S00°01'26"E,182.89'

S00°01'26"E,182.89'

190.70'

SO
U

TH
60TH

STR
EET

W
EST

(70'R
IG

H
T-O

F-W
A

Y)

A
R

TH
U

R
A

VEN
U

E
(60'R

IG
H

T-O
F-W

A
Y)

MILLER FARM ROAD (60' RIGHT-OF-WAY)

GRESHAM ROAD (60' RIGHT-OF-WAY)

ANDERS ROAD (60' RIGHT-OF-WAY)

B
LO

C
K

1

BLOCK 2

B
L O

C
K

3

BLOCK 4

BLOCK 5

BLOCK 6

98.59' 190.70' 190.70' 180.68'

172.89'

180.66'190.70'224.09'

70.00'

C7 C9

C22

N89°46'08"E, 252.95' N89°46'08"E, 722.09'

N
00°13'5 2"W

,418.47'

N89°58'21"E, 871.29'

N89°58'21"E, 789.11'

N
00°01'39"W

,236.20'
N

00°01'39"W
,425.78'

N37
°3

4'1
4"

E
76

.62
'

N37
°3

4'1
4"

E
65

.91
'

N
00°14'2 7"W

,121.32'

N
00°01'46"W

49.96'
N

00°01'46"W
,236.20'

S52°25'46"E, 145.76'

S00°14 '27"E,1142.93'

S89°58'21"W, 704.11'

S89°58'21"W, 786.43'

N89°58'21"E, 786.15'

N89°46'08"E, 682.09'

S89°46'08"W, 975.04'

S00°01'46"E,277.85'

N
00°13'5 2"W

,338.62'
169.31'

169.31'

C30
191.65'

90.00'80.00'

201.61' 201.61' 191.57'
C29

S00°01'39"E
9.75'

14
2.5

3'

10.00'

N
00°01'39"W

49.75'

(C
4)

(C
5)

(C3)

(C2)

(C1)

N00°01'46"W
9.96'

S00°13'5 2"E,434.48'
C

32

C21

C25 C8

87.27'201.61'201.61'191.61'
C31 C24

C17C23

C19 C18

C14C15

C16 C13C36

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
DEDICATED THIS PLAT

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
DEDICATED THIS PLAT

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
DEDICATED THIS PLAT

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
DEDICATED THIS PLAT

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
DEDICATED THIS PLAT

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
DEDICATED THIS PLAT

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
DEDICATED THIS PLAT

10' UTILITY EASEMENT
DEDICATED THIS PLAT

TEMPORARY FIRE TURN AROUND
DEDICATED THIS PLAT

TEMPORARY FIRE TURN AROUND
DEDICATED THIS PLAT

(60')

(46')

(60') (46')

EXISTING 10' IRRIGATION EASEMENT
DOCUMENT NO. 4035048

30'

30'

30'

30'

30'

30'

35' 35'

30' 30'

M
IL

L
E

R
F

A
R

M
S

U
B

D
IV

IS
IO

N
L

O
T

1

U
N

P
L

A
T

T
E

D
U

N
P

L
A

T
T

E
D

SW 1/16TH COR.
SEC. 17

N
00°13'5 2"W

55.36'

N89°58'21"E, 197.01'

PARK
0.246 AC

LOT 4
0.800 AC

S00°13'5 2"E,162.39'
S00°13'5 2"E,143.38'

C27

S52°25'46"E, 100.76'

C26

S89°46'08"W, 201.61'

60.00'

C2
8

S00°01'39"E,186.20'

S00°14'2 7"E,121.19'

S00°14'2 6"E,121.46'

1-FOOT NO ACCESS STRIP
1-FOOT NO
ACCESS STRIP

1-FOOT NO ACCESS STRIP

1-FOOT NO ACCESS STRIP

1-FOOT NO
ACCESS STRIP

1-FOOT NO ACCESS STRIP

1-FOOT NO ACCESS STRIP
1-FOOT NO ACCESS STRIP

1-FOOT NO ACCESS STRIP

LOT 6
0.838 AC

LOT 3
0.830 AC

LOT 3
0.801 AC

LOT 6
0.801 AC

LOT 2
0.867 AC

PARKLAND, 0.331 AC
C12

N89°59'13"E, 1316.56'

S89°58'21"W, 1340.63'

N
00°09'33"E,483.12'

S89°34'10"W
18.77'

N
00°13 '52"W

,781.47'

PARKLAND, 0.131 AC 277.32' PARKLAND, 0.091 AC189.21'

N89°58'21"E, 287.25' N89°58'21"E, 181.08' N89°58'21"E, 180.97' N89°58'21"E, 180.97' N89°58'21"E, 181.09' N89°58'21"E, 199.14'

C1
0

N89°59'42"E, 39.32'

10.00'

LOT 2
1.127 AC

LOT 3
0.889 AC

N89°58'21"E, 704.11'

N
00°01'46"W

,186.20'

N
00°01'39"W

,701.73'

S00°01'39"E,345.78'

20.00'

Road Centerline Curve Table

Curve No.

(C1)

(C2)

(C3)

(C4)

(C5)

Radius

336.00'

336.00'

230.00'

235.00'

285.00'

Length

166.52'

167.70'

151.75'

155.08'

187.02'

Delta

28°23'42"

28°35'48"

37°48'06"

37°48'41"

37°35'53"

Chord Bearing

N14°25'43"W

N14°19'40"W

S71°19'49"E

N18°39'53"E

N18°46'17"E

Chord Length

164.82'

165.97'

149.01'

152.29'

183.69'

Curve Table

Curve No.

C6

C7

C8

C9

C10

C11

C12

C13

C14

C15

C16

C17

C18

C19

C20

C21

C22

C23

C24

C25

C26

C27

C28

C29

C30

C31

C32

C33

C34

C35

C36

Radius

260.00'

260.00'

10.00'

200.00'

270.00'

250.00'

10.00'

10.00'

10.00'

10.00'

10.00'

10.00'

10.00'

10.00'

366.00'

366.00'

306.00'

10.00'

10.00'

200.00'

200.00'

10.00'

320.00'

10.00'

10.00'

10.00'

366.00'

366.00'

306.00'

306.00'

10.00'

Length

104.55'

66.98'

15.71'

131.99'

178.18'

164.05'

15.71'

15.71'

15.71'

15.71'

15.71'

15.71'

15.71'

15.71'

168.86'

13.82'

151.65'

15.74'

15.71'

89.65'

10.20'

15.71'

209.99'

15.71'

15.67'

15.71'

88.61'

92.78'

74.56'

78.17'

15.71'

Delta

23°02'25"

14°45'41"

90°00'00"

37°48'41"

37°48'41"

37°35'53"

90°00'00"

90°00'00"

90°00'00"

90°00'07"

89°59'53"

90°00'00"

90°00'00"

89°59'53"

26°26'01"

2°09'48"

28°23'42"

90°12'13"

90°00'00"

25°40'55"

2°55'20"

90°00'00"

37°35'53"

90°00'00"

89°47'47"

90°00'00"

13°52'17"

14°31'26"

13°57'35"

14°38'13"

90°00'07"

Chord Bearing

N78°42'40"W

N59°48'37"W

S82°34'14"W

N18°39'53"E

S18°39'53"W

N18°46'17"E

N45°01'39"W

S44°58'21"W

S45°01'39"E

N44°58'17"E

N45°01'43"W

S45°01'39"E

S44°58'21"W

N45°01'43"W

N13°14'47"W

N27°32'41"W

N14°25'43"W

N44°52'14"E

N44°46'08"E

S68°11'34"E

S53°53'26"E

S7°25'46"E

S18°46'17"W

S44°58'21"W

N45°07'46"W

S45°13'52"E

S7°10'01"E

S21°21'52"E

S21°38'47"E

S7°20'53"E

S44°58'17"W

Chord Length

103.86'

66.80'

14.15'

129.61'

174.97'

161.13'

14.15'

14.15'

14.15'

14.15'

14.15'

14.15'

14.15'

14.15'

167.37'

13.82'

150.11'

14.17'

14.15'

88.90'

10.20'

14.15'

206.25'

14.15'

14.12'

14.15'

88.40'

92.53'

74.38'

77.96'

14.15'

PROJECT LOCATION

PLAT OF GRESHAM SUBDIVISION
BEING LOT 2 OF MILLER FARM SUBDIVISION, DOCUMENT NO. 4035046

SW1/4 OF SECTION 17, T. 01 S., R. 25 E., P.M.M.
YELLOWSTONE COUNTY, MONTANA

PREPARED FOR: BIGHORN DRYWALL AND CONSTRUCTION, LLC
DATE SURVEYED: AUGUST 2022

PREPARED BY: WWC ENGINEERING

BASIS OF BEARING
Coordinate System (MT83-BLGS-IF)
Lambert Conformal Conic Projection

(Single Parallel)
North American Datum 1983(2011)

Standard Parallel & Grid Origin: 45°47'00"
Central Meridian: 108°25'00"

False Northing: 50,000m
False Easting: 200,000m

Standard Parallel Scale:1.0001515

CERTIFICATE OF SURVEYOR
I, David L. Collins, a Montana Registered Land Surveyor being first duly sworn, deposes and says that during the month of August
2022, a survey was performed under his supervision of a tract of land to be known as PLAT OF GRESHAM SUBDIVISION, in
accordance with the request of the owner thereof and in conformance with Montana Subdivision and Platting Act; said subdivision
being in accordance with the Landowner's Certificate and as shown on the plat; that the monuments found and set are of the
character and occupy the positions hereon.

Dated this ______ day of _______________________, 20___

___________________________________________________
David L. Collins
Registration Number 18626LS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
State of __________________ )

:SS
County of _________________ )

on this ___________ day of _________________________ , 20___, before me, the undersigned a notary public for
the State of _________________, personally appeared Heath Olson, Managing Member of Bighorn Drywall &
Construction, LLC known to me to be the persons whose names are subscribed to the within instrument and
acknowledged to me that they executed the same.

________________________________________

Notary Public for the State of _________________

CERTIFICATE OF DEDICATION
State of __________________ )

:SS
County of _________________ )

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS: That Bighorn Drywall & Construction, LLC, the owner of the following described
tract of land, does hereby certify that is has caused to be surveyed, subdivided and platted into lots, blocks, and
streets as shown on the annexed plat, said tract being situated within the SW1/4 of Section 17, T.01S., R.25E.,
P.M.M., Yellowstone County, Montana, being Lot 2 of Miller Farm Subdivision filed as Document No. 4035046 in the
office of the Yellowstone County Clerk and Recorder.

The undersigned hereby grants unto all utility companies, as such are defined and established by Montana Law, and
cable television companies, an easement for the location, maintenance, repair and removal of their lines over, under
and across the areas designated on the plat as "UTILITY EASEMENT" to have and hold forever.

Said tract of land contains a gross area of 39.166 acres and net area of 30.964 acres, more or less, and is subject to
any easements, reservations, or other encumbrances that have been legally acquired.

Pursuant to Section 76-3-621(1), the parkland dedication shall be provided by land and cash donation.

Said tract to be known and designated as Gresham Subdivision, and the lands included in Miller Farm Road,
Gresham Road, Anders Road, Arthur Street, and South 80th Street West as shown on the annexed plat are hereby
granted and donated to the use of the public forever.

____________________________________________
Bighorn Drywall & Construction, LLC
Heath Olson, Managing Member

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

STATE OF MONTANA)
: ss

County of Yellowstone )

We do hereby certify that we have examined the PLAT OF GRESHAM SUBDIVISION, and find that said plat conforms with
the requirements of the laws of the State of Montana and approves it.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have set our hands and the seal of Yellowstone County, Montana, this ______ day of
__________________, 20___.

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS
YELLOWSTONE COUNTY, MONTANA

By: ________________________________________________
Commissioner

By: ________________________________________________
Commissioner

By: ________________________________________________
Commissioner

Attest: ______________________________________________
Clerk and Recorder

CERTIFICATE OF COUNTY ATTORNEY
This Subdivision Plat has been reviewed by the County Attorney's Office and is acceptable
to form.

Dated this ______ day of _______________________, 20___

___________________________________________________
Reviewed by

CERTIFICATE OF COUNTY TREASURER
I hereby certify, pursuant to Section 76-3-611(1)(b), MCA, that all real property taxes and
special assessments assessed and levied on the land described on this Subdivision Plat
and encompassed by the proposed division have been paid.

Dated this ______ day of _______________________, 20___

___________________________________________________
Treasurer, Deputy
Yellowstone County, Montana

CERTIFICATE OF RIVERSTONE HEALTH
This Subdivision Plat has been reviewed and approved by the Yellowstone City/County
Health Department (d/b/a/ RiverStone Health).

Dated this ______ day of _______________________, 20___

___________________________________________________
Reviewed by

LEGEND

FOUND YELLOW PLASTIC CAP (SANDERSON STEWART 8377S)

SET 5/8" REBAR W/ PURPLE PLASTIC CAP (COLLINS 18626LS)

NEW PROPERTY LINE
SUBDIVISION BOUNDARY

FOUND BRASS CAP

NOTICE OF APPROVAL
STATE OF MONTANA )

: ss
County of Yellowstone )

This plat has been approved for filing by the City of Billings/Yellowstone County Board of Planning and conforms to the
recommendations of this board.

________________________________________________________
President Date

________________________________________________________
Executive Secretary Date

CERTIFICATE OF FILING BY CLERK AND RECORDER

EASEMENT DEDICATED THIS PLAT AS NOTED

QRTR. TWP. RGE.SEC.

17 01S. 25E.

GRESHAM SUBDIVISION

(406) 894-2210

550 S. 24TH ST. W., SUITE 201
BILLINGS, MT 59102

Date By
REVISIONS

Drawn By: JPB Checked By: Date: Scale:DEC 2022 1" = 80'

JOB#: 2022-195

AMR/DLC

04/15/2020 K:\Billings\Olson, Heath\2022195 Heath Olson Major Subdivision\05CAD\Design\Platting\22129-Heath Olson Subdivision Plat.dwgFILE PATH:
PLOT STYLE: WWC COLOR.stb

0

SCALE: 1" = 80'

80'40'

VICINITY MAP
1" = 1500'

FOUND PURPLE PLASTIC CAP (BRUCKNER 63052 LS)

EXISTING EASEMENT AS NOTED

SET CENTERLINE MONUMENT

AREA DATA
36 RESIDENTIAL LOTS 30.964 ACRES
4 PARKS/TRAILS .799 ACRES

NET AREA 31.763 ACRES
ROAD DEDICATION 7.403 ACRES

GROSS AREA 39.166 ACRES

DAVID L.
COLLINS

No. 18626LS



Return to:
WWC Engineering
550 S. 24th St. W. Ste. 201
Billings, MT 59102

i

GRESHAM SUBDIVISION, 1st FILING
Table of Contents

(Yellowstone County)

I. VARIANCES ............................................................................................................................. 2
II. CONDITIONS THAT RUN WITH THE LAND ......................................................................... 2
III. TRANSPORTATION ................................................................................................................. 3

A. Streets .................................................................................................................................. 3
B. Traffic Control Devices ........................................................................................................ 3
C. Access .................................................................................................................................. 4

D. Billings Area Bikeways and Trail Master Plan (BABTMP) ......................................................... 4
IV. EMERGENCY SERVICE .......................................................................................................... 4
V. STORM DRAINAGE ................................................................................................................. 4
VI. UTILITIES ................................................................................................................................. 4

A. Water ................................................................................................................................... 4
B. Septic System ....................................................................................................................... 4
C. Power, Telephone, Gas, and Cable Television ....................................................................... 5

VII. PARKS/OPEN SPACE ............................................................................................................... 5
VIII. IRRIGATION ............................................................................................................................. 5
IX. WEED MANAGEMENT ........................................................................................................... 5
X. SOILS/GEOTECHNICAL STUDY ............................................................................................ 5
XI. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES .................................................................................................... 5
XII. LEGAL PROVISIONS ............................................................................................................... 6



Page 2 of 9

Gresham Subdivision, 1st Filing

This agreement is made and entered into this          day of , 20  , by and
between Bighorn Drywall and Construction, LLC, whose address for the purpose of this
agreement is 6114 Arthur Avenue, Billings, MT 59106, hereinafter referred to as
“Subdivider,” and YELLOWSTONE COUNTY, Montana, hereinafter referred to as
“County.”

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, at a regular meeting conducted on day of                          , 20____, the
Board of Planning recommended conditional approval of a preliminary plat of Gresham
Subdivision, 1st Filing; and

WHEREAS, at a regular meeting conducted on day of , 20 ___,
the Yellowstone County Board of County Commissioners conditionally approved a preliminary
plat of Gresham Subdivision, 1st Filing; and

WHEREAS, a Subdivision Improvements Agreement is required by the County prior to
the approval of the final plat.

WHEREAS, the provisions of this agreement shall be effective and applicable to Gresham
Subdivision, 1st Filing upon the filing of the final plat thereof in the office of the Clerk and
Recorder of Yellowstone County, Montana. The Subdivision shall comply with all
requirements of the Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations, the rules, regulations,
policies, and resolutions of Yellowstone County, and the laws and administrative rules of the
State of Montana.

THEREFORE, THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT, for and in consideration of
the mutual promises herein contained and for other good and valuable consideration, do
hereby agree as follows:

I. VARIANCES

There are no variances being requested with this subdivision.

II. CONDITIONS THAT RUN WITH THE LAND

A. Lot owners should be aware that this subdivision is being built in close proximity
to prime deer and antelope habitat and it is likely that homeowners will experience
problems with damage to landscaped shrubs, flowers, and gardens. The Montana
Fish, Wildlife, and Parks Department does not provide damage assistance unless
there is damage to commercial crops and/or a threat to public health and safety.



Page 3 of 9

B. Lot owners should be aware that soil characteristics within the area of this subdivision,
as described in the 1972 Yellowstone County Soil Survey, indicate that there could
be potential limitations for proposed construction on the lots, which may require a
geotechnical survey prior to construction.

C. No water rights have been transferred to the lot owners. Irrigation ditches that exist
on the perimeter of this development are for the benefit of other properties. Perimeter
ditches and drains shall remain in place and shall not be altered by the Subdivider or
subsequent owners.

D. There is attached hereto a Waiver waiving the right to protest the creation of the
special improvement district or districts which by this reference is expressly
incorporated herein and made as much a part hereof as though fully and completely
set forth herein at this point. The Waiver will be filed with the plat, shall run with
the land, and shall constitute the guarantee by the Subdivider and property owner,
or owners of the developments described herein. Said Waiver is effective upon
filing and is not conditioned on the completion of the conditions set forth in this
Agreement. The Subdivider and owner specifically agree that they are waiving
valuable rights and do so voluntarily.

E. Culverts and associated drainage swales shall not be filled in or altered by the
subdivider or subsequent lot owners.

F. When required by road improvements, all fences and irrigation ditches in the public
right- of-way adjacent to this subdivision shall be removed or relocated outside of
the public right-of-way and any relocation outside of the public right-of-way shall be
subject to securing and recording easements.

G. Future maintenance of all public (or common) improvements shall be done through
one (1) or more RSID(s) created as part of the SIA for this subdivision.

III. TRANSPORTATION

A. Streets
The streets within this subdivision Miller Farm Road, Gresham Road, Anders Road,
Arthur Road, and South 60th Street West, shall have a 60-foot-wide easement and be
constructed to county paved road standards with a satisfactory subbase, base course,
and asphalt surface. The roads within the subdivision shall be maintained by
creation of an RSID.

B. Traffic Control Devices
Street name and stop signs for streets within the subdivision, or located immediately
adjacent thereto, shall be furnished and installed in accordance with the
specifications of the Yellowstone County Public Works Departments. A stop sign
will be located at the intersections of the two subdivision roads that exit onto Hesper
Road.



Page 4 of 9

C. Access
Access to this subdivision shall be from Hesper Road which is a paved county
dedicated road with 120-foot-wide right-of-way and shall be maintained by the
county.

D. Billings Area Bikeways and Trail Master Plan (BABTMP)
This subdivision is located within the area of the BABTMP. A 10-foot-wide paved
pathway will be constructed adjacent to Hesper within the designed parkland area.

IV. EMERGENCY SERVICE

A 30,000-gallon water storage tank/dry hydrant was installed as part of Hesper
Meadows Subdivision. The dry hydrant is located in a dry hydrant easement filed under
Document No. 4042160. RSID #810M was created to maintain and service the dry
hydrant. RSID #810M will be expanded to include this subdivision.

V. STORM DRAINAGE

All drainage improvements shall comply with the provisions of the Section 4.7,
Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations, and a stormwater management plan shall
be submitted to and approved by MDEQ, or its designee.

Stormwater improvements for roadway construction shall be constructed as designed
and permitted with Montana DEQ. Stormwater improvements for residential home
construction will be completed when the home size and location on lot have been
determined by a future lot owner.

VI. UTILITIES

A. Water
In accordance with Section 4.9 Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations, all
proposed water systems must obtain approval by the MDEQ, or its designee.

Individual wells will be permitted for the lots. An approval letter from MDEQ will
be submitted with the final plat. The maintenance and operation of the individual
wells will be facilitated by the individual lot owner.

B. Septic System
In accordance with Section 4.8 Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations, all
proposed sanitary sewer systems must obtain approval by the MDEQ, or its
designee.

Individual septic systems will be permitted. An approval letter from MDEQ will be
submitted with the final plat. The maintenance and operation of the individual
systems will be facilitated by the individual lot owner.



Page 5 of 9

C. Power, Telephone, Gas, and Cable Television
The private utilities shall be installed within the 10’ utility easements that were
dedicated on the plat for Gresham Subdivision per the request of the utility
companies.

VII. PARKS/OPEN SPACE
The area of parkland dedication required for this subdivision is 2.18 acres. A total of
0.80-acre park is planned to be dedicated. A 10-foot-wide paved pathway adjacent to
Hesper will also be completed. The remaining parkland will be finished graded and
seeded with native prairie grass mixture. An RSID will be created for the maintenance
of the parkland. The remaining balance, 1.38 acre of required parkland dedication, will
be addressed by a cash-in-lieu contribution.

VIII. IRRIGATION

There are no irrigation systems located within this subdivision.

IX. WEED MANAGEMENT

All noxious weeds on the latest Yellowstone County Noxious Weed List shall be
controlled on all properties in the subdivision.

· A Weed Management Plan must be filed and updated as needed for approval by the
Yellowstone County Weed Department. Said weed management plan shall contain
the noxious weeds being addressed and the plan for the control of those weeds. All
associated cost for noxious weed control is the responsibility of the owner of
record.

· A revegetation plan shall be submitted as part of the management plan. A seeding
recommendation can be obtained from the Yellowstone County Weed Department
pursuant to Section 7-22-2152, MCA. The Yellowstone County Weed Department
reserves the right to revise these recommendations based on the required site
inspection.

X. SOILS/GEOTECHNICAL STUDY

A geotechnical study is not required for this subdivision.

XI. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

Except as otherwise provided, Subdivider shall install and construct said required
improvements by private contracts secured by bonds, irrevocable letters of credit,
sequential development, or any other method that may be acceptable to the Planning
Board and Board of County Commissioners.  All engineering and legal work in



Page 6 of 9

connection with such improvements shall be paid by the contracting parties pursuant to
said private contract, and the improvements shall be designed by and constructed under
the supervision of a professional engineer competent in civil engineering, licensed in the
state of Montana.  Upon completion of the improvements, the consulting Engineer shall
file with the Public Works Department, a statement certifying that the improvements
have been completed in accordance with approved, seal stamped, record drawings,
along with all required post-construction certification per Section 4.6.C. of the
Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations.

XII. LEGAL PROVISIONS

A. Subdivider agrees to guarantee all public improvements for a period of one year
from the date of final acceptance by Yellowstone County.

B. The owners of the properties involved in this proposed Subdivision by signature
subscribed herein below agree, consent, and shall be bound by the provisions of
this Agreement.

C. The covenants, agreements, and all statements in this Agreement apply to and  shall
be binding on the heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns of the
respective parties.

D. In the event it becomes necessary for either party to this Agreement to retain an
attorney to enforce any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement or to give any
 notice required herein, then the prevailing party or the party giving notice shall be
entitled to reasonable attorney fees and costs.

E. Any amendments or modifications of this Agreement or any provisions herein shall
be made in writing and executed in the same manner as this original document and
shall after execution become a part of this Agreement.

F. Subdivider shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local statutes,
ordinances, and administrative regulations during the performance and discharge of
its  obligations. Subdivider acknowledges and agrees that nothing contained herein shall
relieve or exempt it from such compliance.

G. Subdivider agrees to create any required (or expansion of existing) RSID(s) for
future maintenance of all public (or common) constructed improvements prior to
final plat approval.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands and official seals
on the date first above written.



Page 7 of 9

“SUBDIVIDER” Bighorn Drywall and Construction, LLC

By:
      Heath Olson, managing member

STATE OF MONTANA )
: ss

County of Yellowstone )

On this day of , 20___, before me, a Notary Public in and
for the State of Montana, personally appeared Heath Olson, known to me to be the managing
member of Bighorn Drywall and Construction, LLC, who executed the foregoing instrument
and acknowledged to me that they executed the same.

______________________________
Notary Public in and for the State of Montana
Printed Name:
Residing at:

This agreement is hereby approved and accepted by Yellowstone County, this
day of , 20 ___.

“COUNTY”
COUNTY OF YELLOWSTONE
MONTANA

County of Yellowstone
Board of County Commissioners

By:
Chairman

Commissioner

Commissioner

Attest:
County Clerk and Recorder



Page 8 of 9

STATE OF MONTANA )
: ss

County of Yellowstone )

On this day of , 20   _ , before me,  a Notary Public  in and for
the State of Montana, personally appeared                                                                     ,

, and , known to me to
be the Board of County Commissioners and the County Clerk and Recorder, respectively, of
Yellowstone County, Montana, whose names are subscribed to the foregoing instrument in
such capacity and acknowledged to me that they executed the same on behalf of Yellowstone
County, Montana.

______________________________
Notary Public in and for the State of Montana
Printed Name:
Residing at:



Page 9 of 9

Waiver of Right to Protest

FOR VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, the undersigned, being the Subdivider and all of
the owners of the hereinafter described real property, do hereby waive the right to protest the
formation of one or more Rural Special Improvement Districts (RSID’s), for a period of no more
than twenty years from the recording of this waiver, which Yellowstone County may require.

This Waiver and Agreement is independent from all other agreements and is supported by
sufficient independent consideration to which the undersigned are parties, and shall run with the
land and shall be binding upon the undersigned, their successors and assigns, and the same shall
be recorded in the office of the County Clerk and Recorder of Yellowstone County, Montana.

The real property hereinabove mentioned is more particularly described as follows:

Gresham Subdivision, 1st Filing

Signed and dated this day of , 20____.

Bighorn Drywall and Construction, LLC

By:
      Heath Olson, managing member

STATE OF MONTANA )
: ss

County of Yellowstone )

On this day of , 20___, before me, a Notary Public in and
for the State of Montana, personally appeared Heath Olson, known to me to be the managing
member of Bighorn Drywall and Construction, LLC, who executed the foregoing instrument and
acknowledged to me that they executed the same.

IN WITNESS WHEROF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal the
day and year hereinabove written.

Notary Public in and for the State of Montana
Printed name:
Residing in Billings, Montana
My commission expires:



   
B.O.C.C. Regular 1. c.        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
SUBJECT: Olive Grove Subdivision - Preliminary minor plat
THROUGH: Monica Plecker 
FROM: Dave Green

TOPIC
Olive Grove Subdivision - Preliminary Minor Plat
 

INTRODUCTION
On August 15, 2023, North Star Land Services, agent for Darrell and Betty Aldinger, applied for preliminary minor
plat approval of Olive Grove Subdivision. The subject property is generally located on the west side of 64th Street
West and north of Central Avenue. This parcel of land is outside of zoning. The land is currently dryland grass
and shrub land.

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends to the Board of County Commissioners conditional approval for the preliminary plat of Olive
Grove Subdivision and adopt the Findings of Fact as presented in the staff report and approve the variance
request.

VARIANCE REQUESTED
A variance has been requested from the County Subdivision Regulations; Section 4.14.C. 2, Major, Commercial,
and Subsequent Minor Subdivision. The subdivider shall provide a minimum of one of the following mechanisms
for fire suppression. An approved, single, minimum ten thousand (10,000) gallon underground water storage tank
for fire suppression.

The specifics of the request are found in Attachment A of this staff report. If approved, the variance would allow a
nearby 30,000 gallon tank to act as the water supply for fire suppression. 

PROPOSED CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL

1. To protect public health and safety, prior to final plat approval, the applicant will receive approval from
the MDEQ for the proposed water systems, septic systems and the proposed storm water management.
To protect public health and safety, and provide a turning area for emergency vehicles, prior to final plat
approval, the applicant will provide a temporary cul-de-sac at the end of the paved section of Olive Branch
Way.

2.

To provide a maintenance mechanism for public roads and to protect public health and safety, prior to final
plat approval, the applicant will create an RSID for the future maintenance of the portion of the public road,
Olive Branch Way, that fronts this proposed subdivision.

3.

To protect public health and safety, prior to final plat approval, the applicant will petition the County to
include this subdivision in the RSID for the dry hydrant system in Fire Rock Subdivision.

4.

To minimize the effects on local service, prior to final plat approval, the applicant will coordinate with the
USPS for locating and providing the correct amount of space for safely delivering the mail to the residents.

5.

To minimize effects on the natural environment, prior to final plat approval a weed management plan and
property inspection shall be completed by the County Weed Department. 

6.

Minor changes may be made in the SIA and final documents, as requested by the Planning, Legal or Public
Works Departments to clarify the documents and bring them into the standard acceptable format.

7.

The final plat shall comply with all requirements of the Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations, rules,
policies, and resolutions of Yellowstone County, and the laws and Administrative Rules of the State of
Montana.

8.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY



Pre-application meeting January 26, 2023

Check print submitted to Planning Division July 20, 2023
Preliminary plat application submitted to Planning Division on August 15, 2023
Departmental comments due August 31, 2023
Preliminary plat to Board of County Commissioners, September 19, 2023
35 working-day preliminary plat review period ends October 4, 2023

PLAT INFORMATION
General location: West side of 64th Street West and north of Central Avenue  
Legal Description: Tract 3 of Certificate of Survey 175  
Owner/Subdivider: Darrell Aldinger, Betty Aldinger and Kevin Kurt  
Surveyor/Engineer: North Star Land Services  
Existing Zoning: Outside zoning  
Proposed Zoning: Outside zoning  
Existing Land Use: Vacant native grassland  
Proposed Land Use: Residential  
Gross area: 19.971 acres  
Net area: 19.971 acres  
Proposed number of lots: 4  
      Max.: 4.997 acres
      Min.: 4.989 acres  

Parkland requirements: Parkland dedication is not required as this is a minor subdivision.  

PLANNING BOARD PUBLIC HEARING DISCUSSION
A public hearing is not required for minor subdivisions. However, nearby property owners may attend the Board of
County Commissioners meeting to provide public comment. The Planning Division has received no public
comments or questions regarding the proposed subdivision.

YELLOWSTONE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS FINDINGS OF FACT
See attachment Findings of Fact.

CONCLUSIONS OF FINDINGS OF FACT
See attachment Findings of Fact.

RECOMMENDATION
Staff recommends to the Board of County Commissioners conditional approval for the preliminary plat of Olive
Grove Subdivision and adopt the Findings of Fact as presented in the staff report and approve the variance
request.

Attachments
Findings of Fact
Proposed Plat
SIA Draft
Attachment A Variance



 Page 1 of 4 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 

The City-County Planning Division Staff has prepared the Findings of Fact for Olive 

Grove Subdivision.  These findings are based on the preliminary plat application and 

supplemental documents addressing the review criteria required by the Montana 

Subdivision and Platting Act (76-3-608, MCA) and the Yellowstone County Subdivision 

Regulations (YCSR).  

  

A.  What are the effects on agriculture, local services, the natural environment, 

wildlife and wildlife habitat and public health and safety (76-3-608 (3) (a) MCA) 

(Section 3.2 (H) (2) YCSR) 

  

1.  Effect on agriculture and agricultural water users’ facilities  

The subject property is not used for farming purposes. Any existing ditches that are not 

used by downstream by others will be eliminated. The developer will retain all water 

rights. There will be no effect on water user facilities with this subdivision. 

  

2.  Effect on local services 

  

a.   Water – The proposed subdivision is not located within any public water district. 

Each lot will use a cistern for domestic water use. Water systems will be installed 

meeting the requirements outlined in Section 4.9 of the Yellowstone County Subdivision 

Regulations and the MDEQ. (Condition #1) The operation and maintenance of the water 

system will be the responsibility of individual lot owners.   

 

b. Septic - The proposed subdivision is not located within any public sewer district. The 

applicant is proposing to have each future property owner install individual septic 

systems. Septic systems will be installed meeting the requirements outlined in Section 4.9 

of the Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations and the MDEQ. (Condition #1) The 

operation and maintenance of the septic system will be the responsibility of the individual 

lot owner.   

 

All private utilities, power, telephone, gas and cable television will be installed in the 

public right of way or easements identified on the plat. 

  

c.   Streets and roads – Roads within the subdivision will be built in 60-foot-wide right 

of way with a 24-foot paved surface and 2-foot-wide shoulders on each side. Drainage 

ditches will be installed along the sides as required by MDEQ for stormwater 

management. (Condition #1) There will be a temporary gravel turn around at the paved 

end of the road. (Condition #2) This road continues past the proposed subdivision. It is 

currently a private road that serves one house that is past the proposed subdivision. The 

section of the road, Olive Branch Way, within this subdivision will be a public road 

within a 60 foot wide easement. The applicant will be required to create an RSID for 

maintenance of road within the subdivision. (Condition #3) 

 

d.   Fire and Police services – The property is within the BUFSA boundary. This 

subdivision will be provided fire service from the Billings Fire Department. With a minor 



 Page 2 of 4 

subdivision a 10,000-gallon dry hydrant is required to be installed. If there is an existing 

dry hydrant system within a ½ mile driving distance from the farthest point in the propose 

subdivision, they would not be required to install a tank. The applicant is asking for a 

variance from this requirement. There is a 30,000-gallon dry hydrant system located just 

over ½ road mile from this subdivision in Fire Rock Subdivision. The five criteria for a 

variance are discussed further in the attachment Variance request. (Condition #4) 

 

The Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Department will provide law enforcement services to 

this subdivision.   

  

e.   Solid Waste disposal – The Billings Landfill has capacity for solid waste disposal.  

Solid waste will be collected and disposed of by a private garbage collection company.  

Each lot owner will be responsible for arranging for collection. 

  

f.   Storm water drainage – The storm water drainage will be collected onsite using a 

combination of swales and the natural slope of the land. Proposed storm water drainage 

shall be submitted to the MDEQ for review and approval prior to final plat. All proposed 

stormwater systems shall meet the requirements of Section 4.7 of Yellowstone County 

Subdivision Regulation’s and the requirements of MDEQ. (Condition #1)  

  

g. School facilities – The proposed subdivision is located within School District #2. 

Elementary school is Meadowlark, middle school is Ben Steele and high school will be 

West.  At the time of the writing of these findings there was no response from School 

District #2 regarding capacity. 

  

h. Parks and recreation – This proposed subdivision is not required to provide parkland 

as it is a minor subdivision.  

 

i. Postal Service – The applicant will be required to coordinate with the USPS to ensure 

they are providing a safe location for the postal worker to deliver the mail and the 

residents to retrieve it. (Condition #5) 

 

j. Historic features – No known historic or cultural assets exist on the site. 

 

k.   Phasing of Development - The applicant is not proposing to develop this subdivision 

in phases.  

  

3.  Effects on the natural environment 

The development will use noxious weed control measures to prevent the spread of 

noxious weeds to adjacent developed or agricultural land. As required by County 

Subdivision Regulations Section 4.15 all county subdivisions are required to apply for 

and obtain a weed management plan with the County Weed Department. Any subdivision 

that has an existing Weed Management Plan are required to get an updated Weed 

Management Plan. That plan will be submitted with final plat approval. (Condition #6) 

  

There are no apparent or known natural hazards on the property. 

  



 Page 3 of 4 

4.  Effects on wildlife and wildlife habitat 

There are no known endangered or threatened species on the property.  A paragraph in 

the ‘Conditions that Run with the Land’ section of the SIA warns future lot owners of the 

likely presence of wildlife in the area and their potential to damage residential 

landscaping.   

  

5.  Effects on public health and safety 

Plans and designs for the water and septic system will be reviewed and approved by 

MDEQ prior home construction on each lot to ensure public health and safety. 

 

Fire and emergency services are provided for this proposed subdivision from Billings 

Fire Department and the Yellowstone County Sheriff’s department.  

  

B.   Was an environmental assessment required?  If yes, what, if any, significant 

adverse impacts were identified? (76-3-603 MCA) (Chapter 9, YCSR) 

  

A summary of impacts was required for this subdivision pursuant Section 9.2 C of the 

County Subdivision Regulations.  The impacts to the environment which include, 

agricultural, water user facilities, natural environment wildlife and habitat, will be 

minimal. The land is not used for agricultural purposes, it is grassland and shrubs. With 

the large lots proposed the impacts to the natural environment should be minimal. There 

are no known endangered species on the land. 

 

C.  Does the subdivision conform to the Yellowstone County 2008 Growth Policy, 

the 2018 Urban Area Transportation Plan and the Billings Area Bikeway and Trail 

Master Plan Update? [BMCC 23-302.H.4.] 

 

1. Yellowstone County - 2008 Growth Policy 

The subdivision is consistent with the following goals of the Growth Policy: 

• Goal:  Predictable land use decisions that are consistent with neighborhood 

character and land use patterns.  (p. 6) 

The subdivision is consistent with the type of residential development in the surrounding 

area. 

• Goal:  Controlled weed populations.  (p. 9) 

The developer shall complete a weed management plan and shall provide a re-vegetation 

plan for any ground disturbed by development. 

 

2.  2018 Billings Urban Area Long Range Transportation Plan 

  

The subject property maintains the road study area of the Transportation Plan. As 

proposed, the internal streets are neighborhood streets associated with this subdivision.  

  

3.  Billings Area Bikeway and Trail Master Plan (BABTMP) 

This subdivision is within the BABTMP boundaries for trails. There is a proposed long-

range bike lane along 64th Street West. They will not be required to build any trail as part 

of the development. 

  



 Page 4 of 4 

D.  Does the subdivision conform to the Montana Subdivision and Platting Act 

(MSPA) and to local subdivision regulations? [MCA 76-3-608 (3) (b) and Section 3.2 

(3) (a) YCSR] 

  

The proposed subdivision meets the requirements of the MSPA and the YCSR.  The 

subdivider and the local government have complied with the subdivision review and 

approval procedures that are set forth by local and state subdivision regulations. 

  

E.  Does the subdivision conform to sanitary requirements? [Section 4.8 (C) and 4.9 

(C), YCSR] 

  

The subdivision must receive approval from the MDEQ prior to any home construction 

on each lot. New parcels, without existing septic systems, are subject to MDEQ review. 

  

F.  Does the proposed subdivision meet any applicable Zoning Requirements? 

 [Section 3.2 (H) (3) (e), YCSR] 

  

The proposed subdivision is outside County Zoning Jurisdiction. There are no 

Yellowstone County zoning regulations on the subject property.  

 

G.  Does the subdivision provide for necessary planned utilities?   [MCA 76-3-608 

(3) (c) and Section 3.2 (H) (3) (b), YCSR] 

  

The applicant will coordinate with private utility companies to provide the required 

easements.  

 

H.  Does the proposed subdivision provide for Legal and Physical Access to all lots?  

[MCA 76-3-608 (3) (d) and Section 3.2 (H) (3) (c) (d), YCSR] 

  

Legal and physical access will be provided for 64th Street West and the subdivision street 

Olive Branch Way. The internal street will provide access to individual lots. 

 

CONCLUSIONS OF FINDINGS OF FACT 

• This subdivision does not create adverse impacts that warrant denial of the 

subdivision.  

• Impacts to agriculture, agriculture water user facilities, local services, public 

health and safety, the natural environment, and wildlife should be minimal, and 

can be mitigated by reasonable conditions of final plat approval.   

• The subdivision conforms to some of the goals of the Growth Policy.    

• The applicant has complied with the MSPA and YCSR processes and the 

subdivision conforms to the law requirements. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends to the Board of County Commissioners conditional approval for the 

preliminary plat of Olive Grove Subdivision and adopt the Findings of Fact as presented 

in the staff report. 





 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUBDIVISION IMPROVEMENTS AGREEMENT 

 
 
 

FOR 

 
 
 

  OLIVE GROVE SUBDIVISION 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROPOSED SUBDIVISION IS LOCATED IN THE SE ¼ OF SECTION 6, 

T1S, R25E, PMM, YELLOWSTONE COUNTY, MONTANA. 
 
 
 
 
 

PREPARED BY: 
 

NORTH STAR LAND SERVICES, P.C. 

33 CENTENNIAL ROAD, COLUMBUS, MONTANA  59019 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

2 
 

 
 

Table of Contents 
 

   Page 
 

Variances       3     
       

Conditions that run with the land     3     
       

Transportation      4     

 Streets       4     

 Traffic Control Devices    5 
 Access       5     

 Heritage Trail Plan     5     

 BABTMP          

Emergency Services      5     
      

Storm Drainage      5     
Utilities       6     

 Water       6     

 Sanitary Sewer     6     

 Power, Telephone, Gas, and Cable Television 6 
      

Parks/Open Space      6     
     

Irrigation       6     
      

Weed Management      6     
      

Soils/Geotechnical Study     6 

 

Phasing of Improvements     7 
          

Financial Guarantees     7     
    

Legal Provision      7     
     

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
        
 



 

3 
 

SUBDIVISION IMPROVEMENTS AGREEMENT 

Olive Grove Subdivision 
 
 

This agreement is made and entered in to this ______ day of _____________, 20___, by and 

between Darrell D. Aldinger and Betty S. Aldinger whose address for the purpose of this 

agreement is 1929 Wyndam Park Drive, Billings, Montana 59102 and also Kevin F. Kurth, 

whose address for the purpose of this agreement is Box 23604, Billings, Montana 59104, 

hereinafter referred to as “Subdivider,” and Yellowstone County, Montana, hereinafter referred 

to as “County.” 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

 WHEREAS, the plat of Olive Grove Subdivision located in Yellowstone County, 

Montana, was submitted to the Yellowstone County Board of Planning; and 
 

 WHEREAS, at a regular meeting conducted on____   day of _______________ 20____, 

the Board of County Commissioners conditionally approved a preliminary plat of Olive Grove 

Subdivision; and 
 

 WHEREAS, a Subdivision Improvements Agreement is required by the County prior to 

the approval of the final plat. 
 

 WHEREAS, the provisions of this agreement shall be effective and applicable to Olive 

Grove Subdivision, upon the filing of the final plat thereof in the Office of the Clerk and 

Recorder of Yellowstone County, Montana.  The Subdivision shall comply with all requirements 

of the Yellowstone County Subdivisions Regulations, the rules, regulations, polices, and 

resolutions of Yellowstone County, and the laws and administrative rules of the State of 

Montana. 
 

 THEREFORE, THE PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT, for and in consideration of 

the mutual promises herein contained and for the other good and valuable consideration, do 

hereby agree as follows: 
 

I. VARIANCES 
 

A. Subdivider has requested, and the county hereby grants, the following variances by 

the Board of County Commissioner from the strict interpretation of the County's 

Subdivision Regulations.  No variances are requested. 
 
 

II. CONDITIONS THAT RUN WITH THE LAND   
A.  Lot owners should be aware that this subdivision is being built in close proximity to 

prime deer and antelope habitat and it is likely that homeowners will experience 

problems with damage to landscaped shrubs, flowers, and gardens.  The Montana Fish, 

Wildlife, and Parks Department does not provide damage assistance unless there is 



 

4 
 

damage to commercial crops and/or a threat to public health and safety. 
 

 B.  Lot owners should be aware that soil characteristics within the area of this 
 subdivision, as described in the 1972 Yellowstone County Soil Survey, indicate 

that there could be potential limitations for construction on the lots, which may require a 

geotechnical survey prior to construction. 
 

C.  No water rights shall be transferred to the lot owners.  Irrigation ditches that exist in 

the area of the lots are for the benefit of other properties. Perimeter ditches and drains 

shall remain in place and shall not be altered by the Subdivider or subsequent owners. 
 

 D.  There is attached hereto a Waiver waiving the right to protest the creation 

 of the special improvement district or districts which by this reference is expressly 

incorporated herein and made as much a part hereof as though fully and completely set 

forth herein at this point.  The Waiver will be filed with the plat, shall run with the land, 

and shall constitute the guarantee by the Subdivider and property owner or owners of the 

development described herein. Said Waiver is effective upon filing and is not conditioned 

on the completion of the conditions set forth in this Agreement.  The Subdivider and 

owner specifically agree that they are waiving valuable rights and do so voluntarily. 
                               

 E.  Olive Grove Subdivision is located outside of the 100-year floodplain.                      
 

 F.  Culverts and associated drainage swales shall not be filled in or altered by the 

 Subdivider or subsequent lot owners.                                                                                                              
 

G.  When required by road improvements, all fences and irrigation ditches in the public 

right-of-way adjacent to this subdivision shall be removed or relocated outside of the 

public right-of-way and relocation outside of the public right-of-way shall be subject to 

securing and recording easements.                                                                                                                             
 

H.  Future maintenance of all (or common) improvements shall be done through one (1) 

or more RSID(s) created as part of the SIA for this subdivision. 
 

I.   Lot owners should be aware that there is a potential for high ground water levels in 

the area during times of flood irrigation in the vicinity, which may pose limitations on 

foundations and basements. 
 

J.  The Lots 1 and 2 will used for commercial development, Lots 3,4 and 5 will be 

residential. All buildings will be located at least ten (10) feet from adjoining public 

rights-of-way and from any public or private access, and 10 feet from any perimeter 

property lines.  
                                                                                                          
  

III. TRANSPORTATION                                                                    
 

 A.    Streets 
 All rights-of-way shall be 60 feet in width. 



 

5 
 

 

All interior roads shall be constructed with 12 inches of 3-minus base course, 3 inches of 

1.5 inches minus crushed base course top course, 3 inches of asphalt pavement and 

constructed to adequately support a 40-ton vehicle.  Finish surface of gravel base shall be 

28 feet in width for an asphalt width of 24 feet. No curb or gutter shall be constructed. 
 

Roads will have drainage swales on both sides of the road to store storm water runoff 

from the public roadways. Driveway culverts are proposed.  Drainage swales in between 

drive approaches shall not be altered by the Subdivider or subsequent owners.   The 

buy/sell agreements on all parcels of land shall include a statement that drainage swales 

may not be altered. 
 

 The existing approach off 64th Street West will be replaced by a   

 permanent approach built to County Public Works Standards. 
 

 B.  Traffic Control Devices          

 A stop sign will be erected at the intersection of 64th Street West and 
 Olive Branch Way. 
 

 Street name signs will be erected at the intersection of 64th Street West and 

 Olive Branch Way. 
 

No interior stop signs or yield signs are proposed as the traffic volume will be quite low.  

No speed bumps or valley gutters are proposed. No speed limit signs are proposed. 
   

C.  Access         

 Location of existing accesses and proposed accesses are shown on the plat.                                                                             
 

D.  Billings Area Bikeways and Trail Master Plan (BABTMP)   

Olive Grove Subdivision, is within the (BABTMP). There is a bike trial identified on 64th 

Street West. This subdivision will not be required to install any trail system. 
      

IV. EMERGENCY SERVICES          
 

 A.  BUFSA will provide fire suppression and emergency services.             
 

B. A 30,000-gallon water storage/dry hydrant fixture is located on Block 1, Lot 7 of Fire 

Rock Subdivision and will service this subdivision. 
    

C. Urban Wildland Interface Code requirements are not required as the subdivision is  

      not located in a highly wooded area. 
 

V. STORM DRAINAGE 
 

 A.  Storm water from the public R.O.W. will be stored in the roadside swales. 

 Individual lots will be required to provide their own storm water retention per 

 approved plans by the Montana Department of Environmental Quality.   



 

6 
 

      

B.  Existing drainage swales are also located along the existing road, Olive Branch Way,  

  no improvements to the existing system are planned.     
       

VI. UTILITIES 
 

 A.  Water         
In accordance with Section 4.9 Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations, all 

proposed water systems must obtain approval by the MDEQ, or its designee. Water 

supply will be provided by offsite domestic water supply companies and stored on each 

lot in cisterns. Maintenance of the cisterns will be the responsibility of the individual lot 

owner. 
 

B.  Sanitary Sewer        
In accordance with Section 4.8 Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations, all sanitary 

sewer systems must obtain approval by the MDEQ, or its designee. Each lot will have 

individual Sewer systems installed. Maintenance of the sewer system will be the 

responsibility of the individual lot owner.  
   
 

C.  Power, Telephone. Gas and Cable Television                                                                                                                  

All utilities presently exist within Olive Grove Subdivision and will be extended to 

provide service to each.               
 

VII. PARKS/OPEN SPACE      
 

There is no parkland requirement for Olive Grove Subdivision, as this is a minor 

subdivision.   
 

VIII. IRRIGATION 
 

The owner will retain all water rights for Olive Grove Subdivision. No water rights will 

be transferred to the new lot owners. Existing ditches will be eliminated.          
 

VIIII. WEED MANAGEMENT          
 

 All noxious weeds on the latest Yellowstone County Noxious Weed list shall be 

 controlled on all properties in the subdivision. 
 

A Weed management Plan must be filed and updated as needed for the approval by the 

Yellowstone County Weed Department. Said weed management plan shall contain the 

noxious s weeds being addressed and the plan for the control of those weeds.  All 

associated cost for the noxious weed control is the responsibility of the owner of record. 
 

A revegetation plan shall be submitted as part of the management plan.  A  seeding 

recommendation can be obtained from the Yellowstone County Weed Department 

pursuant to Section 7-22-2152, MCA.  The Yellowstone County Weed Department 



 

7 
 

reserves the right to revise these recommendations based on the required site inspection. 
 

X. SOILS/GEOTECHNICAL STUDY 
 

No geotechnical study was completed for this subdivision. Such a study will be the 

responsibility of future owners if they choose. 

 

XI. PHASING OF IMPROVEMENTS 
 

 There will be no phasing of improvements. 
 

XII. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES 
 

 Except as otherwise provided, Subdivider shall install and construct said required 

 improvements by private contracts secured by bonds, irrevocable letters of credit, 

 sequential development, or any other method that may be acceptable to the 

Planning board and Board of county Commissioners.  All engineering and legal work in 

connection with such improvements shall be paid by the contracting parties pursuant to 

said private contract, and the improvements shall be designed by and constructed under 

the supervision of a professional engineer competent in civil engineering, licensed in the 

State of Montana. Upon completion of the improvements, the consulting engineer shall 

file with the Public Works Department, a statement certifying that the improvements have 

been completed in accordance with approved, seal stamped, record drawings, along with 

all post-construction certification per Section 4.6.C. of the Yellowstone County 

Subdivision Regulations. 
                                                                                                   

XIII. LEGAL PROVISIONS         
 

 A. 
 Subdivider agrees to guarantee all public improvements for a period of one year 

 from the date of final acceptance by Yellowstone County. 
 

 B.  
 The owners of the properties involved in this proposed Subdivision by 
 signature subscribed herein below agree, consent, and shall be bound by the 
 provisions of this Agreement. 
  

 C. 

 The covenants, agreements, and all statements in this agreement apply to and  

 shall be binding on the heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns  

 of the respective parties. 
 

 D. 
In the event it becomes necessary for either party to this Agreement to retain an attorney 

to enforce any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement or to give any notice required 

herein, then the prevailing party or the party giving notice shall be entitled to reasonable 

attorney fees and costs.     



 

8 
 

  

 E.  
 Any amendments or modifications of this agreement or any provisions herein 
 shall be made in writing and executed in the same manner as this original  document and 

shall after execution become a part of this agreement 
 

 F.  
 Subdivider shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local statutes, 
 ordinances, and administrative regulations during the performance and discharge  of its 

obligations. Subdivider acknowledges and agrees that nothing contained  herein shall 

relieve or exempt it from such compliance. 
                                                                      
 

  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands and official 

seals on the date first above written. 
 

“SUBDIVIDER” 
 
 
 

By:______________________________________ 

 Darrell D. Aldinger 
 
 

By:______________________________________ 

 Betty S. Aldinger 
 
   

STATE OF MONTANA  ) 
     : ss 

County of Yellowstone  ) 
 

 On this ____________ day of_______________________, 20_______, before me a 

Notary Public in and for the State of Montana, personally appeared Darrell D. Aldinger and 

Betty S. Aldinger known to me to be the persons who executed the forgoing instrument and 

acknowledges to me that they executed the same. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Notary Public in and for the State of Montana. 
 

_____________________________________ 
Printed Name: 
 

Residing at:___________________________ 
 

My commission expires:_________________ 



 

9 
 

 
 
 
 
                                                                                           

  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set their hands and official 

seals on the date first above written. 
 

“SUBDIVIDER” 
 
 
 

By:______________________________________ 
 Kevin F. Kurth 
 
 
  
 
   

STATE OF MONTANA  ) 
     : ss 
County of Yellowstone  ) 
 

 On this ____________ day of_______________________, 20_______, before me a 

Notary Public in and for the State of Montana, personally appeared Kevin F. Kurth known to me 

to be the persons who executed the forgoing instrument and acknowledges to me that they 

executed the same. 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Notary Public in and for the State of Montana. 
 

_____________________________________ 

Printed Name: 
 

Residing at:___________________________ 
 

My commission expires:_________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

10 
 

 
 

 
 
 

STATE OF MONTANA   ) 
      :ss 

County of Yellowstone   ) 
 

This agreement is hereby approved and accepted by Yellowstone County this_________  day of 
 

__________________________, 20_______. 
 

“COUNTY” 

YELLOWSTONE COUNTY 
 

   By:______________________________________________ 
    Chairman 
 
 

   _________________________________________________ 

    Commissioner 
 
 

   _________________________________________________  

    Commissioner 
 
 

    Attest:_____________________________________ 
     Clerk and Recorder 
 

STATE OF MONTANA  ) 
     ) ss 
County of Yellowstone  ) 
 

 On this ________ day of ______________________, 20______, before me, a Notarty 

Public in and for the State of Montana personally 

appeared___________________________________________, 

_______________________________________, 

_______________________________________and 
_______________________________________ known to me to be the County Commissioners 

and the Clerk and Recorder respectively, of Yellowstone County, Montana, whose names are 

subscribed to the foregoing instrument in such capacity and acknowledged to me that they 

executed the same on behalf of the Yellowstone County, Montana. 
 

________________________________________________________ 
Notary Public in and for the State of Montana. 



 

11 
 

Printed name;_____________________________________________ 
Residing at:_______________________________________________ 

My commission expires:_____________________________________ 
                                                                     
        

 



 Page 1 of 4 

Attachment A 

 

Staff Analysis and Recommendation 

 

County Planning, County Public Works, County Legal staff and Laurel Fire Department have 

reviewed the request for a variance from Yellowstone County Subdivision Regulations Section 

4.14.C. 2, Major, Commercial, and Subsequent Minor Subdivision. The subdivider shall provide 

a minimum of one of the following mechanisms for fire suppression. An approved, single, 

minimum ten thousand (10,000) gallon underground water storage tank for fire suppression.  

 

The variance request is for this subdivision to use a 30,000-gallon dry hydrant system in the Fire 

Rock Subdivision to the north.  

 

Billings Fire Department has stated they are supportive of the variance. The dry hydrant in the 

Fire Rock Subdivision to the north is just over ½ road mile from the farthest point in the 

proposed Olive Grove Subdivision. 

 

1. The granting of the variance will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or general 

welfare or injurious to other adjoining properties.  

 

The granting of this variance would allow the use of a 30,000-gallon tank that is in the near 

vicinity to the north. The Billings Fire Department is supportive of the proposed variance and 

feels that it will not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or general welfare.   

 

2. Because of the particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the 

specific property involved, an undue hardship to the owner would result if the strict letter of the 

regulation was enforced.  

 

There are no surrounding physical conditions that would result in an undue hardship to the 

developer.  

 

3. The variance will not result in an increase in taxpayer burden.  

 

The variance will not increase taxpayer burden. 

 

4. The variance will not in any manner place the subdivision in nonconformance with any 

adopted zoning regulations or Growth Policy.  

 

Approval of this variance will not place this subdivision in nonconformance of adopted zoning 

regulations or the growth policy. This subdivision is outside of the Yellowstone County Zoned 

area. 

 

5. The subdivider must prove that the alternative design is equally effective, and the objectives of 

the improvements are satisfied.  

 



 Page 2 of 4 

The alternate option for the required 10,000-gallon dry hydrant system is the use of a 30,000-

gallon dry hydrant system in the Fire Rock Subdivision to the north. The tank in Fire Rock 

subdivision is a functioning tank and the Billings Fire Department inspects it on a rotating basis 

to ensure it is functional.  

 

Therefore, staff is recommending approval of the proposed variance and recommends that the 

Planning Board recommend approval to the Board of County Commissioners.  



 Page 3 of 4 

Applicant Variance Request 

 



 Page 4 of 4 

 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Resolution of Intent to Adopt No Parking Area on a Portion of Iroquois Trail
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
Resolution 23-98 of Intent to Adopt No Parking Area on a Portion of Iroquois Trail and Setting the Public Hearing
for Tuesday October 10, 2023 @ 9:30 a.m. in Room 3108

BACKGROUND:
Resolution of intent to set the public hearing.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve or deny. 

Attachments
No Parking Map 
No Parking Resolution of Intent 



Menglish
Rectangle

Menglish
Callout
No Parking Area





Resolution No. 23 – 98 

Resolution of Intent to Adopt No Parking Area on a Portion of Iroquois Trail 

1 of 2 

YELLOWSTONE COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 

Resolution No. 23-98 

 

Resolution of Intent to Adopt No Parking Area on a Portion of Iroquois Trail 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Sections 7-14-2101(1)(a)(i), 7-14-2102 and 7-14-2103(1) of the Montana Code Annotated, 

a board of county commissioners has the authority to manage county roads within the county.  Pursuant to Section 

61-8-355(4) of the Montana Code Annotated, a board of county commissioners has the authority to create no 

parking areas along a county road.  

 

WHEREAS, Indian Cliffs Subdivision 1st and 2nd Filing are subdivisions in Yellowstone County.  The developer 

dedicated the roads in the Subdivisions to the public.  The County manages the roads on behalf of the public.  The 

developer placed private covenants and restrictions on the Subdivisions.  One of the covenants and restrictions 

prohibits parking along the roads in the Subdivisions.  Yellowstone County does not enforce private covenants and 

restrictions.  The County cannot prohibit parking along the roads in the Subdivisions based on the covenants and 

restrictions.  The County can prohibit parking along the roads in the Subdivisions based on a resolution.  Dave 

Marble, a representative of the Indian Cliffs Subdivision’s advisory board and resident, requested the County enact a 

resolution to prohibit parking from the intersection of Iroquois Trail and Cherokee Trail going north approximately 

400 feet on Iroquois Trail to the road closed sign on Iroquois Trail in the Subdivision.   The advisory board’s request 

appears reasonable.   

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, 

 

The Yellowstone County Board of County Commissioners intends to create a no parking area along a portion of 

Iroquois Trail in Indian Cliffs Subdivision 1st Filing.  Attached is a copy of the Plat of the Subdivisions that indicates 

the affected roads. 

 

On October 10, 2023, the Board shall hold a public hearing on the proposed no parking area.  At the hearing, the 

Board will receive comments on the no parking area.  The Board orders the Yellowstone County Clerk and Recorder 

to make the maps of the no parking area available to the public, provide notice of the public hearing, receive written 

comments and provide the comments to the Board before the hearing.  After the hearing, if the Board believes it is in 

the best interest of the public to adopt the no parking area, it will pass a resolution to adopt the no parking area.  

Conversely, if the Board believes it is not in the best interest of the public to adopt the no parking area, it will pass a 

resolution not to adopt the no parking area. 

 

Passed and Adopted on the 19th day of September 2023. 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

YELLOWSTONE COUNTY, MONTANA 

 
      

John Ostlund, Chair 

 

      

Mark Morse, Member    ATTEST: 

 

            

Donald W. Jones, Member    Jeff Martin, Clerk and Recorder 

 

 



Resolution No. 23 – 98 

Resolution of Intent to Adopt No Parking Area on a Portion of Iroquois Trail 

2 of 2 

Chronology 

Discussion – August 24, 2023 

Agenda – September 12, 2023 

Resolution of Intent – September 19, 2023  
Publication of Notice – September 22, 2023 & September 29, 2023 

Public Hearing / Resolution – October 12, 2023 

 
 

Documents 

Plat of Indian Cliffs Subdivision 1st Filing 
Resolution of Intent - Attorney 

Minutes of Meeting – Clerk and Recorder 

Recording of Meeting – Clerk and Recorder 
Notice of Public Hearing - Attorney 

Affidavit of Notice of Public Hearing - Attorney 

Comments - Public 
Resolution - Attorney 

Minutes of Hearing/Meeting – Clerk and Recorder 

Recording of Hearing/Meeting – Clerk and Recorder 
Comments – Public   

 
 

 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Johnson Lane Materials Covenant
Submitted For: Jeff Martin, Clerk And Recorder 
Submitted By: Jeff Martin, Clerk And Recorder

TOPIC:
Release of an Agricultural Covenant for Lots 2B, 2C, 2D, and 2E, of Amended Plat of Lot 2, Johnson Lane
Materials Subdivision
 

BACKGROUND:
Said lots have gone through subdivision review.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Execute.

Attachments
Johnson Lane Ag 







   
B.O.C.C. Regular 2. a.        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Board Resignation Thank You Letter
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
Board Resignation Thank You Letter - Richard Klose Sr., Cheryle Fisher & Robert Wolske 

BACKGROUND:
See Attachment 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Sign and Mail 

Attachments
Richard Klose 
Bob Wolske 
Cheryle Fisher 









   
B.O.C.C. Regular 2. b.        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Board Openings
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
Board Openings - Updated List 

BACKGROUND:
See Attachment 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Post 

Attachments
Board Openings 



 

September 19, 2023 

ADULT RESOURCE ALLIANCE 3 year 1 partial to 6/30/25 

 

   CITY/COUNTY PLANNING: DIST 3 2 year 1 full to 12/31/24 

   CITY/COUNTY PLANNING: DIST 4 2 year 1 full to 12/31/24 

   CITY/COUNTY PLANNING: DIST 6 2 year   1 full to 12/31/24 

 NOTE: To be eligible for the above special district boards, applicants must live AND own property within 

the boundaries of the district. To find which planning district you live in, please contact the City/County 

Planning Division at 247-8676. 

 

LAUREL URBAN FIRE SERVICE AREA 3 year 
                     1 partial to 6/30/25 

                     1 full to 6/30/26 

BROADVIEW CEMETERY 3 year                      1 full to 6/30/26 

 NOTE: To be eligible for the above special district boards, applicants must live OR own 

property within the boundaries of the district. 

 

 NOTE: To be eligible for the above special district boards, applicants must live OR own property within the 

boundaries of the district. 

 

LOCKWOOD TEDD ADVISORY BOARD 3 year                    1 full to 3/31/26 

LOCKWOOD PEDESTRIAN SAFETY DISTRICT ADV. 3 year 2 partial to 12/31/23 

PARK BOARD 3 year 
            1 full to 6/30/26 

                1 partial to 6/30/24 
                1 partial to 6/30/25 

BILLINGS PUBLIC LIBRARY 5 year                 1 partial to 6/30/25 

 

APPLICATIONS FOR THE ABOVE POSITIONS WILL BE ACCEPTED 

UNTIL 5:00PM ON THURSDAY, October 19, 2023 

 

August 22, 2023 

AREA II AGENCY ON AGING  1 year                   1 full to 6/30/24 

 

APPLICATIONS FOR THE ABOVE POSITIONS WILL BE ACCEPTED 

UNTIL 5:00PM ON THURSDAY, September 21, 2023 

 

HUNTLEY PROJECT FIRE SERVICE AREA 3 year 1 partial to 6/30/24 

SHEPHERD FIRE SERVICE AREA 3 year 1 partial to 5/8/25 

 

 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular 2. c.        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Board Appointment
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
Board Appointment - Erika Guy to Downtown Billings Partnership

BACKGROUND:
See Attachment 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve or Deny 

Attachments
Erika Guy 





   
B.O.C.C. Regular 2. d.        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Letter to Director Beatty
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
Letter to MTDOR Director Beatty
 

BACKGROUND:
See Attachment 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Sign and Mail 

Attachments
Letter to MTDOR 





   
B.O.C.C. Regular 3. a.        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Metra ARPA Infrastructure Contract Terracon for Materials Testing
Submitted For: James Matteson, Purchasing Agent 
Submitted By: James Matteson, Purchasing Agent

TOPIC:
Metra ARPA Infrastructure Contract with Terracon for Materials Testing on Construction Projects

BACKGROUND:
Agreement with Terracon for Materials testing (field density compaction, soil evaluation, moisture density,
concrete sampling for slump & air content) for the Arena Lot & Ride-share phase III of the MetraPark as well as
the final portion of Phase II Lower Lot.  The materials testing is an anticipated expense with an estimated cost of
$19,697.00. Due to the complexity of the project and substrate uncertainties, the agreement also has a maximum
cost of not to exceed $52,000.00.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve and sign the Agreement.

Attachments
Metra ARPA Arena Lot - Terracon 









   
B.O.C.C. Regular 3. b.        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Memorandum of Understanding- Yellowstone County-Marine Corp League-Riverside Cemetery

Marker Placement
Submitted For: James Matteson, Purchasing Agent 
Submitted By: James Matteson, Purchasing Agent

TOPIC:
Memorandum of Understanding with the Eugene Sara Detachment #418 Marine Corps League for Marker
Placement at Riverside Cemetery

BACKGROUND:
Purchasing is requesting Commissioner approval to enter into an agreement with the Eugene Sara Detachment #
418 Marine Corps League.  The Marine Corp League is a private non-profit corporation that provides services to
Marine Corp Veterans.  The County manages a county indigent cemetery.  The County and the Detachment would
like to place markers to identify the cremation graves of the people buried in the County cemetery.  The County
will identify the locations, the Detachment will provide materials and labor to install the markers.  Thus, they enter
into this informal, non-binding agreement to work together to place the markers.  The County will pay the
Detachment in the amount not to exceed $12,000.00.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the M.O.U and return a signed copy to Finance

Attachments
Riverside Cemetery MOU - Marine Corp League 









   
B.O.C.C. Regular 3. c.        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Metra Request to Expend Cattle Panels for 4-H
Submitted For: James Matteson, Purchasing Agent 
Submitted By: James Matteson, Purchasing Agent

TOPIC:
MetraPark Request to Expend for Cattle Panels for 4-H

BACKGROUND:
MetraPark is requesting Commissioner approval for the purchase of cattle panels for 4-H.  The cost of the panels
is $17,959.32. The purchase was anticipated and included in the FY24 budget in the Metra Facilities Capital
Outlay (Equipment) budget line (5811.000.552.460442.940.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the Request and return a copy to Finance

Attachments
Metra RTE Cattle Panels 2023 



09/12/2023



   
B.O.C.C. Regular 3. d.        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Metra Contract with Cushing Terrell - Architectural Services - Northwest Arena level &

Concourse Level Concessions 
Submitted For: James Matteson, Purchasing Agent 
Submitted By: James Matteson, Purchasing Agent

TOPIC:
MetraPark Contract with Cushing Terrell for Architectural Services for Northwest Arena Level & Concourse Level
Concessions

BACKGROUND:
MetraPark is requesting Commissioner approval for a contract with Cushing Terrell Architects/Engineers for
design drawings for permit, bid and construction of the Northwest concessions area.  The NW concourse
concessions area is a remodel project, the arena level is to develop an additional concession area at the arena
floor level.  The project was anticipated and included on the FY24 Metra Park Capital Improvement budget
(5811.000.552.460442.920)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the contract and return a copy to Finance

Attachments
Metra Contract NW Concessions CTA 











   
B.O.C.C. Regular 3. e.        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Revised -MOU for MBCC Grant RSAT with Turn Key Health Clinics
Submitted By: Anna Ullom, Senior Accountant

TOPIC:
Memorandum of Understanding and Agreement to Sub-Contract with Turn Key Health Clinics for the MBCC Grant
RSAT

BACKGROUND:
MOU with Turn Key Health Clinics for SUD/MH Assessments up to 132 assessments at $350/assessment or
$4,550.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve.

Attachments
MOU MBCC grant RSAT - Turn Key Health Clinics 



MBCC RSAT grant funding July 1, 2023 – September 30, 2023 
Page 1 of 7 

 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING AND AGREEMENT TO SUB-CONTRACT 

BETWEEN  

YELLOWSTONE COUNTY SHERIFF DEPARTMENT AND TURN 

KEY HEALTH CLINICS     
 
Whereas: Yellowstone County Sherriff’s Department has been awarded funding to pilot 
programs addressing substance use disorder, mental health, and criminal transition 
programs in Yellowstone County from the Montana Board of Crime Control; 
 
Whereas: Stonerock Business Solutions coordinated with members of Yellowstone 
County and community partners to apply for funding for the agreement, and in turn, the 
County was named Contractor under the agreement. In order to implement these 
programs, a program director is needed to facilitate the collaboration of the project; 
 
Whereas: The funding source for this project needs a single individual to contact for 
information about the project development and implementation;  
 
Whereas: Turn Key Health Clinics (Turn Key) is a licensed, insured, and professional 
agency that provides medical including substance use disorder and mental health disorder 
services to YCDF; 
 
Whereas: Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Department and the Board of County 
Commissioners (BOCC) are committed to piloting programs that reduce the re-entry of 
offenders into the facility and reduce crime; however, no current detention center or 
Sheriff Department staff have duties or responsibilities that could be assumed to facilitate 
implementation of this pilot project and requires outside assistance from a skilled project 
manager to meet required goals and objectives of the project;  
 
Whereas: Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Department is committed to providing evidence-
based treatment and supervision programs to meet the requirements of these funding 
sources;  
 
AND 
 
Whereas: The goals and objectives identified in the projects are identified by the 
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) as best 
practices standards. 
 
Therefore: This Memorandum of Understanding and Agreement to Sub-Contract 
(hereinafter referred to as “MOU”) is made and entered into by and between Yellowstone 
County Sheriff’s Department (YCSD) whose address is 217 N 27th Street, Billings, MT 



MBCC RSAT grant funding July 1, 2023 – September 30, 2023 
Page 2 of 7 

 

59101, and Turn Key Health Clinics (Turn Key) whose address is 900 NW 12th St, 
Oklahoma City, OK 73106. 
 
Therefore: It is the intent of the parties to this MOU that the County shall, as contractor 
under the agreement, contract with Turn Key and that Turn Key shall perform all work 
and services as sub-contractor under the agreement.   
 
 1. Purpose.  
 
The purpose of this MOU is to establish the terms and conditions under which YCSO and 
Turn Key will collaborate to fulfill the services and requirements approved by the 
funding source to the best of their abilities.  
 
 2. Term of MOU.  
 
This MOU shall be in effect for a period the award date of the funding sources beginning 
June 1, 2023 through September 30, 2023. Either party may terminate this agreement, in 
writing, ninety (90) days prior to the proposed termination date. Any activities in 
progress at the time of termination shall be permitted to conclude as planned unless 
otherwise agreed in writing. BOCC may terminate this contract for Turn Key’s failure to 
perform any of its duties under this contract after giving Turn Key written notice of the 
failure. The written notice must demand performance of the stated failure within a 
specified period of time of not less than 30 days. If the demanded performance is not 
completed within the specified period, the termination is effective at the end of the 
specified period. 
 
The term of this MOU shall not exceed the term of the Professional Services Agreement 
between the County of Yellowstone, Montana, by its Board of County Commissioners, 
and Turn Key. Termination, by either party, of the Professional Services Agreement, 
shall terminate this MOU. 
 
 3. Payment 

 
In consideration for the services to be performed by the Contractor, the County agrees to 
reimburse Turn Key from pre-approved grant funds for the following: 
   
RSAT funds (available until September 30, 2023): 

 SUD/MH Assessments up to 132 assessments at $350/assessment or $4,550 
 
Turn Key will have access to re-entry funds for their clients.  These funds will be 
managed and approved by Stonerock Business Solutions.  Up to $30,000 in funds are 
made available to clients from the RSAT funding.  Re-Entry services will be reimbursed 
for actual costs with proof of payment.  



MBCC RSAT grant funding July 1, 2023 – September 30, 2023 
Page 3 of 7 

 

 
Turn Key must submit monthly data reports and invoices to Stonerock Business 
Solutions, grant management and project director contractor for review and approval 
prior payment.  These funds will be reimbursed through grant funds pre-allocated and 
approved by Montana Board of Crime Control. 
 
 4. Responsibilities of Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Department.    
 
Yellowstone County Detention Center is responsible for the following: 
 
4.1 Act as Fiscal Agent as required and all financial responsibilities associated.  YCSO 
agrees to cooperate with Turn Key as the pass through between the State of Montana and 
Turn Key to deliver, in a timely fashion, and pursuant to page 3 of the services funding 
agreement, all funding that flow to the County from the agreement, directly to Turn Key 
in order that Turn Key can deliver services required under the agreement and required by 
the funding. 
 
4.2  YCSO agrees to provide access to staff, equipment, and data as to complete the 
necessary tracking and reporting of grant and project outcomes to funding sources. Turn 
Key is responsible for actual reporting of data of services delivered.  
 
4.3 YCSO agrees to participate in meetings, development, and evaluation as necessary to 
complete the project goals. 
  
4.4 YCSO acknowledges that it has the sole decision-making authority on the project and 
that Turn Key as the contracted service provider’s role is to manage, report, and assist 
YCSO in all aspects of implementation, evaluation, and reporting. 
 
4.5 YCSO agrees that it will review and approve all invoices, reporting, and evaluation in 
a timely manner for purposes of completing project goals, reporting to funding sources, 
and approving payments from County Finance to sub-contractors. 
 
4.6 The County agrees to pay this and other contractors upon receipt of invoice for 
services within a reasonable time period from receipt of invoice.  All Invoices shall be 
emailed to Stonerock Business Solutions at Amanda.sbsmt@outlook.com on a monthly 
basis for routing to Yellowstone County (due by the 5th of each month). 
 
 5. Responsibilities of Turn Key Health Clinics 

 

Turn Key agrees to participate in the implementation of the grant activities as listed 
below.  
 



MBCC RSAT grant funding July 1, 2023 – September 30, 2023 
Page 4 of 7 

 

5.1 Turn Key acknowledges that it is familiar with the agreement and that furthermore 
Turn Key represents that it can perform and deliver the services required under the 
agreement. 
 
5.2  Turn Key agrees to provide information on outcome measures with Yellowstone 
County Sheriff’s Department for the purposes of coordinating, implementing, and 
reporting project activities. Turn Key agrees to submit monthly progress reports on 
services, including all required data collection required by the State in excel format, to 
Turn Key Health Clinics by the 5th of each month.  Payments for services will not be 
approved without submission of reporting data. All invoicing will be reviewed by SBS 
prior to submission to YC Finance to ensure it complies with project goals, outcomes, 
and budget restrictions.  
 
5.3 Turn Key acknowledges that it will coordinate with all entities contracted for services 
within the scope of the project including, but not limited to, Alternatives, Inc., YCSO, 
Rimrock and others as necessary to implement the project. 
 
5.4 As a sub-contractor to the agreement and for the purpose of this MOU, Turn Key 
agrees to protect, defend, and save the County, its elected and appointed officials, agents, 
and employees, while acting within the scope of their duties as such, harmless from and 
against all claims, demands, causes of action of any kind or character, including the cost 
of defense, injuries, death or damages to property arising out of services performed or 
omissions of services or in any way resulting from the acts or omissions of Turn Key 
and/or its agents, representatives, assigns, subcontractors, except the sole negligence of 
the County. 
 
5.5 As sub-contractor to the agreement, and for the purpose of this MOU, Turn Key must 
maintain, at its cost, primary standard general liability insurance coverage in the amount 
of $1,500,000 and listing Yellowstone County as an additional insurer.  The general 
liability coverage must include claims arising out of contractual liability, the delivery of 
services, omissions in the delivery of service, injuries to persons, damages to property, 
the provision of goods or rights to intellectual property or any other liabilities which may 
arise in the provision of services under the agreement.   
 
5.6  As sub-contractor to the agreement and for the purpose of this MOU, Turn Key must 
maintain at its cost, professional liability insurance coverage against claims for harm to 
persons which may arise from the professional services provided through the agreement.  
The insurance must cover claims as may be caused by any act, omission, or negligence of 
Turn Key and/or its officers, agents, representatives, assigns or subcontractors, or assigns.  
Turn Key must provide occurrence coverage professional liability insurance with 
combined single limits of $1,500.00 per occurrence and $2,000,000.00 aggregate per the 
life of the agreement. 
 



MBCC RSAT grant funding July 1, 2023 – September 30, 2023 
Page 5 of 7 

 

5.7 As sub-contractor to the agreement, and for the purpose of this MOU, Turn Key must 
comply with the applicable provisions of the Montana Human Rights Act, Governmental 
Code of Fair Practices, all federal civil rights acts and the federal American with 
Disabilities Act.  In addition, Turn Key may not discriminate in any manner against any 
person on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, political ideas, sex, age, marital status, 
physical or mental disability or national origin.   
 
5.8 As sub-contractor to the agreement, Turn Key shall be responsible for business-
related expenses concerning the Services under this Agreement.  
 

6. Responsibilities of All Parties  
 

6.1 Any specific activity developed under this MOU shall be detailed in a subsequent 
agreement, signed by each organization’s authorized signatory, which will describe the 
scope of the proposed activity, intended outcomes, budget, and responsible departments 
or individuals. Unless a subsequent agreement is signed, there will not be any enforceable 
obligations or duties between the parties. 
 
6.2 All activities shall be subject to the availability of funds and the approval of each 
Turn Key’s authorized representatives.  The parties to this MOU acknowledge that the 
County is not responsible for any direct funding of the agreement and that funding under 
the agreement may terminate prior to the June 30, 2024 end date of the agreement. 
 
6.3 The parties agree to indemnify and to hold harmless for, from, and against claims, 
suits, reasonable attorney’s fees, damages, or injuries to persons or property or other 
liabilities arising out of any negligence of the other party pursuant to this agreement.  
 
 
 7. General Provisions 

 

  A. Duration and Evaluation.  A joint evaluation of the MOU 
will be initiated by the designated representatives six (6) months prior to the expiration 
date. Amendments to this MOU may be requested, in writing, by either party and 
approved by the authorized signatories. 
 
  B. Compliance with Law. The parties specifically intend to comply 
with all applicable laws, rules and regulations as they may be amended from time to time. 
If any part of this Agreement is determined to violate federal, state, or local laws, rules, 
or regulations, the parties agree to negotiate in good faith revisions to any such 
provisions. If the parties fail to agree within a reasonable time to revisions required to 
bring the entire Agreement into compliance, either party may terminate this Agreement 
upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to the other party. 
 



MBCC RSAT grant funding July 1, 2023 – September 30, 2023 
Page 6 of 7 

 

  C. Force Majeure. In the event the Parties are unable to complete 
the projects due to causes beyond the control of the Parties, but not limited to: acts of 
God; war; acts of the government; fires; floods; epidemics; quarantine restrictions; 
strikes, labor disputes or work stoppages; transportation contingency; and freight 
embargoes; other catastrophes or any similar occurrences beyond the Parties’ reasonable 
control, Yellowstone County Detention Facility will provide notice to the funding sources 
and the project will be extended for the period of time that the Force Majeure event is 
applicable. 
 

D. Governing Law. This agreement shall be governed under the 
laws in the State of Montana.  
 

   E.  Severability. The provisions of this Agreement are severable, 
and if any provision of this Agreement is found to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the 
remaining provisions will remain in full force and effect. 
 
  F. Non-Discrimination. The parties agree not  to discriminate on 
the basis of religion, race, creed, national or ethnic origin, sex, age, handicap, political 
affiliation, sexual orientation, disability or status as a veteran. 
 
  G. Independent Contractors.   Each party is separate and 
independent, and this Agreement shall not be deemed to create a relationship of Turn Key 
Health Clinics, LLC, employment, or partnership between or among them. Each party 
understands and agrees that this Agreement establishes an independent contractor 
relationship and that the agents or employees of each respective party are not employees 
or agents of any other party.  Turn Key, under the code of the Internal Revenue Service 
(IRS) and the laws of the State of Montana, is an independent contractor, and neither the 
Turn Key's employees or contract personnel are, or shall be deemed, the YCSO’s ’s 
employees. 
 
In its capacity as an independent contractor, Turn Key agrees and represents: Turn Key 
has the right to perform services for others during the term of this Agreement except as 
otherwise provided below; Turn Key has the sole right to control and direct the means, 
manner, and method by which the Services required by this Agreement will be 
performed. Turn Key shall select the routes taken, starting and ending times, days of 
work, and order the work is performed; Turn Key has the right to hire assistant(s) as 
subcontractors (except as provided below) or to use employees to provide the Services 
required under this Agreement. Neither Turn Key, nor the Turn Key’s employees or 
personnel, shall be required to wear any uniforms provided by the YCSO; The Services 
required by this Agreement shall be performed by the Turn Key, Turn Key’s employees 
or personnel, and the YCSO will not hire, supervise, or pay assistants to help the Turn 
Key; and neither the Turn Key nor  Turn Key’s employees or personnel shall be required 
by the YCSO to devote full-time to the performance of the Services required by this 



MBCC RSAT grant funding July 1, 2023 – September 30, 2023 
Page 7 of 7 

 

Agreement. YCSO shall have no right to control or direct the details, manner or means by 
which Turn Key performs its services. Turn Key shall continue ongoing conversation 
with YCSO leadership to ensure the safety and security of the facility while 
implementing the services outlined in this MOU. 
 

 H.  Assignment.  No party may assign this Agreement or any 
rights or obligations under this Agreement to any person or entity without the prior 
written consent of the other parties. Any assignment in violation of this provision is null 
and void. 

 
         I.  Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire 

agreement and understanding between the parties as to the subject matter hereof and 
supersedes all prior discussions, agreements and undertakings of every kind and nature 
between them, whether written or oral, with respect to such subject matter. This 
Agreement may subsequently be modified only by a written document executed by both 
parties. 

 
   J.  Notices. Any consent, waiver, notice, demand, request or other 

instrument required or permitted to be given under this Agreement or any related 
agreements shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or sent prepaid telex, cable 
or facsimile transmission, or sent, postage prepaid, by registered, certified or express 
mail or reputable overnight courier service and shall be deemed given when so delivered 
by hand, telexed, cabled or transmitted, or if mailed, five (5) days after the notice is 
delivered to the courier service, addressed to the addresses set forth herein, or to such 
other address as may later be specified in writing by either party. 

 
 8. Signatures.  In witness whereof, the parties to this MOU through 
their duly authorized representatives have executed this MOU on the days and dates set 
out below, and certify that they have read, understood, and agreed to the terms and 
conditions of this MOU as set forth herein. 
 
 The effective date of this MOU is the date of the signature last affixed to this page. 
 
Yellowstone County  
 
                                                                                                                                              
Chairman, John Ostlund   Date 
 
 
Turn Key Health Clinics  

 
                                                                                                                                             
Flint Junod, CEO               Date  


Typewritten text
9-12-2023



   
B.O.C.C. Regular 3. f.        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Revised -MOU for DPHHS Grant HEART and SOR with Turn Key Health Clinics
Submitted By: Anna Ullom, Senior Accountant

TOPIC:
Memorandum of Understanding and Agreement to Sub-Contract with Turn Key Health Clinics for the DPHHS
Grant HEART and SOR
 

BACKGROUND:
MOU with Turn Key Health Clinics for:
   MOUD assessments up to 260 assessments at $300/assessment or $79,000,
   SUD/MH Assessments up to 285 assessments at $350/assessment or $99,750.00, and
   MOUD Medication up to $66,618.05.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve.

Attachments
MOU DPPHS grant HEART/SOR - Turn Key Health Clinics 



DPHHS HEART; SOARS III grant funding July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024 Page 1 of 8 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING AND AGREEMENT TO SUB-CONTRACT 

BETWEEN  

YELLOWSTONE COUNTY SHERIFF DEPARTMENT AND TURN 

KEY HEALTH CLINICS     
 

Whereas: Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Department has been awarded funding to pilot 
programs addressing substance use disorder, mental health, and criminal transition 
programs in Yellowstone County from the Montana State Department of Health and 
Human Services; 
 
Whereas: Stonerock Business Solutions coordinated with members of Yellowstone 
County and community partners to apply for funding for the agreement, and in turn, the 
County was named Contractor under the agreement. In order to implement these 
programs, a program director is needed to facilitate the collaboration of the project; 
 
Whereas: The funding source for this project needs a single individual to contact for 
information about the project development and implementation;   
 
Whereas: Turn Key Health Clinics (Turn Key) is a licensed, insured, and professional 
agency that provides medical including substance use disorder and mental health disorder 
services to YCDF; 
 
Whereas: Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Department and the Board of County 
Commissioners (BOCC) are committed to piloting programs that reduce the re-entry of 
offenders into the facility and reduce crime; however, no current detention center or 
sheriff office staff have duties or responsibilities that could be assumed to facilitate 
implementation of this pilot project and requires outside assistance from a skilled project 
manager to meet required goals and objectives of the project;  
 
Whereas: Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Department is committed to providing evidence-
based treatment and supervision programs to meet the requirements of these funding 
sources;  
 
AND 
 
Whereas: The goals and objectives identified in the projects are identified by the 
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) as best 
practices standards. 
 
Therefore: This Memorandum of Understanding and Agreement to Sub-Contract 
(hereinafter referred to as “MOU”) is made and entered into by and between Yellowstone 
County Sheriff’s (YCSD) whose address is 217 N 27th Street, Billings, MT 59101, and 



DPHHS HEART; SOARS III grant funding July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024 Page 2 of 8 
 

Turn Key Health Clinics (Turn Key) whose address is 900 NW 12th St, Oklahoma City, 
OK 73106.  
 
Therefore: It is the intent of the parties to this MOU that the County shall, as contractor 
under the agreement, contract with Turn Key and that Turn Key shall perform all work 
and services as sub-contractor under the agreement.   
 
 1. Purpose.  
 
The purpose of this MOU is to establish the terms and conditions under which YCSO and 
Turn Key will collaborate to fulfill the services and requirements approved by the 
funding source to the best of their abilities.  
 
 2. Term of MOU.  
 
This MOU shall be in effect for a period the award date of the funding sources beginning 
July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024. Either party may terminate this agreement, in writing, 
ninety (90) days prior to the proposed termination date. Any activities in progress at the 
time of termination shall be permitted to conclude as planned unless otherwise agreed in 
writing. BOCC may terminate this contract for Turn Key’s failure to perform any of its 
duties under this contract after giving Turn Key written notice of the failure. The written 
notice must demand performance of the stated failure within a specified period of time of 
not less than 30 days. If the demanded performance is not completed within the specified 
period, the termination is effective at the end of the specified period. 
 
The term of this MOU shall not exceed the term of the Professional Services Agreement 
between the County of Yellowstone, Montana, by its Board of County Commissioners, 
and Turn Key. Termination, by either party, of the Professional Services Agreement, 
shall terminate this MOU. 
 
 3. Payment  
 
In consideration for the services to be performed by the Contractor, the County agrees to 
reimburse Turn Key from pre-approved grant funds for the following: 
   

HEART/SOR funds (available until June 30, 2024): 

 MOUD Assessments up to 260 assessments at $300/assessment 
or $79,000 

 SUD/MH Assessments up to 285 assessments at $350/assessment 
or $99,750.00 

 MOUD Medication up to $66,618.05 
 



DPHHS HEART; SOARS III grant funding July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024 Page 3 of 8 
 

Turn Key will have access to re-entry funds for their clients.  These funds will be 
managed and approved by Stonerock Business Solutions, LLC.  Up to $35,000 in funds 
are made available to clients from the HEART funding.  Re-Entry services will be 
reimbursed for actual costs with proof of payment.  
 
Turn Key must submit  monthly data reports and invoices to Stonerock Business 
Solutions, grant management and project director contractor for review and approval 
prior payment.  These funds will be reimbursed through grant funds pre-allocated and 
approved by DPHHS. 
 

 4. Responsibilities of Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Department.    
 
Yellowstone County Detention Center is responsible for the following: 
 
4.1 Act as Fiscal Agent as required and all financial responsibilities associated.  YCSO 
agrees to cooperate with Turn Key as the pass through between the State of Montana and 
Turn Key to deliver, in a timely fashion, and pursuant to page 3 of the services funding 
agreement, all funding that flow to the County from the agreement, directly to Turn Key 
in order that Turn Key can deliver services required under the agreement and required by 
the funding. 
 
4.2  YCSO agrees to provide access to staff, equipment, and data as to complete the 
necessary tracking and reporting of grant and project outcomes to funding sources. Turn 
Key is responsible for actual reporting of data of services delivered.  
 
4.3 YCSO agrees to participate in meetings, development, and evaluation as necessary to 
complete the project goals. 
  
4.4 YCSO acknowledges that it has the sole decision-making authority on the project and 
that Turn Key as the contracted service provider’s role is to manage, report, and assist 
YCSO in all aspects of implementation, evaluation, and reporting. 
 
4.5 YCSO agrees that it will review and approve all invoices, reporting, and evaluation in 
a timely manner for purposes of completing project goals, reporting to funding sources, 
and approving payments from County Finance to sub-contractors. 
 
4.6 The County agrees to pay this and other contractors upon receipt of invoice for 
services within a reasonable time period from receipt of invoice.  All Invoices shall be 
emailed to Stonerock Business Solutions at Amanda.sbsmt@outlook.com on a monthly 
basis for routing to Yellowstone County (due by the 5th of each month). 
 
 
 



DPHHS HEART; SOARS III grant funding July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024 Page 4 of 8 
 

 5. Responsibilities of Turn Key Health Clinics  

 

Turn Key agrees to participate in the implementation of the grant activities as listed 
below.  
 
5.1 Turn Key acknowledges that it is familiar with the agreement and that furthermore 
Turn Key represents that it can perform and deliver the services required under the 
agreement. 
 
5.2  Turn Key agrees to provide information on outcome measures with Yellowstone 
County Sheriff’s Department for the purposes of coordinating, implementing, and 
reporting project activities. Turn Key agrees to submit monthly progress reports on 
services including all required data collection required by the State in excel format to 
Stonerock Business Solutions by the 5th of each month.  Payments for services will not be 
approved without submission of reporting data. All invoicing will be reviewed by SBS 
prior to submission to YC Finance to ensure it complies with project goals, outcomes, 
and budget restrictions.  
 
5.3 Turn Key acknowledges that it will coordinate with all entities contracted for services 
within the scope of the project including, but not limited to, Stonerock Business 
Solutions, Alternatives, Inc., YCSO, and others as necessary to implement the project. 
 
5.4 As a sub-contractor to the agreement and for the purpose of this MOU, Turn Key 
agrees to protect, defend, and save the County, its elected and appointed officials, agents, 
and employees, while acting within the scope of their duties as such, harmless from and 
against all claims, demands, causes of action of any kind or character, including the cost 
of defense, injuries, death or damages to property arising out of services performed or 
omissions of services or in any way resulting from the acts or omissions of Turn Key 
and/or its agents, representatives, assigns, subcontractors, except the sole negligence of 
the County. 
 
5.5 As sub-contractor to the agreement, and for the purpose of this MOU, Turn Key must 
maintain, at its cost, primary standard general liability insurance coverage in the amount 
of $1,500,000 and listing Yellowstone County as an additional insurer.  The general 
liability coverage must include claims arising out of contractual liability, the delivery of 
services, omissions in the delivery of service, injuries to persons, damages to property, 
the provision of goods or rights to intellectual property or any other liabilities which may 
arise in the provision of services under the agreement.   
 
5.6  As sub-contractor to the agreement and for the purpose of this MOU, Turn Key must 
maintain at its cost, professional liability insurance coverage against claims for harm to 
persons which may arise from the professional services provided through the agreement.  
The insurance must cover claims as may be caused by any act, omission, or negligence of 



DPHHS HEART; SOARS III grant funding July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024 Page 5 of 8 
 

Turn Key and/or its officers, agents, representatives, assigns or subcontractors, or assigns.  
Turn Key must provide occurrence coverage professional liability insurance with 
combined single limits of $1,500.00 per occurrence and $2,000,000.00 aggregate per the 
life of the agreement. 
 
5.7 As sub-contractor to the agreement, and for the purpose of this MOU, Turn Key must 
comply with the applicable provisions of the Montana Human Rights Act, Governmental 
Code of Fair Practices, all federal civil rights acts and the federal American with 
Disabilities Act.  In addition, Turn Key may not discriminate in any manner against any 
person on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, political ideas, sex, age, marital status, 
physical or mental disability or national origin.   
 
5.8 As sub-contractor to the agreement, Turn Key shall be responsible for business-
related expenses concerning the Services under this Agreement.  
 

6. Responsibilities of All Parties  
 

6.1 Any specific activity developed under this MOU shall be detailed in a subsequent 
agreement, signed by each organization’s authorized signatory, which will describe the 
scope of the proposed activity, intended outcomes, budget, and responsible departments 
or individuals. Unless a subsequent agreement is signed, there will not be any enforceable 
obligations or duties between the parties. 
 
6.2 All activities shall be subject to the availability of funds and the approval of each 
Turn Key’s authorized representatives.  The parties to this MOU acknowledge that the 
County is not responsible for any direct funding of the agreement and that funding under 
the agreement may terminate prior to the September 30, 2024 end date of the agreement. 
 
6.3 The parties agree to indemnify and to hold harmless for, from, and against claims, 
suits, reasonable attorney’s fees, damages, or injuries to persons or property or other 
liabilities arising out of any negligence of the other party.  
 
 7. General Provisions 

 

  A. Duration and Evaluation.  A joint evaluation of the MOU 
will be initiated by the designated representatives six (6) months prior to the expiration 
date.  Amendments to this MOU may be requested, in writing, by either party and 
approved by the authorized signatories. 
 
  B. Compliance with Law. The parties specifically intend to comply 
with all applicable laws, rules and regulations as they may be amended from time to time. 
If any part of this Agreement is determined to violate federal, state, or local laws, rules, 
or regulations, the parties agree to negotiate in good faith revisions to any such 



DPHHS HEART; SOARS III grant funding July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024 Page 6 of 8 
 

provisions. If the parties fail to agree within a reasonable time to revisions required to 
bring the entire Agreement into compliance, either party may terminate this Agreement 
upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to the other party. 
 
  C. Force Majeure. In the event the Parties are unable to complete 
the projects due to causes beyond the control of the parties, but not limited to: acts of 
God; war; acts of the government; fires; floods; epidemics; quarantine restrictions; 
strikes, labor disputes or work stoppages; transportation contingency; and freight 
embargoes; other catastrophes or any similar occurrences beyond the Parties’ reasonable 
control, Yellowstone County Detention Facility will provide notice to the funding sources 
and the project will be extended for the period of time that the Force Majeure event is 
applicable. 
 

D. Governing Law. This agreement shall be governed under the 
laws in the State of Montana.  
 

   E.  Severability. The provisions of this Agreement are severable, 
and if any provision of this Agreement is found to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the 
remaining provisions will remain in full force and effect. 
 
  F. Non-Discrimination. The parties agree not to discriminate on 
the basis of religion, race, creed, national or ethnic origin, sex, age, handicap, political 
affiliation, sexual orientation, disability or status as a veteran. 
 
  G. Independent Contractors.   Each party is separate and 
independent, and this Agreement shall not be deemed to create a relationship of 
Stonerock Business Solutions, LLC, employment, or partnership between or among them. 
Each party understands and agrees that this Agreement establishes an independent 
contractor relationship and that the agents or employees of each respective party are not 
employees or agents of any other party.  Turn Key, under the code of the Internal 
Revenue Service (IRS) and the laws of the State of Montana, is an independent 
contractor, and neither the Turn Key's employees or contract personnel are, or shall be 
deemed, the YCSO’s ’s employees. 
 
In its capacity as an independent contractor, Turn Key agrees and represents: Turn Key 
has the right to perform services for others during the term of this Agreement except as 
otherwise provided below; Turn Key has the sole right to control and direct the means, 
manner, and method by which the Services required by this Agreement will be 
performed. Turn Key shall select the routes taken, starting and ending times, days of 
work, and order the work is performed; Turn Key has the right to hire assistant(s) as 
subcontractors (except as provided below) or to use employees to provide the Services 
required under this Agreement. Neither Turn Key, nor Turn Key’s employees or 
personnel, shall be required to wear any uniforms provided by the YCSO; The Services 



DPHHS HEART; SOARS III grant funding July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024 Page 7 of 8 
 

required by this Agreement shall be performed by the Turn Key, Turn Key’s employees 
or personnel, and the YCSO will not hire, supervise, or pay assistants to help the Turn 
Key; and neither the Turn Key nor  Turn Key’s employees or personnel shall be required 
by the YCSO to devote full-time to the performance of the Services required by this 
Agreement. YCSO shall have no right to control or direct the details, manner or means by 
which Turn Key performs its services. Turn Key shall continue ongoing conversation 
with YCSO leadership to ensure the safety and security of the facility while 
implementing the services outlined in this MOU. 
 

 H.  Assignment.  No party may assign this Agreement or any 
rights or obligations under this Agreement to any person or entity without the prior 
written consent of the other parties. Any assignment in violation of this provision is null 
and void. 

 
         I.  Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire 

agreement and understanding between the parties as to the subject matter hereof and 
supersedes all prior discussions, agreements and undertakings of every kind and nature 
between them, whether written or oral, with respect to such subject matter. This 
Agreement may subsequently be modified only by a written document executed by both 
parties. 

 
   J.  Notices. Any consent, waiver, notice, demand, request or other 

instrument required or permitted to be given under this Agreement or any related 
agreements shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or sent prepaid telex, cable 
or facsimile transmission, or sent, postage prepaid, by registered, certified or express 
mail or reputable overnight courier service and shall be deemed given when so delivered 
by hand, telexed, cabled or transmitted, or if mailed, five (5) days after the notice is 
delivered to the courier service, addressed to the addresses set forth herein, or to such 
other address as may later be specified in writing by either party. 

 
 
 
 
 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



DPHHS HEART; SOARS III grant funding July 1, 2023 – June 30, 2024 Page 8 of 8 
 

 
 8. Signatures.   
 
In witness whereof, the parties to this MOU through their duly authorized representatives 
have executed this MOU on the days and dates set out below, and certify that they have 
read, understood, and agreed to the terms and conditions of this MOU as set forth herein. 
 
 The effective date of this MOU is the date of the signature last affixed to this page. 
 
Yellowstone County  
 
                                                                                                                                               
John Ostlund, Chairman   Date 
 
 

Turn Key Health Clinics 

 
                                                                                                                                                  
Flint Junod, CEO               Date  


Typewritten text
9-12-2023



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: MOU between Department of Justice and Sheriff's Office for the Transfer of Axon Taser X2

Equipment
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
Memorandum of Understanding between the Department of Justice - Highway Patrol Division and Yellowstone
County Sheriff's Office
 

BACKGROUND:
The purpose of this MOU is to coordinate the transfer of Axon Taser X2 equipment from MHP to the Yellowstone
County Sheriff's Office. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve or deny. 

Attachments
MOU Taser X2 Equipment 



 
                                                                                                   

  

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 

Between 

Department of Justice – Highway Patrol Division 

And 

Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Office 

MOU # Axon 001 

Section 1.  Parties and Purpose of Agreement. 

1.1 This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) is between Department of Justice (DOJ) 

Highway Patrol Division (MHP) and the Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Office. 

1.2 The purpose of this MOU is to coordinate the transfer of Axon Taser X2 equipment from 

MHP to the Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Office.  

Section 2.  General Duties and Responsibilities 

2.1 On June 20, 2023, MHP transferred to the Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Office Taser X2 

handles, batteries, cartridges and holsters.  MHP Sergeant Brian Casey will act as the 

primary point of contact for coordinating the types and quantities of Taser X2 equipment 

to be transferred in the future.  MHP Captain Jason Grover has approval authority over all 

proposed transfers. 

2.2 The Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Office identified Captain Robert Lester as the primary 

point of contact to assist MHP Captain Jason Grover with all logistical aspects of the 

equipment transfer.   

2.3 MHP made reasonable steps to ensure equipment (tasers, cartridges, batteries, and 

holsters) were clean, in good working order, and not expired at the time of transfer or 

within six (6) months of the transfer date.  All equipment is to be accepted “as is” and 

MHP will not accept any returns or exchanges. 

2.4 The Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Office must abide by all published Axon guidelines 

for Taser use to include current minimum standards for qualification and safe usage. 

2.5 MHP and the Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Office will identify all transferred equipment 

(by serial number, see below) and both parties will maintain a record of the inventory 

sheet for a minimum of five (5) years upon completion of the transfer.  A representative 

from MHP and the Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Office will each sign the inventory 

sheet to confirm accuracy of the types, quantities and serial numbers of equipment 

included with the transfer.  Any change to the original quantities or types of equipment 



 
                                                                                                   

  

transferred that occurs after the initial transfer will require an updated inventory sheet to 

be signed by both parties. 

 

Section 3.  Limitation of Liability. 

 The Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Office absolves MHP of all liability associated with 

any future use of the transferred equipment.   

Section 4.  Term Effective Date. 

 This MOU is effective upon the date of final signature and remains in effect for as long 

as the Yellowstone County Sheriff’s Office possesses the transferred equipment. 

Section 5.  Termination. 

 Either party may terminate this agreement at any point prior to the transfer of equipment.  

 

Signatures and Dates 

 

 

________________________________________  _____________________ 

Captain Robert Lester, Yellowstone County         Date 

 

 

_________________________________________  ____________________ 

Captain Jason Grover, MHP Operations          Date 

Department of Justice 

Highway Patrol Division 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

09/11/2023



 
                                                                                                   

  

AXON X2 handles transferred by serial number. 

1 X29009XWF 

2 X290075XX 

3 X2900CA48 

4 X290062KK 

5 X2900E8HY 

6 X290090RN 

7 X290071VX 

8 X29009YHH 

9 X29005YXR 

10 X290084Y4 

11 X290075H6 

12 X290090NA 

13 X29005YEM 

14 X290062R7 

15 X29009WPV 

16 X2900A093 

17 ZZX290223 

18 X29000P5C 

19 X29003421 

20 X29000RE5 

21 X290071X8 

22 X2900CYVE 

23 X2900ESHM 

24 X2900ENM1 

25 X29009AAP 

26 X290093RM 

27 X2900D9A9 

28 X29009HMY 

29 X29009XXW 

30 X29003E4R 

31 X2900DYF3 

32 X2900E8V0 

33 X2900DCCN 

34 X290093FT 

35 X29008MYH 

36 X29009YHW 

37 X2900CC1P 

38 X29009PXH 
 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: PARS
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
PERSONNEL ACTION REPORTS - Road and Bridge - 2 Appointments; District Court - 1
Appointment, Detention Facility - 1 Termination; Youth Services Center - 1 Termination; Sheriff's Office - 1
Salary & Other
 

BACKGROUND:
See attached. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve.

Attachments
PARS 
PARS1 















   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Conflict of Interest Statements 
Submitted For: Tanya McWilliams  Submitted By: Tanya McWilliams

TOPIC:
Conflict of Interest Statements
 

BACKGROUND:
Conflict of Interest Statments

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
File Item

Attachments
Conflict of Interest Statements 





















































































   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Board Minutes
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
Board Minutes - Policy Coordinating Committee Board Minutes
 

BACKGROUND:
See attached. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Place to file. 

Attachments
Policy Coordinating Committee Board Minutes 



POLICY COORDINATING COMMITTEE 
APPROVED MINUTES  AUGUST 29, 2023 
 

1 

 

 

NOTICE 

Public comment will be taken only during the Public Comment periods as indicated on 

the agenda. Comments may be sent to Planning Staff via email before 10:00 AM on the 

meeting date. All e-mails received prior to this time will be read into the record for the 

public hearing. 

 

Member Participants: Chairman John Ostlund, Board of County Commissioners; 

Planning Board President Dennis Cook, Yellowstone County Planning Board, Kurtis 

Schneiber, MDT. 

 

Staff Participants:  Scott Walker, Transportation Coordinator, Planning & Community 

Services Department; Rusty Logan, Transit Manager; Sarah Graham, MET 

Administrative Coordinator; Brenda Berns, Planning Clerk 

Virtual: Wyeth Friday, Direction Community Services Planning Dept; Lora Mattox, 

Transportation Planner.  

 

Call to Order: 12:03 PM. Chairman Ostlund called the meeting to order and welcomed 

everyone in attendance. The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 

  

3. Public Comment/Communication from the Audience 

a. Comments on items not on the agenda and requests to add items to future 

agendas. 

b.  Comments on items on the Non-public and Public Agenda Items 

There were no comments from the audience regarding agenda or future agenda items.     

 

4. Motion. Minutes of July 18, 2023 

A motion was made by Planning Board President Dennis Cook, seconded by 

Yellowstone County Planning Board member Kurtis Schneiber to approve the 

minutes of July 18, 2023.  The motion carried with a unanimous voice vote. 

  

4.  Old Business:  There is no Old Business.  

 

5.  New Business 
5a. Motion. 2024 Billings Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP).   Scott Walker, 

Transportation Planning Coordinator; Rusty Logan, Transit Manager. 

 

Scott Walker opened this agenda item stating the 2024 UPWP is the fiscal budget for our 

staff on the MPO and Transit sections and presented an overview of the program. 

 

Recommendation 

Staff recommends the Policy Coordinating Committee review the Final Draft of the 2024 

UPWP and act at this meeting. Action should be consistent with the individual approvals 

already conducted by the City of Billings, Yellowstone County, and the Planning Board. 



POLICY COORDINATING COMMITTEE 
APPROVED MINUTES  AUGUST 29, 2023 
 

2 

 

 

Background 

The City-County Planning Division is presenting the 2024 Unified Planning Work 

Program (UPWP) for the Billings Policy Coordinating Committee (PCC). At this 

meeting, the Committee is scheduled to review the document and act on the UPWP. The 

UPWP is primarily for the purpose of programming the federal dollars that Billings 

receives from the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) for transportation planning 

and the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) for transit (MET) planning. These funds 

are passed through the Montana Department of Transportation (MDT). All transportation 

planning activities are included in the UPWP so that it represents a comprehensive 

document for the urban transportation planning program. This UPWP proposes planning 

activities for Federal Fiscal Year 2024, which runs from October 1, 2023, through 

September 30, 2024. This UPWP corresponds directly with the Planning Division's 

annual work plan. The significant changes in this year's program include completion of 

the update to the Bikeway and Pedestrian Master Plan, transportation specific analysis 

and updates to two neighborhood plans as well as a feasibility study for the 21st Street 

Underpass. The Transit section is Chapter II of the UPWP. The document is consistent 

with past programs in its content and format. 

 

Fiscal Effects 

Approval of the 2024 UPWP allows the City to access Federal funds for transportation 

planning in the community. Federal and local funds are combined to provide most of the 

planning work done by the Planning Division for the City and the County. If the UPWP 

is not approved, there would be a significant loss of resources for community planning 

and the community's ability to manage transportation planning projects and programs 

would be severely limited. The breakdown of funding sources for the FY 2024 UPWP is 

estimated below: $260,000 Planning Dept. Fee Revenue (City of Billings) $170,000 

Planning Dept. Fee Revenue (Yellowstone County) $525,000 Yellowstone County 

Planning Levy $1,447,790 Federal Planning (PL) Allocation $2,472,790 Total Local and 

Federal Program Funding (UPWP). 

 

Rusty Logan, Transit Manager gave an overview of the Transit Section of the UPWP, He 

noted it is structured into separate elements with specific activities and functions outlined 

within each element. The two MPO’s coming on board must be fully functioning before any 

impact is seen on the Transit side. There has been an increase in Federal funding for the 

Transit planning urbanized area, with a little carry-over from the previous year.   

 

Transit 2023 projects have required plan updates, (PTASP, DBE, TAM), and continued 

development and implementation of policy and practices to support training and safety.  

Transit has seen completed implementation activities, including route timings, schedule 

creation, along with the completed Master Bus Stop plan.   

 

Transit 2024 priorities are the ongoing capital and equipment planning, including a complete 

Transit Sustainability and Governance Study.  We will be assessing current Paratransit 



POLICY COORDINATING COMMITTEE 
APPROVED MINUTES  AUGUST 29, 2023 
 

3 

 

eligibility processes and recommend or develop improvements, along with analysis of fares 

and services. 

 

Scott Walker continued with the 2024 UPWP Review Schedule and requested the 

recommendation to move the UPWP document forward to MDT, FHWA, and FTA.   

 

Discussion 

Chairman John Ostlund referred to a previous conversation regarding the Complete Streets 

and stated it was very important issue.  He said the State of Montana and Yellowstone 

County did not adopt Complete Streets in approving the Unified Planning Work Program 

that references Complete Streets, instead of Alternative Modes of Transportation.  He noted, 

with the Complete Streets language, it could jeopardize the County’s funding and increase 

the amount of engineering that would be necessary for the road system.  He would accept a 

motion to approve the 2024 UPWP that clearly denotes that Yellowstone County and the 

Department of Transportation do not and have not approved Complete Streets.  

Chairman Ostlund asked Scott Walker to cease from referring to Complete Streets in the 

UPWP.  Scott said the previous Commissioners meeting conversation regarding the 

Complete Streets language, was taken to heart.  Chairman Ostlund commented he did not 

believe it was considered.  Scott stated it was taken out of the document as it relates to 

Yellowstone County.  Scott continued, the language remained in the document as it relates 

to the City of Billings but was removed as it related to the County. 

Chairman Ostlund said the document did not refer to the State, and the State was a big part 

of the whole process, for which they are not included. Scott said he is aware the State has 

not accepted it. 

Board member Schneiber asked what the specific language is in the document. 

Scott Walker said the document was amended regarding the reference to Complete Streets, 

as it referred to Yellowstone County and that was taken out per the Commissioner’s request. 

There is no other reference to Complete Streets as it refers to Yellowstone County in the 

document. 

Chairman Ostlund asked if there was a reference to Complete Streets in the document as it 

refers to the Department of Transportation or if there is clarity in it. 

Scott stated there was not. 

Chairman Ostlund stated he wanted the motion to include that Alternative Modes of 

Transportation are of the 2024 renewal, but the Complete Streets does not apply to 

Yellowstone County or Department of Transportation. 

Scott offered that a special notation could be added to make the distinction requested by 

Chairman Ostlund.  He reaffirmed the document only references the City, and that’s all it 

references as it stands today. 

Board member Schneiber said it seemed fair in his opinion. 

 

Motion 

Chairman Ostlund; Motion. PCC will approve the 2024 UPWP but would eliminate any 

language that refers to Yellowstone County or Montana Department of Transportation with 



POLICY COORDINATING COMMITTEE 
APPROVED MINUTES  AUGUST 29, 2023 
 

4 

 

regards to Complete Streets and include only Alternative Modes of Transportation the 

Federal Government wants. 

 

Motion by Board member Kurtis Schneiber, and seconded by Planning Board 

President Dennis Cook to approve with amendment, the 2024 Billings Unified 

Planning Work Program (UPWP) presented by staff.   

 

Discussion 

Chairman Ostlund asked if there was any discussion on the Motion. There was no 

discussion. The motion carried with a unanimous voice vote.  

Chairman Ostlund expressed additional concern, stating the Complete Streets program 

the department has statewide, will create a funding mechanism for the County that will be 

hugely expensive. 

Scott Walker said Federal guidelines are being followed. 

 

6.  Other Business There is no Other Business. 

 

7.  Future Agenda Item 

 a.  Transportation Improvement  

 

ADJOURNMENT:  12:21 PM 

 

Meeting minutes approved by a motion. 

 

Brenda J Berns, Planning Clerk 



   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Disbursements and Checks for August 2023
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
Disbursements and Checks for August 2023
 

BACKGROUND:
See attached. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Place to file. 

Attachments
Clerk of Court Disbursements 

































   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Public Comment - ZC 717
Submitted By: Erika Guy

TOPIC:
Public Comment - ZC 717
 

BACKGROUND:
See Attachment 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
File 

Attachments
Public Comment 









   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Detailed Cash Investment Report August 2023
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
Detailed Cash Investment Report August 2023
 

BACKGROUND:
See attached. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Place to file. 

Attachments
Detailed Cash Investment Report August 2023 





   
B.O.C.C. Regular        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Letter to Director of Emergency Management
Submitted By: Teri Reitz, Board Clerk

TOPIC:
Letter to Director of Emergency Management
 

BACKGROUND:
See attached. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Place to file. 

Attachments
Letter to Director of Emergency Management 





   
B.O.C.C. Regular 7. a.        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Land Appraisal for Schmalz Property, Contract for Land Appraisal and Commitment Letter
Submitted For: Tim Miller, Public Works Director 
Submitted By: Tim Miller, Public Works Director

TOPIC:
Land Appraisal for Schmalz Property and Contract for Land Appraisal

BACKGROUND:
Contract with Jim French certified land appraiser and the appraisal for the Schmalz property

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Place the appraisal and the contract to file.

Attachments
Gravel 
Gravel 
Gravel 



File #

Prepared For:

Intended User:

Prepared By:

Date Prepared:

D08235A-23

Vacant Rural Land Appraisal Report

Barbara Schmalz Estate

South 20th Road

Ballantine, Montana 59006

Yellowstone County, Montana

P O Box 35024

Billings, Montana 59107

Yellowstone County, Montana

James D. French

Certified General Real Estate Appraiser

2670 South 34th Road

Pompeys Pillar, Montana 59064

September 8, 2023

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



September 8, 2023

Mr. Tim Miller

Yellowstone County Public Works Director

P O Box 35024

Billings, Montana 59107

Dear Mr. Miller;

In compliance with your request and authorization, I hereby furnish you with an Appraisal Report of the 24.049 acres

described as Parcel 1 of Certificate of Survey No. 3217, located in Yellowstone County, Montana.  The legal description

contained within this report has been verified with the legal description provided and assessment records.   Based on a

review of these records, the legal description utilized in this report describes the subject property.

This appraisal has been completed in accordance with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice,

2023-2024 Edition (USPAP).  The value is made for no other purpose, than that identified with the context of the appraisal

report and is invalid if relied on for any other use.

The estimate of Market Value is based on the sale of all lands, to a single purchaser, as of the effective date of valuation, in

cash, or terms equivalent to cash, for which the property rights should sell after reasonable exposure, in a competitive

market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, with buyer and seller each acting prudently, knowledgeably, and for self

interest and assuming that neither is under undue stress.

My assignment in this appraisal report was to Provide an Opinion of Fair Market Value in conjunction with a Purchase

Transaction.  Based on sales of similar properties within the primary market area, the subject property has a value range of

$230,000 to $245,000.

USPAP Standards Rule 1-4 and Rule 1-5, requires the appraiser to analyze any prior sale agreement, option or listing of the

subject property, that occurred with three years of the effective date of valuation.  Prior sales of the same property, that are

reasonably recent and not forced, are considered evidence of market value.  The pending sale has been analyzed and

compared to similar type properties within the Sales Comparison Approach to Value.  The pending sales transactions

appears to be an arms-length sales transaction that falls within the established market range and supports a site value of

$240,000.

Based on the suggested range of value, my "As Is" Opinion of Fair Market Value, on August 21, 2023, was $240,000.

I trust this report will be found satisfactory for you needs, but if any additional detail is required, please do not hesitate to

call.  Your confidence in allowing me to serve you is genuinely appreciated.

Respectively Submitted;

James D. French

Certified General Real Estate Appraiser #675



File #

Table of Contents

Page Title Page #

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Cover Page 1
Signed Letter 2
Table of Contents 3
Table of Contents Additional 4
Section Divider I
Limiting Conditions 5
Scope of Work 6
Scope of Work 7
Hypothetical Conditions and/or Extraordinary Assumptions 8
UAAR Value Definition '05 9
Section Divider II
Report Summary 10
Area Description 11
Market Area Location Map 12
Subject Land Description 13
Aerial Map 14
FEMA Flood Hazard Map 15
Property Access and Land Use Photos 16
Subject History and Use 17
Section Divider III
Active Listing Summary Sheet 18
Active Listing Photos 19
Section Divider IV
Sales Comparison (1-5) '04 20
Summary of the Comparable Sales 21
Explanation of Adjustments and Reconciliation of the Sales 22
Sales Adjustment 1 23
Sales Adjustment 2 24
Sales Adjustment 3 25
Sales Adjustment 4 26
Sales Adjustment 5 27
Sales Comparison Approach Location Map 28
Comparative Sales Photos 29
Section Divider V
Reconciliation '04 30
Certification 31
Qualifications of the Appraiser 32
Qualifications of the Appraiser 33
Montana Appraiser License 34
Section Divider VI
Legal Description 35
Certificate of Survey 36
Section Divider VII
Engagement Letter 37
Engagement Letter 38

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Table of Contents Continued

Page Title Page #

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Engagement Letter 39

Engagement Letter 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Section Divider I

USPAP Requirements

1.  Assumptions & Limiting Conditions

2.  Scope of Work

3.  Hypothetical Conditions and/or Extraordinary Assumptions

4.  UAAR Definition of Market Value

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Assumptions and Limiting Conditions

The certification of the Appraiser(s) appearing in the appraisal report is subject to the following conditions and to such other specific and limiting conditions as are set
forth in the report.

1. The Appraiser(s) assume no responsibility for matters of a legal nature affecting the property appraised or the title thereto, nor does the Appraiser(s) render any
opinion as to title, which is assumed to be good and marketable. The property is appraised as though under responsible ownership.

2. Sketches in the report may show approximate dimensions and are included only to assist the reader in visualizing the property. The Appraiser(s) have made no
survey of the property. Drawings and/or plats are not represented as an engineer's work product, nor are they provided for legal reference.

3. The Appraiser(s) are not required to give testimony or appear in court because of having made the appraisal with reference to the property in question, unless
arrangements have been previously made.

4. Any distribution of the valuation in the report applies only under the existing program of utilization. The separate valuations of components must not be used
outside of this appraisal and are invalid if so used.

5. The Appraiser(s) have, in the process of exercising due diligence, requested, reviewed, and considered information provided by the ownership of the property
and client, and the Appraiser(s) have relied on such information and assumes there are no hidden or unapparent conditions of the property, subsoil, or
structures, which would render it more or less valuable. The Appraiser(s) assume no responsibility for such conditions, for engineering which might be required
to discover such factors, or the cost of discovery or correction.

6. While the Appraiser(s) have have not inspected the subject property and have have not considered the information developed in the course
 of such inspection, together with the information provided by the ownership and client, the Appraiser(s) are not qualified to verify or detect the presence of
 hazardous substances by visual inspection or otherwise, nor qualified to determine the effect, if any, of known or unknown substances present. Unless otherwise
stated, the final value conclusion is based on the subject property being free of hazardous waste contaminations, and it is specifically assumed that present and
subsequent ownerships will exercise due diligence to ensure that the property does not become otherwise contaminated.

7. Information, estimates, and opinions furnished to the Appraiser(s), and contained in the report, were obtained from sources considered reliable and believed to
be true and correct. However, no responsibility for accuracy of such items furnished the Appraiser(s) can be assumed by the Appraiser(s).

8. Unless specifically cited, no value has been allocated to mineral rights or deposits.

9. Water requirements and information provided has been relied on and, unless otherwise stated, it is assumed that:

a. All water rights to the property have been secured or perfected, that there are no adverse easements or encumbrances, and the property
complies with Bureau of Reclamation or other state and federal agencies;

b. Irrigation and domestic water and drainage system components, including distribution equipment and piping, are real estate fixtures;
c. Any mobile surface piping or equipment essential for water distribution, recovery, or drainage is secured with the title to real estate; and
d. Title to all such property conveys with the land.

10. Disclosure of the contents of this report is governed by applicable law and/or by the Bylaws and Regulations of the professional appraisal organization(s)
with which the Appraiser(s) are affiliated.

11. Neither all nor any part of the report, or copy thereof, shall be used for any purposes by anyone but the client specified in the report without the written
consent of the Appraiser.

12. Where the appraisal conclusions are subject to satisfactory completion, repairs, or alterations, the appraisal report and value conclusion are contingent
upon completion of the improvements in a workmanlike manner consistent with the plans, specifications and/or scope of work relied upon in the appraisal.

13. Acreage of land types and measurements of improvements are based on physical inspection of the subject property unless otherwise noted in this appraisal report.

14. EXCLUSIONS. The Appraiser(s) considered and used the three independent approaches to value (cost, income, and sales comparison) where  applicable in valuing
the resources of the subject property for determining a final value conclusion. Explanation for the exclusion of any of the three independent approaches to value in
determining a final value conclusion has been disclosed in this report.

15. SCOPE OF WORK RULE. The scope of work was developed based on information from the client. This appraisal and report was prepared for the client, at their
sole discretion, within the framework of the intended use. The use of the appraisal and report for any other purpose, or use by any party not identified as an
intended user, is beyond the scope of work contemplated in the appraisal, and does not create an obligation for the Appraiser.

16. Acceptance of the report by the client constitutes acceptance of all assumptions and limiting conditions contained in the report.

17. Other Contingent and Limiting Conditions:

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

X X

18. Montana is a non-disclosure state and no person or entity is required to disclose sales information.  Every attempt was made to verify the sales within the area, via

relevant sources and some sales in the market area were not able to be verified.  The Opinion of Value is limited to the sales disclosed within this appraisal report,

which are considered reflective of market conditions, as of the effective date of valuation.

5 40©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Scope of Work

Gathering and Analysis of Market Data;

Uniform Standards for Professional Appraisal Practice states that the appraiser must analyze the relevant legal, physical, and economic factors to the

extent necessary to support the appraiser's highest and best use conclusion(s).  In making the highest and best use determination, consideration must be

given to the contiguity property and unity of ownership.  The highest and best use analyses will then determine the comparative sales that are utilized in

developing a supportable estimate of value.

Montana is a non-disclosure state and no person or entity is required to disclose sales information.  Every attempt was made to verify the sales within

the area, via relevant sources and some sales in the market area were not able to be verified.  The Opinion of Value is limited to the sales disclosed

within this appraisal report, which are considered reflective of market conditions, as of the effective date of valuation.  It is assumed that there may be

discrepancies in total acreage and/or land mix, which the appraiser has reconciled with assessment records.   Additionally, the sales data may include

transactions with multiple closing dates, lease/purchase options or other considerations.  The analysis of the sales data has been completed, based on the

original sale date, contract terms and acreage, which may vary from the finalized sales data, on a future date.

An allocation of the sales price within the comparative sales is essentially a distribution of the selling price among the various components that

comprise a property.  The allocation model is developed by the appraiser, based upon pure sales of the various land components, which are then

analyzed and compared.  The allocation may vary, depending upon the highest and best use of the sale, thus a mixing of sales with varying highest and

best uses should be avoided when establishing value.  Additionally, the allocation may vary amongst individual appraisers, based upon their analyses of

the market.  Thus, comparison of market values should only be done, based on the final market value and not the allocation of the individual

components.  The land use of the subject property and comparable sales have been analyzed herein.  Some lands may fall within several land use

categories with the final allocation based upon the most predominate use.  The Sales Data Sheets are considered confidential information and will not

be provided as part of the Appraisal Report.

Market Area Issues;

The subject property is located in Yellowstone County, Montana.  The primary market area is identified by the Billings Association of Realtors, as Area

10 and includes the communities of Shepherd, Huntley, Ballantine, Worden and Pompeys Pillar, Montana.  This market area has broad market appeal

with market participation from part-time agricultural, investment, speculative and country home buyers.

The market is primarily comprised of smaller non-economic size farm units which are intermingled with country homes and commercial properties.

Location, commuter distance, physical access, aesthetic amenities and proximity to city services are considered the primary forces of value with smaller

parcels often reflecting premium, or site based pricing.   Land uses within this area have been in transition for more then 30 years, from economic

agricultural to non-economical agriculture.   This type of property is typically purchased and utilized for development into a rural home site.

The subject property is located in Hunting District 590 as defined by the Montana Department of Fish, Wildlife and Parks, which allows for seasonal

migratory game hunting.  Hunting influences are not considered a factor for this type of property.

Competency of the Appraiser;

The appraiser is competent to complete this appraisal and has through the course of his appraisal career, completed numerous appraisals within the

defined market area.  Please refer to the Addendum for the appraiser qualifications.

6 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Scope of Work

Scope of Property Inspection and Analysis;

A physical inspection of the property was completed on August 30, 2023, which included the use of aerial mapping.  USPAP regulations do not require

the appraiser to physically inspect the subject property.  If an inspection is completed the appraiser may utilize any combination of factors in the

completion of the inspection including any relevant information.  The degree and scope of inspection is based on the intended use of the appraisal and is

limited to things that are readily observable without the use of special testing or equipment.

Access to the property is via South 20th Road, which forms the western boundary.   According to the buy/sell agreement, additional physical access is

to be provided by the seller, through Lot 1 of Schmalz Subdivision (James M. Reicher property) .  The access easement is to close as a simultaneous

transaction and will allow direct access to East I Road.

Numerous comparable sales were reviewed and analyzed in this analysis with those sales considered most appropriate, based on size, location, soil

quality, land mix and net adjustments utilized in the final analysis.  The comparable sales were inspected at various points in time through the

transmittal date of this report.  An emphasis was placed on securing comparable sales within the primary market area.

I analyzed existing land use regulations, the physical characteristics of the property and it's highest and best use.  The real estate taxes were taken from

public records.  It is assumed in the appraisal that there have been no significant changes in the property condition, between the effective date of

valuation, my last physical inspection and the transmittal date of this report.

Mineral rights are referred to as the ownership, or right to extract all minerals contained below the surface of a property.  In Montana, mineral rights

may be severed from the surface rights with the owners of the minerals rights having the right to occupy the amount of surface as reasonably necessary,

for extraction purposes; however in such cases, the mineral rights holder must pay market value of the surface acres occupied, and pay damages, if any.

No investigation into the remaining mineral rights owned by the surface landowner were made in the course of completing the appraisal report.  The

appraiser is not considered an expert in mineral rights, nor is the appraiser aware of any determination of available mineral rights.  There was no

observed mineral activity on the subject property.  The purchase agreement conveys all remaining mineral rights, subject to prior conveyances with no

actual monetary value assigned.  Gravel is considered a surface right in Montana with all rights inclusive to the surface ownership, unless specifically

reserved.

The ownership and orientation of the subject property must be considered in order to define the "marketable property".  The property must fall within

"market parameters" with regards to size, orientation and structural improvements.  If a property was configure in either in size, orientation or mixture

of uses that did not exist in the open market, it's market value could not be measured, because there simply would be no sales of comparable properties.

In order to establish "market value" an appraiser must be able to examine sales of similar type properties, or property rights and then correlate those

sales in a credible manner to the subject property.  Market value means the interaction of buyers and sellers, not a single buyer or seller were their

motivation and/or purchase power cannot be replicated.

The appropriate method is to value the entire property, based on similar type sales, which have been allocated in similar manner.  The Opinion of Value

is then reported as a single amount, inclusive of all land classes and title encumbrances.  The value of the property components are then allocated in the

Reconciliation of the Appraisal, to assist the client in decision making.  It should be noted and understood that the allocation of value is not an

appraisal of that unit, but is simply how much that unit or land class contributes to that value of the larger property.

7 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Hypothetical Conditions and/or Extraordinary Assumptions

A Hypothetical Condition is defined as "a condition which is contrary to what exists but is supposed for the purpose of the analysis."  A hypothetical

condition assumes conditions contrary to the known facts about the physical, legal, or economic characteristics of the subject property; or about

conditions external to the property, such as market conditions or trends; or about the integrity of data used in the analysis.

The Hypothetical Conditions are as follows;

a.  According to the buy/sell agreement, additional physical access is to be provided by the seller, through Lot 1 of Schmalz Subdivision (James M.

Reicher property) .  The access easement is to close as a simultaneous transaction and will allow direct access to East I Road.   This appraisal is based

on the Hypothetical Condition that the easement existed, as of the effective date of valuation.

Extraordinary Assumption is defined as "an assumption, directly related to a specific assignment, which, if found to be false, could alter the appraiser's

opinions or conclusions."  An extraordinary assumption presumes as fact otherwise uncertain information about physical, legal, or economic

characteristics of the subject property; or about conditions external to the property, such as market conditions or trends; or about the integrity of data

used in an analysis.

The Extraordinary Assumption are as follows;

a.   The land allocation description within this appraisal report, are based on the appraiser's analysis, in conjunction with aerial photos and current

property assessment information.  The assessment information and acreages are owner verified with the Montana Department of Revenue ever two

years and are assumed to be reflective of the property.  It is assumed that there maybe discrepancies amongst the various records and that

encroachments may exists.  Additionally, the appraiser was unable to determine the availability of any utility services, including sanitary facilities.

b.  Montana is a non-disclosure state and no person or entity is required to disclose sales information.  Every attempt was made to verify the sales

within the area, via relevant sources and some sales in the market area were not able to be verified.   As such, it is assumed in this report that the sales

prices are accurate.  The Opinion of Value is limited to the sales disclosed within this appraisal report, which are considered reflective of market

conditions, as of the effective date of valuation.

c.  It is assumed in the appraisal, that there have been no significant changes in the property condition, between the property inspection, effective date of

valuation and the transmittal date of this report.

8 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

MARKET VALUE DEFINITION
Regulations published by federal regulatory agencies pursuant to title XI of the Financial Institutions

Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act (FIRREA)

The most probable price which a property should bring in a competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale,

the buyer and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by undue stimulus. Implicit in

this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby:

1.     Buyer and seller are typically motivated;

2.     Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what they consider their best interests;

3.     A reasonable time is allowed for exposure on the open market;

4.     Payment is made in terms of cash in United States dollars or in terms of financial arrangements

comparable thereto; and

5.     The price represents the normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by special or creative

financing or sales concessions granted by anyone associated with the sale.

Other:

EXPOSURE AND MARKETING TIME ESTIMATES

Market value (see above definition) conclusion and the costs and other estimates used in arriving at conclusion of value is as of

the date of the appraisal. Because markets upon which these estimates and conclusions are based upon are dynamic in nature, they

are subject to change over time. Further, the report and value conclusion is subject to change if future physical, financial, or other

conditions differ from conditions as of the date of appraisal.

In applying the market value definition to this appraisal, a reasonable exposure time of months has been estimated.

Exposure time is the estimated length of time the property interest being appraised would have been offered in the market prior to the

hypothetical consummation of a sale at market value on the effective date of the appraisal; exposure time is always presumed to

precede  the effective date of the appraisal.

Marketing time, however, is an estimate of the amount of time it takes to sell a property interest at the market value conclusion during

the period after  the effective date of the appraisal. An estimate of marketing time is not intended to be a prediction of a date of sale. It

is inappropriate to assume that the value as of the effective date of appraisal remains stable during a marketing period. Additionally,

the appraiser(s) have considered market factors external to this appraisal report and have concluded that a reasonable marketing

time for the property is months.

Comments:

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

0-2

0-2

The exposure period of the sales utilized within the appraisal report was 0 to 7 months.  The estimated marketing period of the

subject property falls within the lower range of the total exposure period of the comparable sales, at 0 to 2 months.

9 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Section Divider II

Report Summary, Area Description & Subject Property Description

1.  Report Summary

2.  Area Description and Market Area Location Map

3.  Subject Land Description, Aerial Map, FEMA Flood Map and Property Photos

4.  Subject History of Ownership, Assessed Value and Real Estate Taxes

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Uniform Agricultural Appraisal Report

Owner/Occupant: Total Deeded Acres:

Property Address: Effective Unit Size:

State/County: / Zip Code:

Property Location: Property Code #:

Highest & Best Use: "As If" Vacant FAMC Comd'ity Gp:

"As Improved" Primary Land Type:

Zoning: Primary Commodity:

Unit Type: Economic Sized Unit Supplemental/Add-On Unit

FEMA Community # FEMA Map # FEMA Zone/Date:

Legal Description: SEC TWP RNG Attached

Purpose of Report:

Use/Intended User(s):

Rights Appraised:

Value Definition: Attached

Assignment: Report Type:

Extent of Process/Scope of Work:

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
 I
d

e
n

ti
fi

c
a
ti

o
n

Summary of Facts and Conclusions

Date of Inspection: Effective Date of Appraisal:

Value Indication - Cost Approach: $

- Income Approach: $

- Sales Comparison Approach: $

Opinion of Value: (Estimated Marketing Time months ) $

Cost of Additions:Cost of Repairs: $ $

Allocation: Land: $ $ / ( %)

Land Improvements: $ $ / ( %)

Structural Improvement Contribution: $ $ / ( %)

Non-Realty Items: $ $ / ( %)

Leased Fee Value (Remaining term of encumbrance ) $ / ( %)$

Leasehold Value: $ / ( %)$
$ / ( 100 %)Overall Value:

Cash Rent Share Owner/Operator FAMC Suppl. AttachedIncome and Other Data Summary:

( )Income Multiplier / (unit)Income Estimate: $

Expense Ratio / (unit)% Expense Estimate: $

Overall Cap Rate: / (unit)% Net Property Income: $

Area-Regional-Market Area Data and Trends: Subject Property Rating:

Above   Avg. Below   N/A Above   Avg. Below   N/A
  Avg.   Avg.   Avg.   Avg.

Value Trend Location

Sales Activity Trend Soil Quality/Productivity

Property Compatibility Improvement Rating

Effective Purchase Power Compatibility

Demand Rentability

Development Potential Market Appeal

A
p

p
ra

is
a
l 
R

e
p

o
rt

 S
u

m
m

a
ry

Desirability Overall Property Rating

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Barbara Schmalz Estate

South 20th Road

Montana Yellowstone

Ballantine, Montana

Vacant Rural Land

Rural Home Site

None (Assessed as Vacant Rural Land)

X

24.05

24.05

59006

Site

N/A

30111C1100E N/A X / 11/6/2013 

X

Provide an Opinion of Fair Market Value

Purchase / Yellowstone County, Montana

Fee Simple Estate subject to Easements, Conveyances, Restrictions and/or Reservations of Record

Fair Market Value X
Appraisal Appraisal

See Pages 6-7;

08/30/23 08/21/23

N/A

N/A

240,000 (r)

0-2 240,000

- N/A

240,000 9,979 Acre 100

0 0 Acre 0

0 0 Acre 0

0 0 Acre 0

- 0 0 Acre 0

0 0 Acre 0

9,979 Acre

N/A N/A

-

-

0.00 Acre

0.00 Acre

0.00 Acre

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

10 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Area-Regional Boundary: On and Off Property:

Up Stable Down

Value Trend:

Sales Activity Trend:

Population Trend:

Major Commodities:

Employment Trend:

Market Availability:
Under Over No
Supply Balanced Supply Influence

Above Avg. Avg. Below Avg. N/A Cropland Units:

Off Property Employment: Livestock Units:

Unlikely  Likely Taking Place Recreational Tracts:

Change in Economic Base:

From

To

Forces of Value: (Discuss social, economic, governmental, and environmental forces.)

A
re

a
-R

e
g

io
n

a
l 
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

Exposure Time: months. (See attached definition and discussion)

Specific Market Area Boundaries:

Market Area:  Rural Suburb Urban Market Area:
Above Below

Type Avg. Avg. Avg. N/A

Up Stable Down Property Compatibility

Value Trend Effective Purchase Power

Sales Activity Trend Demand

Population Trend Development Potential

Development Trend Desirability

Analysis/Comments: (Discuss positive and negative aspects of market area.)

M
a

rk
e
t 

A
re

a
 D

e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

This market area is described as Area

10 by the Billings Association of Realtors.  The market area includes the

communities of Shepherd, Huntley, Worden, Ballantine and Pompeys

Pillar with the entire market area located within Yellowstone  County,

Montana.  Please refer to the Market Area Location Map on the following

page.

Livestock and grains

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

Rural Farmsteads X

Irrigated Farms X

Vacant Rural Land X

This market area has broad market appeal with market participation from part-time agricultural, investment, speculative and country home

buyers.  The market is primarily comprised of smaller non-economic size farm units which are intermingled with country homes and

commercial properties.   Location, commuter distance, physical access, aesthetic amenities and proximity to city services are considered the

primary forces of value with smaller parcels often reflecting premium or site based pricing.   Land uses within this area have been in transition

for more then 30 years, from agricultural to part-time agriculture with most homes located near the population centers.

Communities in Montana are identified by school size, as Class C thru AA, with the smaller communities being Class C.   The subject

property is located within the Huntley School District, which is classified as Class B.  Billings is the county seat of Yellowstone County and

the largest community in the state.  Economic drivers in Yellowstone County include manufacturing, mining, health care, retail trade,

government services and transportation.  While important, agriculture and related businesses account for only 2% of all economic activity

within the county.

The population of Yellowstone County is 169,852, which is an increase of 3.1%, according to the latest census data.  The employment trends

remaining at historical high levels with most employers reporting a lack of available workers.  The median household income is $65,656 with

approximately 11.3% of the households considered below the poverty rate.

0-2

The specific market is defined as the upper bench of the Huntley Project Irrigation District.

Additional sales were considered or utilized, based on their geographical location, acreage and overall comparability to the subject property.

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

Open market sales activity for most property types has been reduced over the past two years.  Statistical data indicates that total active listings

are up 9% from 2022 and total open market sales transactions are down 70%, thus far in 2023.  An increasing number of properties are being

marketed and sold in off-market transactions with no open market exposure.  My data indicates that sales activity within this market area is

comprised of predominately rural home buyers, or those looking for relocation into the rural life style.

The value trend for most properties had been upward trending for several years.  The sales data suggests continued demand for smaller tracts

and declining sales activity for larger, economical properties.  The demand for rural properties valued at the lower dollar thresholds, has

generally been stronger due to the afford ability, relative to economical size farming and ranching operations.  The momentum in the real

estate market over the past few years was correlated with historically low interest rates and relocation due to the Covid pandemic.  Both of

which have abated over the past year.

11 40©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Market Area Location Map

N
o

rt
h

Subject

12 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

(Location, use and physical characteristics)Property Description:

Above Below
Subject Description: Avg. Avg. Avg.  N/A

Land Use Deeded Acres Unit Type Unit Size Location

( %) Legal Access

( %) Physical Access

( %) Contiguity

( %) Shape/Ease Mgt.

( %) Adequacy Utilities

( %) Services

( %) Rentability

( %) Compatibility

( %) Market Appeal

( %) FEMA Zone/Date

Total Deeded Acres Total Units ( 100 % ) Building Location

Above Below
Comments Land Improvements: Avg. Avg. Avg.  N/A

Domestic Water

Livestock Water

Interior Roads

Drainage

  Un-  Roll- Slop-Topography: dulat- Level ing    inging

Water Rights: No Yes Supplement Attached

Mineral Rights: No Yes Supplement Attached

Comments:

Overall Topography

Soils Description:

Soil Quality/Production: Above Avg. Avg. Below Avg. N/A Supplement Attached

Climatic: " Annual Precipitation ' to ' Elevation Frost-Free Days

Utilities: Water Electric Sewer Gas Telephone

Distance To: Schools Hospital Markets Major Hwy. Service Center

Easements/Encroachments: (Conservation, Utility, Preservation, etc.)

Hazards and Detriments:

S
u

b
je

c
t 

L
a
n

d
 D

e
s
c
ri

p
ti

o
n

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23
The subject property is located approximately miles 1.25 miles east of

Ballantine, Montana.  Access to the property is via South 20th Road, which forms the western boundary.  The land mix is inclusive of irrigated

and/or grazing lands with a seasonal drainage and wetlands.

Please refer to the maps and property photos on the following pages, for a complete overview of the subject property.  The maps, sketches and

plat's included in this report are for visual aids to the reader only and are not necessarily to scale.

There are no structural improvements associated with this property.

Vacant Site 16.05 Acres 66.7

Pivot Irrigated Acres 0.0

Flood Irrigated 8.00 Acres 33.3

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

24.05 0.00

X
X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X
X

X / 11/6/2013 

N/A

The land allocation utilized within this appraisal report, is based on the appraiser's

analysis, in conjunction with aerial photos and property assessment information.  The subject

property is fenced along the established boundaries.  Except as provided by prescription,

custom, or agreement between landowners, each landowner shall maintain all fencing to the

right of the midpoint of the common boundary line as viewed from the owner's land.  Fences

adjacent to public rights-of-way are the sole responsibility of the adjacent landowner.

All water rights associated with lands in the irrigation district, transfer as an appurtenance to

the surface rights.  The water assessment is included in the annual real estate tax assessment.

No landowner or other consumer acquires any proprietary right in the irrigation water.

Irrigation water to this property is supplied from the Huntley Project Irrigation District.  The

irrigation water is delivered to the district owned diversion point and the landowner is

responsible for the use and distribution of the water.

X
X
X

X
Fences X
Irrigation System X
Corrals X

X
X

No opinion on remaining mineral rights is being rendered in this report and no

value has been allocated.

Vacant Site X
Pivot Irrigated
Flood Irrigated X

X
The USDA soils map indicates that the property is approximately 38% gravelly loams, 25% seep lands and the remainder

clay loams.  The complete soils map is available as a PDF attachment. ,

X
12-15 2,990 3,030 115-135

- - - - -

5 23 23 2 5

No opinion on title exceptions is being rendered in this

report, please refer to Title Commitment #1110712, dated August 29, 2023.  Additionally, the Huntley Project Irrigation District requires

rights-of-ways along all canals, laterals, open and closed drains.  The minimum right-of-way is 20' with larger laterals requiring up to 60', or

whatever right-of-way is required an necessary for the operation and maintenance of the system.

No environmental disclosure form was completed by the land owner.   No adverse environmental issues were

observed during my physical inspection.  Hazards common to the area include heavy snow, seasonal flooding, wildfires, hail, migratory wildlife

and noxious weeds.

13 40©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Aerial Map

N
o

rt
h

14 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

FEMA Flood Hazard Map

15 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

RIGHT:

LEFT:

RIGHT:

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Property Access and Land Use Photos

South 20th Road, located along the west boundary of the

subject property looking north.

The subject property is located to the right of the roadway.

There is currently no developed access point from South 20th

Road, into the subject property.

Flood irrigated hay land.

Seasonal drainage that bisects the subject property.

16 40©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Ownership Longer Than Years

Owner Recording/Reference Date Price Paid Terms

Previous: $

Present: $

Currently: Optioned Under Contract Contract Price: $

Buyer: Currently Listed Listing Price: $ Listing Date:

H
is

to
ry

Current Zoning: Zoning Conformity: Yes No

Zoning Change: Unlikely Probable To:

Comments:Z
o

n
in

g

Tax Basis: Assessment Year Forecast:

Agricultural Land $ Current Tax $

Building(s) $ Estimated/Stabilized $

$ Or ( Ac.) =$ /acre

Parcel #: Total Assessed Value $

Trend: Up Down Stable

Comments:

T
a
x
e

s

Highest & Best Use is defined as that reasonable and probable use that supports the highest present value, as defined, as of the effective date of the appraisal. Alternatively, that use, from among

reasonably probable and legally alternative uses, found to be physically possible, appropriately supported, financially feasible, and which results in the highest land value.

Analysis: (Discuss legally permissible, physically possible, financially feasible, and maximally productive uses)

Highest and Best Use: "As if" Vacant

"As Improved"

Discussion:

H
ig

h
e
s
t 

&
 B

e
s
t 

U
s
e

 A
n

a
ly

s
is

Valuation Methods: Cost Approach Income Approach Sales Comparison Approach

(Explain and support exclusion of one or more approaches)

V
a
lu

e
 M

e
th

o
d

s

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

X 16

David & Barbara Schmalz 3413313 3/6/2007 N/A Warranty Deed

Barbara Schmalz Estate 3929785 7/28/2020 N/A Termination of Joint Tenancy

X 240,000 Cash At Closing

Yellowstone County, Montana X 240,000 07/06/23

The subject property has been under the current ownership since 1995.  Public records indicate that the property has not been listed for sale or

transferred with the five years immediately preceding the effective date of valuation. 

None (Assessed as Vacant Rural Land) X
X N/A

None

X

D08235A

2023

6,615

0

N/A 0

6,615

388

388

24.05 16.13

X
The tax assessment includes the annual irrigation water assessment from the Huntley Project Irrigation District.  While it is

assumed that the property will be exempt from property taxes, the county will still be obligated for the annual irrigation water assessment.  The

assessment in 2022 was $315.90 and is scheduled to increase from $39 per irrigated acre to $44 per irrigated acre, in 2024.

The concept of highest and best use is what market value is based on.  The term highest and best use is also considered the most probable use of a

property, after reviewing for legally permissible, physically possible, financially feasible and maximally productive uses.

For rural properties, the legally permissible use is typically the most limiting factor affecting a property.  The subject property is not zoned and

the property has historically been assessed as vacant rural land.  Any division of a property in Montana, that results in a parcel of land under

160.00 acres in total acreage, is subject to subdivision review.  Additionally, parcels of land under 160 acres are typically considered sites and are

often assessed as non-qualified agricultural land.  The property has multiple legally permissible uses, subject to the existing plat restrictions.

The property has average physical access with utilities along the boundary.  As such, both the historical use and the probable use as a rural home

site are physically possible.

The financially feasible use is based on an un-leveraged basis and the revenue attributable to the land only.  The estimated rental income would

not be considered an economically viable unit.  As such, the use as a rural home site with supplemental income, is considered the most financially

feasible use.

The maximally productive use is based on the highest net return to the landowner in a hypothetical sales transaction.  The hypothetical division

and/or marketing of the property in multiple tracts is beyond the scope and intended use of this appraisal.  The Opinion of Value rendered in this

report, is based on the sale of a single tract of land, as of the effective date of valuation.

Vacant Rural Land

Rural Home Site

The purposed purchase and use as a storage site and gravel extraction yard is considered an interim use.   The interim use maybe

detrimental to the Highest and Best Use, should significant gravel extraction take place.

X
See the Reconciliation.

17 40©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Section Divider III

Analysis of Current Market Listings

1.  Active Listing Summary Sheet

2.  Active Listing Photos

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Active Listing Summary Sheet

Listing information was taken from the Billings Association of Realtors multiple listing service or area Real Estate Brokers and is considered a sample

of existing listings, not a comprehensive list.

Corder & Associates is actively marketing MLS #341611.  Marketing data indicates that this is a vacant tract of irrigated land, located on North 8th

Road, near Huntley, Montana.  The property consists of 15.00 acres with paved road access and no utilities on site.  It was listed on August 18, 2023

with an asking price of $225,000.  Based on direct comparison, this property is considered inferior in acreage.

Corder & Associates is actively marketing MLS #341612.  Marketing data indicates that this is a vacant tract of irrigated land, located on North 8th

Road, near Huntley, Montana.  The property consists of 15.00 acres with paved road access and no utilities on site.  It was listed on August 18, 2023

with an asking price of $225,000.  Based on direct comparison, this property is considered inferior in acreage.

Keller Williams Properties is actively marketing MLS #341174.  Marketing data indicates that this is a vacant tract of native grazing land, located in

the Pryor Creek Corridor, south of Huntley, Montana.  The property consists of 22.898 acres with paved road access and no utilities on site.  It was

listed on July 26, 2023 with an asking price of $350,000.  Based on direct comparison, this property is considered similar in acreage.

Landmark Realty is actively marketing MLS #335914.  Marketing data indicates that this is a vacant tract of irrigated land, located on the corner of

East M and North 25th Road, near Worden, Montana.  The property consists of 40.00 acres, which is to be split from a larger 80.00 acre tract.  There

are no utilities on site.  It was listed on October 10, 2022 with an asking price of $400,000 and was later reduced to $375,000.  The parcel is currently

subject to a contingent sale and is considered superior in acreage.

Keller Williams Properties is actively marketing MLS #341180.  Marketing data indicates that this is a vacant tract of native grazing land, located in

the Pryor Creek Corridor, south of Huntley, Montana.   The property consists of 24.183 acres with paved road access and no utilities on site.  It was

listed on July 26, 2023 with an asking price of $379,000.   Based on direct comparison, this property is considered similar in acreage.

Summary of Vacant Site Listings

The vacant land site listings, reflect a mean asking price of $295,000 (r) with an average size of 19.27 acres.

Based on direct comparison and total acreage, the listings support an asking price of more than $225,000 and less then $350,000.

18 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Active Listing Photos

MLS Listing #341611 MLS Listing #341612

MLS Listing #341174 MLS Listing #335914

MLS Listing #341180 Left Intentionally Blank

19 40©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Section Divider IV

Sales Comparison Approach to Value

1.  Sales Grid Summary

2.  Summary of the Comparable Sales (Sales 1-5)

3.  Explanation of Adjustments (Sales 1-5)

4.  Land Mix and Improvement Adjustments (Sales 1-5)

5.  Sales Comparison Approach Location Map (Sales 1-5)

6.  Comparative Sales Photos (Sales 1-5)

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Sales Comparison Approach (1-5)

Sale Data Subject Sale #1 Sale #2 Sale #3 Sale #4 Sale #5

Grantor (Seller)

Grantee (Buyer)

Source

Date Eff

Eff Unit Size/Unit /
Sale Price

Finance Adjusted

CEV Price

Multiplier

S
a
le

 D
a
ta

Expense Ratio

The Appraiser has cited sales of similar property to the subject and considered these in the market analysis. The description below includes a dollar adjustment

reflecting market reaction to those items of significant variation between the subject and the sales documented. When significant items are superior to the property

appraised, a negative adjustment is applied. If the item is inferior, a positive adjustment is applied. Thus, each sale is adjusted for the measurable dissimilarities and

each sale producing a separate value indication. The indications from each sale are then reconciled into one indication of value for this approach.

CEV Price/

LAND AND IMPROVEMENT ADJUSTMENTS
Land Adjustment

Impvt. Adjustment

Adjusted Price

TIME ADJUSTMENTS
Yr Mo Periods

Smpl Cmp Rate

Auto Man Time Adjustment

Time Adj. Price

OTHER ADJUSTMENTS

Adjustment

Adjustment

Adjustment

Adjustment

Adjustment

Net Adjustments

ADJUSTED PRICE

Analysis/Comments: (Discuss positive and negative aspects of each sale as they affect value)

Sales Comparison Approach Summary:

Property Basis (Value Range): $ to $ Sales Comparison Indication:

Unit Basis: $ / X = $ $

S
a
le

 C
o

m
p

a
ri

s
o

n

Multiplier Basis: $ X (multiple) = $

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

-

08/23

24.05 Acres

I1041 I1612 I1614 I153 I269

Thomas Van Dyk

Joe & Karen Rinehart

MLS#339754

07/23

10

192,500

Cash 0

192,500

-

-

Barbara Schmalz Estate

Stoltz Ranch, Inc.

MLS #333616

07/23

54

800,000

Cash 0

800,000

-

-

Barbara Schmalz Estate

James M. Reicher

MLS #333616

07/23

20

174,000

Cash 0

174,000

-

-

Barbara Schmalz Estate

Lacinda Irvine

MLS #333623

01/23

26

238,000

Cash 0

238,000

-

-

Harold Langager

Jason Taylor

MLS #328308

04/22

39

340,000

Conv 0

340,000

-

-

Acres 18,997 14,852 8,597 9,308 8,754

0

0

18,997

0

-4,873

9,979

0

0

8,597

0

0

9,308

0

0

8,754

X

X

X

0.08

0.00

0.00

18,997

0.08

0.00

0.00

9,979

0.08

0.00

0.00

8,597

0.58

0.00

0.00

9,308

1.33

0.00

0.00

8,754

Physical Access
S 20th / East I Road North 10th Road South 20th Road East I Road South 20th Road North 16th Road

592 111 296 235 154

Marketing/Terms
Realtor / 0-60 DOM Realtor / 4 DOM Realtor / 215 DOM Realtor / 215 DOM Realtor / 72 DOM Realtor / 11 DOM

- - - - -

Sale/List Price
- 108% 94% 87% 93% 98%

- - - - -

Motivation
Open Market Open Market Open Market Open Market Open Market Open Market

- - - - -

Utilities/Appeal
None/Average Yes/Superior Yes/Similar Well/Inferior None/Similar Yes/Inferior

- - - - -

592 -4,762 296 235 154

19,589 10,090 8,893 9,543 8,908

The five sales utilized in this approach to value are considered comparable to the subject property, based on their geographical location and

probable use.  Overall, the five sales support an unadjusted site value range of $192,500 to $238,000.  While appraisal regulation do not specify a

maximum net adjustment, it is generally recognized that those sales with the lowest net adjustments are considered the most reliable indication of

value.

Overall, Sales 2 and 4 are considered the most comparable sites, based on geographical location and land mix.   These two sales support an

adjusted value range of $230,000 (r) to $245,000 (r), which is within the range of the pending sales transaction.

Summary of the Comparable Sales, Explanation of Adjustments and Sales Adjustment Sheets are Continued on the Following Pages;

230,000 (r) 245,000 (r)

9,980 1 24.05 Acres 240,019.00

N/A N/A N/A
240,000 (r)

20 40©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Summary of the Comparable Sales

Sale #1;  Open market sale of an improved parcel of flood irrigated pasture, located west of Worden, Montana.  The topography is level with irrigation

water from the Huntley Project Irrigation District.  The improvements are limited to a small open horse shed, that was not considered a factor in the

sale.  The property is located within a transitional area, but sanitary restrictions had not been lifted on this parcel.  The property sold at 108% of the

initial asking price, via conventional financing, after being openly exposed to the market for 4 days.  Overall, this sale is reflective of a site purchase

with no regards to the actual price per acre.  This sale supports strong demand, based on the sales price above the listing price and short marketing time.

Sale #2;  Open market sale of a portion of the Schmalz Farm, located southeast of Ballantine, Montana.  Physical access is directly from South 20th

Road, which forms the west boundary of the property.  The topography is level on the irrigated portion and undulating gravel hills with a seasonal

drainage on the east side of the property.  Irrigation water rights are from the Huntley Project Irrigation District.  The structural improvements include a

split level home with attached garage, that was built in 2001, shop with attached machine shed that has a partial concrete floor, pole barn with attached

loafing shed, numerous ancillary structures, small grain bins and a set of corrals.  The building allocation is based on market extraction and the sale of

the vacant land tracts.  The property sold at 94% of the initial asking price, via a 1031 Exchange and conventional financing, after being openly

exposed to the market for 215 days.

Sale #3;  Open market sale of a portion of the Schmalz Farm, located southeast of Ballantine, Montana.  Physical access to this tract is from East I

Road, which forms the northeast boundary.  The topography is undulating gravel hills bisected by a seasonal drainage.  No irrigation water rights

transferred with this tract of land.  There was an old well of unknown quality on site, but no additional utilities.  The property was border by Interstate

94 along the northern boundary.  The other boundary line fences were in poor condition with the southern boundary un-fenced.  The property sold at

87% of the initial asking price, for cash, after being openly exposed to the market for 215 days.

Sale #4;  Open market sale of a portion of the Schmalz Farm, located southeast of Ballantine, Montana.  Physical access is directly from South 20th

Road, which forms the eastern boundary of the property. The topography is generally level with the entire parcel having adequate irrigation water rights

from the Huntley Project Irrigation District.  There were no utilities on site with the parcel fenced along the boundaries.  The property sold at 93% of

the initial asking price, for cash, after being openly exposed to the market for 72 days.

Sale #5;  Open market sale of a vacant parcel of irrigated and grazing land, located northeast of Worden, Montana.  Marketing data indicates that this

property has 38.839 acres with 17.6 acres of flood irrigated land from the Huntley Project Irrigation District.  Soils are heavy clays with saline

influence.  Physical access is provided by paved North 16th Road with the site having power, well and private sewage.  The property was listed for sale

on August 8, 2020 with an asking price of $259,000 and later re-listed with an asking price of $346,000.  The property sold for 98% of the last listing

price, via conventional financing, after being exposed to the market for 11 days in the last listing period and a total marketing time of nearly 600 days.

21 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Explanation of Adjustments and Reconciliation of the Sales

The comparable sales analyzed, indicate a mean bare land value of $11,125 per deeded acre (r) and a median bare land value of $9,300 per deeded acre

(r), inclusive of all land classes and title encumbrances.  The sales reflect a standard deviation in value of 39.84%, which is reflective of an irregular

market with wide variations in value.  The deviation in value is considered an implied adjustment for multiple factors, including financing, land

mix/buildings, time, access, method of marketing/days on market, sale motivation, utility services and market appeal.

While appraisal standards require analysis on a per acre basis, smaller tract sales typically reflect a site value.  Consequently, each sale has been

analyzed on a per acre basis and reconciled back to a site value.  The four vacant land sales support an mean site value of $236,125 and an average site

size of 23.695 acres.

Land Mix/Buildings;  The sales are predominately vacant land tacts that are considered to have similar geographical locations and ultimate uses as rural

home sites.  The improved sale is located adjacent to the south boundary of the subject property and may provide the best overall indication of value,

based on the similar land mix.  Quantitative adjustments were made to the individual sales based on the allocation model utilized in this appraisal.

Inclusive in the value is an implied adjustment for the land improvements and title encumbrances.

Time;  The comparable sales cover a period, encompassing 1.33 years from the effective date of valuation.  The USDA time trend land value index for

Montana, suggests that the value trend for most properties has been upward trending for several years.   Based on the dates of the comparable sales, no

time adjustment will be applied in this approach to value.

Physical Access;  All five sales are physically accessed, via direct frontage on public paved or gravel roads.  Additionally, the subject property will

granted a perpetual easement to East I Road, that is to be provided to the seller.  This allows two access points to the subject property, which is

considered superior to all five comparable sales.  An upward adjustment will be applied to all five sales, based on the total easement cost of $6,000.

Method of Marketing/Days on Market;  All five sales were marketed, via Realtors in a manner that is considered typical to the market area.  The sales

reflect marketing times of 4 to 215 days with an average of 103 days (3 months). The subject property was listed as a separate tract of land on July 6,

2023 and was placed under a contract to purchase on August 21, 2032 (45 days).   Based on the market data, I would be expect a total marketing time

of 0 to 2 months.

Sale/List Price;  The sales sold from 87% to 108% of there advertised asking prices with an average of 96%.  Overall, the sales data suggests strong

demand for similar quality properties and correlates closely with the short marketing times.

Sale Motivation;  The buyers and sellers having varying motivations, considered typical in the market.  Sales involving 1031 Tax Deferred Exchanges

are not considered a factor for this type of property, but most purchase agreements having standard language, allowing for buyers and sellers to utilize a

tax deferred transaction.

Utilities/Market Appeal;  The comparable sales have been directly compared to the subject property, based on there overall market appeal.   This

adjustment is based strictly on the appraisers analysis of the market and perception of the individual sales.

Reconciliation of Value;

Sale #1; $470,000 (r) -   3.0% Net Adjustment

Sale #2; $245,000 (r) - 47.0% Net Adjustment

Sale #3; $215,000 (r) -   3.3% Net Adjustment

Sale #4; $230,000 (r) -   2.5% Net Adjustment

Sale #5; $215,000 (r) -   1.7% Net Adjustment

USPAP Standards Rule 1-4 and Rule 1-5, requires the appraiser to analyze any prior sale agreement, option or listing of the subject property, that

occurred with three years of the effective date of valuation.  Prior sales of the same property, that are reasonably recent and not forced, are considered

evidence of market value.  The pending sale has been analyzed and compared to similar type properties within the Sales Comparison Approach to

Value.  The pending sales transactions appears to be an arms-length sales transaction that falls within the established market range and supports a site

value of $240,000.

The five sales support a mean adjusted site value of $275,000 with a correlation in value from $215,000 to $245,000.  The comparable sales are

identified on the Sales Location Map, located on Page 28 of this report.

22 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Sales Comparison Approach - Land Adjustment for Sale# 1
Adjust each sale to the subject's land mix (land adjustment) using unimproved  sales. This page allows for a "quantitative land adjustment" only.

Sales Comparison - Sale #1 Land Adjustment Amt. $

Land Use Sale Acres $/Acre Sale Unit Type Sale Units $/Unit Subj. Acres $/Acre Subj. Unit $/Unit Total

Sale Land Contrib. / Eff. Unit Size = Total / Eff. Unit Size =

Sales Comparison Approach - Improvement Adjustment for Sale# 1
Compare each set of sale improvements to the subject improvements making judgments regarding utility and condition. Then arrive at an
 improvement adjustment for each sale on a per acre or per unit basis. These adjustments are shown on the Sales Comparison Grid.
Note: Appraiser must manually enter the $/Unit for the Subject Improvements -- either individually or as a lump sum.

Sales Comparison - Sale #1 Improvement Adjustment Amt. $: /

Sale Impt. Utl/Cond. Size  X $/Unit Contrib. Value Subject Impt. Utl/Cond. Size  X $/Unit Contrib. Value

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

Sale Effective Unit Size: $ Subject Effective Unit Size: $

Total Improvement Value = $ / Total Improvement Value = $ /

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

I1041 0

Vacant Site 18,997.34 16.05 18,997.34 304,907

Pivot Irrigated

Flood Irrigated 10.13 18,997.34 8.00 18,997.34 151,979

192,500.00 10.13 19,002.96 456,886 24.05 18,997.34

I1041 0 Acres

Shed A A 336 0.00 0

10.13

0.00 Acres

24.05

0.00 Acres

The land adjustment has been calculated, based on the land mix adjustment developed for this appraisal report.  Inclusive in the land value is an implied

adjustment for the land improvements, including fences or water sources.   The allocated value includes a market based adjustment for any physical,

functional and external depreciation.

23 40©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Sales Comparison Approach - Land Adjustment for Sale# 2
Adjust each sale to the subject's land mix (land adjustment) using unimproved  sales. This page allows for a "quantitative land adjustment" only.

Sales Comparison - Sale #2 Land Adjustment Amt. $

Land Use Sale Acres $/Acre Sale Unit Type Sale Units $/Unit Subj. Acres $/Acre Subj. Units $/Unit Total

Sale Land Contrib. / Eff. Unit Size = Total / Eff. Unit Size =

Sales Comparison Approach - Improvement Adjustment for Sale# 2
Compare each set of sale improvements to the subject improvements making judgments regarding utility and condition. Then arrive at an
 improvement adjustment for each sale on a per acre or per unit basis. These adjustments are shown on the Sales Comparison Grid.
Note: Appraiser must manually enter the $/Unit for the Subject Improvements -- either individually or as a lump sum.

Sales Comparison - Sale #2 Improvement Adjustment Amt. $: /

Sale Impt. Utl/Cond. Size  X $/Unit Contrib. Value Subject Impt. Utl/Cond. Size  X $/Unit Contrib. Value

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

Sale Effective Unit Size: $ Subject Effective Unit Size: $

Total Improvement Value = $ / Total Improvement Value = $ /

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

I1612 0

Vacant Site 28.86 9,979.26 16.05 9,979.26 160,167

Pivot Irrigated

Flood Irrigated 25.00 9,979.26 8.00 9,979.26 79,834

537,523.00 53.86 9,980.00 240,001 24.05 9,979.25

I1612 -4,873 Acres

House 5 A 1,993 112.50 224,213

Shop/Shed A A 4,000 6.67 26,664

Barn/Loaf A A 1,600 5.00 7,999

Hay Shed A A 2,160 1.67 3,601

Ancillary P P 1 0.00 0

53.86 262,477

4,873.32 Acres

24.05

0.00 Acres

The land adjustment has been calculated, based on the land mix adjustment developed for this appraisal report.  Inclusive in the land value is an implied

adjustment for the land improvements, including fences or water sources.   The allocated value includes a market based adjustment for any physical,

functional and external depreciation.

24 40©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Sales Comparison Approach - Land Adjustment for Sale# 3
Adjust each sale to the subject's land mix (land adjustment) using unimproved  sales. This page allows for a "quantitative land adjustment" only.

Sales Comparison - Sale #3 Land Adjustment Amt. $

Land Use Sale Acres $/Acre Sale Unit Type Sale Units $/Unit Subj. Acres $/Acre Subj. Units $/Unit Total

Sale Land Contrib. / Eff. Unit Size = Total / Eff. Unit Size =

Sales Comparison Approach - Improvement Adjustment for Sale# 3
Compare each set of sale improvements to the subject improvements making judgments regarding utility and condition. Then arrive at an
 improvement adjustment for each sale on a per acre or per unit basis. These adjustments are shown on the Sales Comparison Grid.
Note: Appraiser must manually enter the $/Unit for the Subject Improvements -- either individually or as a lump sum.

Sales Comparison - Sale #3 Improvement Adjustment Amt. $: /

Sale Impt. Utl/Cond. Size  X $/Unit Contrib. Value Subject Impt. Utl/Cond. Size  X $/Unit Contrib. Value

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

Sale Effective Unit Size: $ Subject Effective Unit Size: $

Total Improvement Value = $ / Total Improvement Value = $ /

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

I1614 0

Vacant Site 20.24 8,597.26 16.05 8,597.26 137,986

Pivot Irrigated

Flood Irrigated 8,597.26 8.00 8,597.26 68,778

174,000.00 20.24 8,596.84 206,764 24.05 8,597.26

I1614 0 Acres

20.24

0.00 Acres

24.05

0.00 Acres

The land adjustment has been calculated, based on the land mix adjustment developed for this appraisal report.  Inclusive in the land value is an implied

adjustment for the land improvements, including fences or water sources.   The allocated value includes a market based adjustment for any physical,

functional and external depreciation.

25 40©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Sales Comparison Approach - Land Adjustment for Sale# 4
Adjust each sale to the subject's land mix (land adjustment) using unimproved  sales. This page allows for a "quantitative land adjustment" only.

Sales Comparison - Sale #4 Land Adjustment Amt. $

Land Use Sale Acres $/Acre Sale Unit Type Sale Units $/Unit Subj. Acres $/Acre Subj. Units $/Unit Total

Sale Land Contrib. / Eff. Unit Size = Total / Eff. Unit Size =

Sales Comparison Approach - Improvement Adjustment for Sale# 4
Compare each set of sale improvements to the subject improvements making judgments regarding utility and condition. Then arrive at an
 improvement adjustment for each sale on a per acre or per unit basis. These adjustments are shown on the Sales Comparison Grid.
Note: Appraiser must manually enter the $/Unit for the Subject Improvements -- either individually or as a lump sum.

Sales Comparison - Sale #4 Improvement Adjustment Amt. $: /

Sale Impt. Utl/Cond. Size  X $/Unit Contrib. Value Subject Impt. Utl/Cond. Size  X $/Unit Contrib. Value

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

Sale Effective Unit Size: $ Subject Effective Unit Size: $

Total Improvement Value = $ / Total Improvement Value = $ /

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

I153 0

Vacant Site 9,307.78 16.05 9,307.78 149,390

Pivot Irrigated

Flood Irrigated 25.57 9,307.78 8.00 9,307.78 74,462

238,000.00 25.57 9,307.78 223,852 24.05 9,307.78

I153 0 Acres

25.57

0.00 Acres

24.05

0.00 Acres

The land adjustment has been calculated, based on the land mix adjustment developed for this appraisal report.  Inclusive in the land value is an implied

adjustment for the land improvements, including fences or water sources.   The allocated value includes a market based adjustment for any physical,

functional and external depreciation.

26 40©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Sales Comparison Approach - Land Adjustment for Sale# 5
Adjust each sale to the subject's land mix (land adjustment) using unimproved  sales. This page allows for a "quantitative land adjustment" only.

Sales Comparison - Sale #5 Land Adjustment Amt. $

Land Use Sale Acres $/Acre Sale Unit Type Sale Units $/Unit Subj. Acres $/Acre Subj. Units $/Unit Total

Sale Land Contrib. / Eff. Unit Size = Total / Eff. Unit Size =

Sales Comparison Approach - Improvement Adjustment for Sale# 5
Compare each set of sale improvements to the subject improvements making judgments regarding utility and condition. Then arrive at an
 improvement adjustment for each sale on a per acre or per unit basis. These adjustments are shown on the Sales Comparison Grid.
Note: Appraiser must manually enter the $/Unit for the Subject Improvements -- either individually or as a lump sum.

Sales Comparison - Sale #5 Improvement Adjustment Amt. $: /

Sale Impt. Utl/Cond. Size  X $/Unit Contrib. Value Subject Impt. Utl/Cond. Size  X $/Unit Contrib. Value

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

/ X $ =$ / X $ =$

Sale Effective Unit Size: $ Subject Effective Unit Size: $

Total Improvement Value = $ / Total Improvement Value = $ /

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

I269 0

Vacant Site 21.19 8,754.09 16.05 8,754.09 140,503

Pivot Irrigated

Flood Irrigated 17.65 8,754.09 8.00 8,754.09 70,033

340,000.00 38.84 8,753.86 210,536 24.05 8,754.10

I269 0 Acres

38.84

0.00 Acres

24.05

0.00 Acres

The land adjustment has been calculated, based on the land mix adjustment developed for this appraisal report.  Inclusive in the land value is an implied

adjustment for the land improvements, including fences or water sources.   The allocated value includes a market based adjustment for any physical,

functional and external depreciation.

27 40©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Sales Comparison Approach Location Map

N
o

rt
h

28 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Comparative Sales Photos

Sale 1; Sale 2;

Sale 3; Sale 4;

Sale 5; Left Intentionally Blank

29 40©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Section Divider V

Reconciliation and Final Value Estimate

1.  Reconciliation of the Approaches to Value

2.  Final Value Estimate

3.  Appraiser Certification of Value

4.  Appraiser Qualifications

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Reconciliation and Opinion of Value

Cost Approach $

Income Approach $

Sales Comparison Approach $

S
u

m
m

a
ry

Analysis of Each Approach and Opinion of Value:

D
is

c
u

s
s
io

n
 &

 C
o

rr
e
la

ti
o

n
 o

f 
V

a
lu

e
s

Opinion Of Value - (Estimated Marketing Time months, see attached) $

Cost of Repairs $

Cost of Additions $

Allocation: (Total Deeded Units: ) Land: $ $ / ( %)

Land Improvements: $ $ / ( %)

Structural Improvement Contribution: $ $ / ( %)

Value Estimate of Non-Realty Items:

Value of Personal Property (local market basis) $

Value of Other Non-Realty Interests: $

Non-Realty Items: $ $ / ( %)

Leased Fee Value (Remaining Term of Encumbrance ) $ / ( %)$
Leasehold Value $ / ( %)$
Overall Value $ / ( 100  %)$

A
ll
o

c
a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

V
a
lu

e

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

N/A

N/A

240,000 (r)

The Cost Approach to Value is based on the premise that an informed buyer will

pay no more for a property, than the cost of constructing a property that is equally desirable.  The Cost Approach to Value starts with the

property as though vacant, then the appraiser estimates the cost of the structural improvements.   Since the subject property is vacant rural

land, this approach to value is not applicable.

The Income Approach to Value is the conversion of the current rental rate, or estimated future pro forma income into value. The estimated

rental income would not cover the estimated holding cost, if utilized strictly for agricultural purposes,  Thus, the Income Approach to Value is

not considered a credible method of valuation.

The Sales Comparison Approach to Value analyzes similar type properties with a dollar adjustment made, based on perceived differences

between the comparable sales and the subject property.  The Sales Comparison Approach values the subject property as one unit, inclusive of

all land classes and encumbrances.  The reliability of this approach to value can be measured, based on the net adjustments reflected by the

individual sales utilized.  Those sales with the least net adjustments are typically considered the most reliable indication of value.

The Sales Comparison Approach to Value, supports an adjusted value range $230,000 to $245,000.

USPAP Standards Rule 1-4 and Rule 1-5, requires the appraiser to analyze any prior sale agreement, option or listing of the subject property,

that occurred with three years of the effective date of valuation.  Prior sales of the same property, that are reasonably recent and not forced, are

considered evidence of market value.  The pending sale has been analyzed and compared to similar type properties within the Sales

Comparison Approach to Value.  The pending sales transactions appears to be an arms-length sales transaction that falls within the

established market range and supports a site value of $240,000.

The estimation of reasonable exposure or marketing periods is normally based on one or more of the following; (1) Statistical information

about days on market, (2) information gathered through sales verification, and (3) interviews of market participants.  The comparative sales

support a marketing time of 0 to 2 months.

0-2 240,000

-

N/A

24.05 240,000 9,979 Acre 100

0 0 Acre 0

0 0 Acre 0

0

0

0 0 Acre 0

- 0 0 Acre 0

0 0 Acre 0

240,000 9,979 Acre

30 40©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Appraiser Certification
I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief:

1. the statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct.

2. the reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported assumptions and limiting conditions,

and are my personal, impartial and unbiased professional analysis, opinions, and conclusions.

3. I have no the specified      present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report and

I have no the specified      personal interest with respect to the parties involved.

4. I have performed no the specified      services, as an appraiser or in any other capacity, regarding the property

that is the subject of this report within the three-year period immediately preceding acceptance of this assignment.

5. I have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the parties involved with this assignment.

6. my engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting predetermined results.

7. my compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the development or reporting of a predetermined

value or direction in value that favors the cause of the client, the amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated

result, or the occurrence of a subsequent event directly related to the intended use of this appraisal.

8. my analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been prepared, in conformity with the

Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice.

9. I have have not      made a personal inspection of the property that is the subject of this report.

10. no one the specified persons     provided significant real property appraisal assistance to the person signing this

certification.

Effective Date of Appraisal: $Opinion of Value:

Appraiser:

Property Inspection: Yes NoSignature:
Inspection Date:

Name:
Appraiser has inspected verified analyzedLicense #:
the sales contained herein.Certification #:

Date Signed:

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

X

X

X

X

X

08/21/23 240,000

Jim French

Certified General Real Estate Appraiser

#675

09/08/23

X

08/30/23

X X

31 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Qualifications of the Appraiser

Appraisal Experience

Independent Fee Appraiser- Pompeys Pillar, Montana; 1995-Present, I have completed over thirteen hundred (1,300) farm, ranch and commercial fee

appraisals in the states of Montana and Wyoming.   Additionally, I have completed numerous residential and rural residential appraisals for mortgage

loan purposes and over one-hundred (100) appraisals for the Department of Interior, under the Uniform Appraisal Standards for Federal Land

Acquisitions.  Licensed as a Certified General Real Estate Appraiser in the State of Montana from March 3, 2003 to present (#675, expires 3/31/24).

Current and in compliance with the mandatory continuing education program.

Mortgage clients included AXA Equitable, Alabama Ag Credit, Bravera Bank, Bank of Baker, Bank of the Rockies, Citibank, Community 1st Federal

Credit Union, Cowboy State Bank, Dakota Community Bank, Farm Credit Services of America, Farm Credit Bank of Texas, First Interstate Bank, First

Dakota National Bank, First Republic Bank, Glacier Bank, Heartland Bank, Little Horn State Bank, Montana Livestock Ag Credit, Northwest Farm

Credit Services, Pinnacle Bank, US Bank, Scotia Bank of Saskatoon, Stockman Bank, Western Security Bank, Rabo-Agri Finance, Yellowstone Bank,

Zion's Bank and the Farmer-Mac Mortgage Program.  In additional I have completed numerous appraisals for the United States Department of Interior

Office of Special Trustee for the American Indian and various law firms throughout the states of Montana and Wyoming.

Related Experience

Currently own and operate a cow/calf operation near Pompeys Pillar, Montana.

Operated numerous grazing leases throughout the state of Montana.

Licensed as a Real Estate Salesperson in the State of Montana 1991-92.

Court Appointed Referee - Estate of Walter Ukkola vs Donald J. Puhto and Janet Barrett Case No. DV-09-121

Court Appointed Referee - Bertolino & Ayre vs Bertolino & Burrows; Cause No. DV-14-52

Court Appointed Referee - Ostermiller vs Nordahl & Guyer; Cause No. DV-18-40

Court Appointed Referee - Glantz, etal vs Glantz; Cause No. DV-20-19

Education

B.S. Business Administration, Montana State University-Billings; 1997

Valuation of Lifestyle and Trophy Ranches, 2/22

Tax Issues in Estate and IRS Cases, 2/22

Current State of 1031 Exchanges, 2/22

7 House National USPAP, 1/22

Highest and Best Use Seminar, 4/21

Property Rights, 2/20

Water Valuation, 2/20

The Complexities of Data Analysis in a Low Volume, Non-Uniform World, 2/19

Legal Perspective of Heirs Property Partition Action, 2/19

Current State of Section 1031 Exchanges, 2/19

Mapping Software and Data for Rural Land Appraisal, 2/19

Report Writing Seminar, 1/18

The Valuation of Intangible and Non-Financial Assets, 2/17

Income Approach Application, 2/17

MT REA 7412, 7 House National USPAP, 2/16

MT REA 4858, Rural Case Studies 1, 2/16

MT REA 6537, Title Lawyers Perspective in Montana Farm/Ranch Transactions, 2/15

MT REA 6540, Estate Appraisal Requirements, 2/15

MT REA 6089, Montana Mentor Class, 2/15

MT REA 6536, Summary of Oil & Gas Leases, 2/15

MT REA 6541, Maps & GPS, 2/15

MT REA 6538, Conservation Easements Trends & Issues, 2/15

MT REA 5408, DNRC Water Rights Seminar, 2/14

ASFMRA Business Ethics, 2/14

7 Hour National USPAP Course (A114), 2/14

MT REA 4255, Wind Power, 2/13

MT REA 120105, Appraising Natural Resources, 2/13

MT REA 120107, GIS for Real Estate and Appraisal, 2/12

MT REA 120106, Montana Access & Easement Law, 2/12

Sales Comparison Approach Seminar, 2/11

32 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Qualifications of the Appraiser

Montana Water & DEQ Issues, 2/11

Farmer Mac Seminar, 2/11

Cost Estimating Seminar, 2/10

Requirements of UASFLA, 10/08

MT REA 08RE0102 Subdivision Analysis, 2/08

MT REA 060863 Discounting & Leases, 10/06

MT REA 060102 Appraising Agricultural Land in Transition, 3/06

MT REA 060203 Montana Access Law & Conservation Easements, 3/06

MT REA 041283 Montana Water & DEQ Issues, 1/05

MT REA 0411284 Subdivision Development, 1/05

MT REA 0411285 Montana Cadastral and NRIS, 1/05

MT-REA 040104 Fannie Mae & The Appraisal Process; 3/04

Appraising Rural Residential Properties; 1/04

A-12, Standards of Professional Appraisal Practices and Code of Ethics; 2/03

MT-REAP-99-0309, Home Inspection; 9/01

MT-REAP-000109, Yield Capitalization; 5/01

MT-REAP-000108, Direct Capitalization; 5/01

MT-REAP-981001, Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice; 3/00

MT-REAP-980614, Advance Writing Skills, 3/00

MT-REAP-981002, Fundamentals of Appraisal II, 3/00

MT-REAP-981003, Fundamentals of Appraisal I, 9/99

Connole-Morton Real Estate School, 1/91

Appraisal and Real Estate Organizations

Associate Member of the American Society of Farm Managers and Real Estate Appraisers

Member of the Billings, Montana Association of Realtors

Member Montana Farm and Ranch Brokers Association

33 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Montana Appraiser License

34 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Section Divider VI

Legal Description

1.  Legal Description

2.  Certificate of Survey

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Legal Description

Township 2 North, Range 29 East, MPM in Yellowstone County, Montana

That part of Section 13, Township 2 North, Range 29 East, of the Principal Montana Meridian, in Yellowstone County, Montana, described as Tract 1,

of Certificate of Survey No. 3217 on file in the office of the Clerk and Recorder of said County, under Document #3316814 (24.049 acres)

Total Deeded Acreage Per Survey Records                                                                                                                                                   24.049 acres+/-

35 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Certificate of Survey

36 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Section Divider VII

Addendum

1.  Engagement Letter

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

UAAR®



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Engagement Letter

37 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Engagement Letter

38 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Engagement Letter

39 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.



File #

Page of

Yellowstone County, Montana

D08235A-23

Engagement Letter

40 40

UAAR®

©1998-2022 AgWare, Inc. All Rights Reserved.











 
3533 Gabel Rd, Billings, MT 59102 

Phone (406)248-7877 | Fax (714)481-8827 

 

 

Escrow Officer:  Mary Ann Patterson  -  maryann.patterson@fste.com 

Title Officer:  Kristina Starns  -  kristina.starns@fste.com  
 
  

  
 
Commitment No. 1110712  
 
RE: Property Address: None Available, , MT  
  

 
 
 

The Ranch Mart                                                      
2443 N. Frontage Road, Po Box 1992       
Billings, MT 59103   
Attention:  Jim Espy  

 
 

The Ranch Mart                                                       
2443 N. Frontage Road, Po Box 1992      
Billings, MT 59103   
Attention:  Jim Espy   

  
 
ENCLOSED please find the following: 

 
• Title Commitment 
• Supporting Documents  

 

*WARNING- WIRE FRAUD ADVISORY* 

 
Wire fraud continues to be a serious and prevalent issue in real estate transactions. Email hackers and 
criminals have become sophisticated and well-versed in targeting email accounts and impersonating 
participants in a transaction. 
 
Flying S Title and Escrow of Montana, Inc. is now using ClosingLock as a transaction portal through 
which we can securely share wire instructions. 
 
If you have an escrow or closing transaction with us and receive an email containing Wire Transfer 
Instructions, other than through ClosingLock, DO NOT RESPOND OR REPLY TO THE EMAIL.  

  

 



 

 

 

rev. 07/2016 

FACTS WHAT DOES OLD REPUBLIC TITLE DO WITH YOUR PERSONAL 

INFORMATION? 

Why? Financial companies choose how they share your personal information. Federal law gives consumers the right to 
limit some but not all sharing. Federal law also requires us to tell you how we collect, share, and protect your 
personal information. Please read this notice carefully to understand what we do. 

What? The types of personal information we collect and share depend on the product or service you have with us. This 

information can include: 

• Social Security number and employment information 

• Mortgage rates and payments and account balances 

• Checking account information and wire transfer instructions 

When you are no longer our customer, we continue to share your information as described in this notice. 

How? All financial companies need to share customers' personal information to run their everyday business. In the 
section below, we list the reasons financial companies can share their customers' personal information; the 
reasons Old Republic Title chooses to share; and whether you can limit this sharing. 

  

Reasons we can share your personal information Does Old Republic 
Title Share? 

Can you limit this sharing? 

For our everyday business purposes – such as to process your 
transactions, maintain your accounts(s), or respond to court orders 
and legal investigations, or report to credit bureaus 

 
Yes 

 
No 

For our marketing purposes – to offer our products and services to 
you 

No We don't share 

For joint marketing with other financial companies No We don't share 

For our affiliates' everyday business purposes — 
 information about your transactions and experiences 

Yes No 

For our affiliates' everyday business purposes —  
information about your creditworthiness 

No We don't share 

For our affiliates to market to you No We don't share 

For non-affiliates to market to you No We don't share 

   

 
Questions 

 
Go to www.oldrepublictitle.com (Contact Us) 

  

Who we are 

 
Who is providing this notice? 

 
Companies with an Old Republic Title names and other affiliates. Please see below for a list of 
affiliates. 

What we do 

How does Old Republic Title 
protect my personal 
information? 

To protect your personal information from unauthorized access and use, we use security 
measures that comply with federal law. These measures include computer safeguards and 
secured files and buildings. For more information, visit 
http://www.OldRepublicTitle.com/newnational/Contact/privacy. 

How does Old Republic Title 
collect my personal information? 

We collect your personal information, for example, when you: 

• Give us your contact information or show your driver's license 

• Show your government-issued ID or provide your mortgage information 

• Make a wire transfer 

We also collect your personal information from others, such as credit bureaus, affiliates, or 
other companies. 

http://www.oldrepublictitle.com/
http://www.oldrepublictitle.com/newnational/Contact/privacy


 

 

Why can't I limit all sharing? Federal law gives you the right to limit only: 

• Sharing for affiliates' everyday business purposes - information about your 

creditworthiness 

• Affiliates from using your information to market to you 

• Sharing for non-affiliates to market to you 

State laws and individual companies may give you additional rights to limit sharing. See the 

"Other important information" section below for your rights under state law. 

Definitions 

Affiliates Companies related by common ownership or control. They can be financial and nonfinancial 

companies. 
• Our affiliates include companies with an Old Republic Title name, and financial companies 
such as Attorneys' Title Fund Services, LLC, Lex Terrae National Title Services, Inc., 
Mississippi Valley Title Services Company, and The Title Company of North Carolina. 

Non-affiliates Companies not related by common ownership or control. They can be financial and non-

financial companies. 
• Old Republic Title does not share with non-affiliates so they can market to you 

Joint marketing A formal agreement between non-affiliated financial companies that together market financial 

products or services to you. 
• Old Republic Title doesn't jointly market. 

Affiliates Who May Be Delivering This Notice 

American First Abstract, 
LLC 

American First Title & 

Trust Company 

American Guaranty Title 

Insurance Company 

Attorneys' Title Fund 

Services, LLC 

Compass Abstract, Inc. 

eRecording Partners 
Network, LLC 

Genesis Abstract, LLC Kansas City Management 

Group, LLC 

L.T. Service Corp. Lenders Inspection Company 

Lex Terrae National Title 
Services, Inc. 

Lex Terrae, Ltd. Mara Escrow Company Mississippi Valley Title 

Services Company 

National Title Agent's Services 

Company 

Old Republic Branch 
Information Services, Inc. 

Old Republic Diversified 

Services, Inc. 

Old Republic Exchange 

Company 

Old Republic National 

Title Insurance 

Company 

Old Republic Title and Escrow of 

Hawaii, Ltd. 

Old Republic Title Co. Old Republic Title 

Company of Conroe 

Old Republic Title 

Company of Indiana 

Old Republic Title 

Company of Nevada 

Old Republic Title Company of 

Oklahoma 

Old Republic Title 
Company of Oregon 

Old Republic Title 

Company of St. Louis 

Old Republic Title 

Company of Tennessee 

Old Republic Title 

Information Concepts 

Old Republic Title Insurance Agency, 

Inc. 

Old Republic Title, Ltd. Republic Abstract & 

Settlement , LLC 

Sentry Abstract Company The Title Company of 

North Carolina 

Title Services, LLC 

Trident Land Transfer 
Company, LLC 

    

 



 

This page is only a part of a 2016 ALTA ® Commitment for Title Insurance issued by Old Republic National Title Insurance Company. This Commitment 
is not valid without the Notice; the Commitment to Issue Policy; the Commitment Conditions; Schedule A; Schedule B, Part I - Requirements; Schedule 

B, Part II - Exceptions; and a counter-signature by the Company or its issuing agent that may be in electronic form. 
 
 

Copyright 2006-2016 American Land Title Association. All rights reserved. 
The use of this Form (or any derivative thereof) is restricted to ALTA licensees and ALTA members in good standing as of the date of use. All other 

uses are prohibited. Reprinted under license from the American Land Title Association. 
 

File No. 1110712  
 

  Page 1 of 9  
 

ALTA Commitment for Title Insurance (8-1-16) 
 

 

   
ORT Form 4690 6/06 Rev. 8-1-16 

 

 
ALTA COMMITMENT FOR TITLE INSURANCE 

Issued By 

OLD REPUBLIC NATIONAL TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY 
NOTICE 

 
IMPORTANT – READ CAREFULLY: THIS COMMITMENT IS AN OFFER TO ISSUE ONE OR MORE TITLE INSURANCE POLICIES. ALL 
CLAIMS OR REMEDIES SOUGHT AGAINST THE COMPANY INVOLVING THE CONTENT OF THIS COMMITMENT OR THE POLICY MUST BE 
BASED SOLELY IN CONTRACT. 
 
THIS COMMITMENT IS NOT AN ABSTRACT OF TITLE, REPORT OF THE CONDITION OF TITLE, LEGAL OPINION, OPINION OF TITLE, OR 
OTHER REPRESENTATION OF THE STATUS OF TITLE. THE PROCEDURES USED BY THE COMPANY TO DETERMINE INSURABILTY OF THE 
TITLE, INCLUDING ANY SEARCH AND EXAMINATION, ARE PROPRIETARY TO THE COMPANY, WERE PERFORMED SOLELY FOR THE 
BENEFIT OF THE COMPANY, AND CREATE NO EXTRACONTRACTUAL LIABILITY TO ANY PERSON, INCLUDING A PROPOSED INSURED. 
 
THE COMPANY’S OBLIGATION UNDER THIS COMMITMENT IS TO ISSUE A POLICY TO A PROPOSED INSURED IDENTIFIED IN SCHEDULE 
A IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS AND PROVISIONS OF THIS COMMITMENT. THE COMPANY HAS NO LIABILITY OR OBLIGATION 
INVOLVING THE CONTENT OF THIS COMMITMENT TO ANY OTHER PERSON. 

 
COMMITMENT TO ISSUE POLICY 

 
Subject to the Notice; Schedule B, Part I – Requirements; Schedule B, Part II – Exceptions; and the Commitment Conditions, Old 
Republic National Title Insurance Company, a Florida Corporation (the “Company”), commits to issue the Policy according to the 
terms and provisions of this Commitment. This Commitment is effective as of the Commitment Date shown in Schedule A for each Policy 
described in Schedule A, only when the Company has entered in Schedule A both the specified dollar amount as the Proposed Policy 
Amount and the name of the Proposed Insured. 
 
If all of the Schedule B, Part I – Requirements have not been met within six months after the Commitment Date, this Commitment 
terminates and the Company’s liability and obligation end. 

 

 

Issued through the office of: 
Flying S Title and Escrow of 
Montana, Inc. 
3533 Gabel Rd Billings, MT 59102 
(406)248-7877 

 

 
 

Authorized Signature 

 
If this jacket was created electronically, it constitutes an original document. 

  

https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637


 

This page is only a part of a 2016 ALTA ® Commitment for Title Insurance issued by Old Republic National Title Insurance Company. This Commitment 
is not valid without the Notice; the Commitment to Issue Policy; the Commitment Conditions; Schedule A; Schedule B, Part I - Requirements; Schedule 

B, Part II - Exceptions; and a counter-signature by the Company or its issuing agent that may be in electronic form. 
 
 

Copyright 2006-2016 American Land Title Association. All rights reserved. 
The use of this Form (or any derivative thereof) is restricted to ALTA licensees and ALTA members in good standing as of the date of use. All other 

uses are prohibited. Reprinted under license from the American Land Title Association. 
 

File No. 1110712  
 

  Page 2 of 9  
 

ALTA Commitment for Title Insurance (8-1-16) 
 

 

COMMITMENT CONDITIONS 

 
1. DEFINITIONS 

(a) “Knowledge” or "Known": Actual or imputed knowledge, but not constructive notice imparted by the Public Records. 
(b) “Land”: The land described in Schedule A and affixed improvements that by law constitute real property. The term "Land" 

does not include any property beyond the lines of the area described in Schedule A, nor any right, title, interest, estate, 
or easement in abutting streets, roads, avenues, alleys, lanes, ways, or waterways, but this does not modify or limit the 
extent that a right of access to and from the Land is to be insured by the Policy. 

(c) “Mortgage”: A mortgage, deed of trust, or other security instrument, including one evidenced by electronic means 
authorized by law. 

(d) “Policy”: Each contract of title insurance, in a form adopted by the American Land Title Association, issued or to be issued 
by the Company pursuant to this Commitment. 

(e) “Proposed Insured”: Each person identified in Schedule A as the Proposed Insured of each Policy to be issued pursuant to 
this Commitment. 

(f) “Proposed Policy Amount”: Each dollar amount specified in Schedule A as the Proposed Policy Amount of each Policy to 
be issued pursuant to this Commitment. 

(g) “Public Records”: Records established under state statutes at the Commitment Date for the purpose of imparting 
constructive notice of matters relating to real property to purchasers for value and without Knowledge. 

(h) “Title”: The estate or interest described in Schedule A. 
 

2. If all of the Schedule B, Part I – Requirements have not been met within the time period specified in the Commitment to Issue 
Policy, this Commitment terminates and the Company’s liability and obligation end. 

 
3. The Company’s liability and obligation is limited by and this Commitment is not valid without: 

(a) the Notice; 
(b) the Commitment to Issue Policy; 
(c) the Commitment Conditions; 
(d) Schedule A; 
(e) Schedule B, Part I-Requirements; 
(f) Schedule B, Part II-Exceptions; and 
(g) a counter-signature by the Company or its issuing agent that may be in electronic form.  

 
4. COMPANY’S RIGHT TO AMEND 

The Company may amend this Commitment at any time. If the Company amends this Commitment to add a defect, lien, 
encumbrance, adverse claim, or other matter recorded in the Public Records prior to the Commitment Date, any liability of the 
Company is limited by Commitment Condition 5. The Company shall not be liable for any other amendment to this Commitment. 
 

5. LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY 
(a) The Company’s liability under Commitment Condition 4 is limited to the Proposed Insured’s actual expense incurred in the 

interval between the Company’s delivery to the Proposed Insured of the Commitment and the delivery of the amended 
Commitment, resulting from the Proposed Insured’s good faith reliance to: 

i. comply with the Schedule B, Part I – Requirements; 
ii. eliminate, with the Company’s written consent, any Schedule B, Part II – Exceptions; or 
iii. acquire the Title or create the Mortgage covered by this Commitment. 

(b) The Company shall not be liable under Commitment Condition 5(a) if the Proposed Insured requested the amendment or 
had Knowledge of the matter and did not notify the Company about it in writing. 

(c) The Company will only have liability under Commitment Condition 4 if the Proposed Insured would not have incurred the 
expense had the Commitment included the added matter when the Commitment was first delivered to the Proposed 
Insured. 

(d) The Company’s liability shall not exceed the lesser of the Proposed Insured’s actual expense incurred in good faith and 
described in Commitment Conditions 5(a)(i) through 5(a)(iii) or the Proposed Policy Amount. 

(e) The Company shall not be liable for the content of the Transaction Identification Data, if any. 
(f) In no event shall the Company be obligated to issue the Policy referred to in this Commitment unless all of the Schedule 

B, Part I - Requirements have been met to the satisfaction of the Company. 
(g) In any event, the Company’s liability is limited by the terms and provisions of the Policy. 

 

https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637


 

This page is only a part of a 2016 ALTA ® Commitment for Title Insurance issued by Old Republic National Title Insurance Company. This Commitment 
is not valid without the Notice; the Commitment to Issue Policy; the Commitment Conditions; Schedule A; Schedule B, Part I - Requirements; Schedule 

B, Part II - Exceptions; and a counter-signature by the Company or its issuing agent that may be in electronic form. 
 
 

Copyright 2006-2016 American Land Title Association. All rights reserved. 
The use of this Form (or any derivative thereof) is restricted to ALTA licensees and ALTA members in good standing as of the date of use. All other 

uses are prohibited. Reprinted under license from the American Land Title Association. 
 

File No. 1110712  
 

  Page 3 of 9  
 

ALTA Commitment for Title Insurance (8-1-16) 
 

 

 
 

6. LIABILITY OF THE COMPANY MUST BE BASED ON THIS COMMITMENT 
(a) Only a Proposed Insured identified in Schedule A, and no other person, may make a claim under this Commitment. 
(b) Any claim must be based in contract and must be restricted solely to the terms and provisions of this Commitment. 
(c) Until the Policy is issued, this Commitment, as last revised, is the exclusive and entire agreement between the parties 

with respect to the subject matter of this Commitment and supersedes all prior commitment negotiations, 
representations, and proposals of any kind, whether written or oral, express or implied, relating to the subject matter of 
this Commitment. 

(d) The deletion or modification of any Schedule B, Part II – Exception does not constitute an agreement or obligation to 
provide coverage beyond the terms and provisions of this Commitment or the Policy. 

(e) Any amendment or endorsement to this Commitment must be in writing and authenticated by a person authorized by the 
Company. 

(f) When the Policy is issued, all liability and obligation under this Commitment will end and the Company’s only liability will 
be under the Policy. 

 
7. IF THIS COMMITMENT HAS BEEN ISSUED BY AN ISSUING AGENT 

The issuing agent is the Company’s agent only for the limited purpose of issuing title insurance commitments and policies. The 
issuing agent is not the Company’s agent for the purpose of providing closing or settlement services. 

 
8. PRO-FORMA POLICY 

The Company may provide, at the request of a Proposed Insured, a pro-forma policy illustrating the coverage that the Company 
may provide. A pro-forma policy neither reflects the status of Title at the time that the pro-forma policy is delivered to a Proposed 
Insured, nor is it a commitment to insure. 

  

https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637


 

This page is only a part of a 2016 ALTA ® Commitment for Title Insurance issued by Old Republic National Title Insurance Company. This Commitment 
is not valid without the Notice; the Commitment to Issue Policy; the Commitment Conditions; Schedule A; Schedule B, Part I - Requirements; Schedule 

B, Part II - Exceptions; and a counter-signature by the Company or its issuing agent that may be in electronic form. 
 
 

Copyright 2006-2016 American Land Title Association. All rights reserved. 
The use of this Form (or any derivative thereof) is restricted to ALTA licensees and ALTA members in good standing as of the date of use. All other 

uses are prohibited. Reprinted under license from the American Land Title Association. 
 

File No. 1110712  
 

  Page 4 of 9  
 

ALTA Commitment for Title Insurance (8-1-16) 
 

 

 

ORT Form 4690 A (8-1-16)  
 

 
 

ALTA Commitment for Title Insurance 
 

Issued By 

 

Old Republic National Title Insurance Company  

 
Transaction Identification Data for reference only: 
Issuing Agent and Office: Flying S Title and Escrow of Montana, Inc., 3533 Gabel Rd, Billings , MT 59102 (406)248-
7877  
Issuing Office's ALTA ® Registry ID: 1147062    
Loan ID No.:    
Issuing Office Commitment/File No.: 1110712  
Property Address: None Available, , MT  
    
Revision No.:   

SCHEDULE A 

1. Commitment Date: August 29, 2023 at 7:30 A.M.  

2. Policy to be issued:                               Premium Amount reflects applicable rate  
  

 

(a) ☒  2006 ALTA ® Standard Owner's Policy  
 Proposed Insured: Yellowstone County    
 Proposed Policy Amount: $240,000.00    Premium Amount   $  900.00  
 Endorsements:                          $    

 

 

 
  

 

(b) ☐  2006 ALTA ®  Loan Policy  
 Proposed Insured:    
 Proposed Policy Amount: $  Premium Amount $    
 Endorsements:     $    
   
(c) ☐   ALTA ®  Policy  
 Proposed Insured:    

 Proposed Policy Amount: $   Premium Amount  $    
 Endorsements:            $    

 

3. The estate or interest in the Land described or referred to in this Commitment is fee simple. 

4. The Title is, at the Commitment Date, vested in: 
Heirs and Devisees of Barbara Schmalz also known as Barbara K. Schmalz, deceased. Jeffrey D. 
Schmalz has been appointed Personal Representative of said estate.  

  

https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPMcyptl5zgKSvvZFbcb8xeyptEF4SY%3d&h=06800e04-8e07-4542-be50-14b371d90b4e


 

This page is only a part of a 2016 ALTA ® Commitment for Title Insurance issued by Old Republic National Title Insurance Company. This Commitment 

is not valid without the Notice; the Commitment to Issue Policy; the Commitment Conditions; Schedule A; Schedule B, Part I - Requirements; Schedule 
B, Part II - Exceptions; and a counter-signature by the Company or its issuing agent that may be in electronic form. 
 
 

Copyright 2006-2016 American Land Title Association. All rights reserved. 

The use of this Form (or any derivative thereof) is restricted to ALTA licensees and ALTA members in good standing as of the date of use. All other 
uses are prohibited. Reprinted under license from the American Land Title Association. 
 

File No. 1110712  
 

  Page 5 of 9  
 

ALTA Commitment for Title Insurance (8-1-16) 
 

 

5. The Land is described as follows: 

That part of Section 13, Township 2 North, Range 29 East, of the Principal Montana Meridian, 
in Yellowstone County, Montana, described as Tract 1, of Certificate of Survey No. 3217 on 
file in the office of the Clerk and Recorder of said County, under Document #3316814. 

  
  

By:           
     Authorized Countersignature 
   (This Schedule A valid only when Schedule B is attached.) 

  

https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3v8B6tF4eKqeyptyXgqROUcN4%3d&h=066daf69-a5d2-473a-8094-c1f609a54be1


 

This page is only a part of a 2016 ALTA ® Commitment for Title Insurance issued by Old Republic National Title Insurance Company. This Commitment 

is not valid without the Notice; the Commitment to Issue Policy; the Commitment Conditions; Schedule A; Schedule B, Part I - Requirements; Schedule 
B, Part II - Exceptions; and a counter-signature by the Company or its issuing agent that may be in electronic form. 
 
 

Copyright 2006-2016 American Land Title Association. All rights reserved. 

The use of this Form (or any derivative thereof) is restricted to ALTA licensees and ALTA members in good standing as of the date of use. All other 
uses are prohibited. Reprinted under license from the American Land Title Association. 
 

File No. 1110712  
 

  Page 6 of 9  
 

ALTA Commitment for Title Insurance (8-1-16) 
 

 

 

ORT Form 4690 B I (8-1-16)  
 

 
 

ALTA Commitment for Title Insurance 
 

Issued By 

 

Old Republic National Title Insurance Company  

 
 SCHEDULE B, PART I 

Requirements 

All of the following Requirements must be met: 

1. The Proposed Insured must notify the Company in writing of the name of any party not referred to in 
this Commitment who will obtain an interest in the Land or who will make a loan on the Land. The 
Company may then make additional Requirements or Exceptions. 

2. Pay the agreed amount for the estate or interest to be insured. 

3. Pay the premiums, fees, and charges for the Policy to the Company. 

4. Documents satisfactory to the Company that convey the Title or create the Mortgage to be insured, or 
both, must be properly authorized, executed, delivered, and recorded in the Public Records. 

5. If any document in the completion of this transaction is to be executed by an attorney-in-fact, the 
Power of Attorney must be submitted for review prior to closing. 

  

6. We require the attached Seller/Borrower Affidavit be completed prior to recording. 

7. To eliminate paragraph 17 of Schedule B - Exceptions, we require one or more of the following: 
1. A full audit from the estate's accountant and his letter determining the possibility of taxes due, 
2. A final determination letter from the IRS that taxes are paid, 
3. A bond filed with the IRS to cover the payment of the tax, 
4. A Certificate of Discharge or Certificate of Release of the Land. 

  

https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637


 

This page is only a part of a 2016 ALTA ® Commitment for Title Insurance issued by Old Republic National Title Insurance Company. This Commitment 
is not valid without the Notice; the Commitment to Issue Policy; the Commitment Conditions; Schedule A; Schedule B, Part I - Requirements; Schedule 

B, Part II - Exceptions; and a counter-signature by the Company or its issuing agent that may be in electronic form. 
 
 

Copyright 2006-2016 American Land Title Association. All rights reserved. 
The use of this Form (or any derivative thereof) is restricted to ALTA licensees and ALTA members in good standing as of the date of use. All other 

uses are prohibited. Reprinted under license from the American Land Title Association. 
 

File No. 1110712  
 

  Page 7 of 9  
 

ALTA Commitment for Title Insurance (8-1-16) 
 

 

 

ORT Form 4690 B II (8-1-16)  
 

 

 

ALTA Commitment for Title Insurance 
 

Issued By 

 

Old Republic National Title Insurance Company  

SCHEDULE B, PART II 
Exceptions 

 
THIS COMMITMENT DOES NOT REPUBLISH ANY COVENANT, CONDITION, RESTRICTION, OR LIMITATION 
CONTAINED IN ANY DOCUMENT REFERRED TO IN THIS COMMITMENT TO THE EXTENT THAT THE 
SPECIFIC COVENANT, CONDITION, RESTRICTION, OR LIMITATION VIOLATES STATE OR FEDERAL LAW 
BASED ON RACE, COLOR, RELIGION, SEX, SEXUAL ORIENTATION, GENDER IDENTITY, HANDICAP, 
FAMILIAL STATUS, OR NATIONAL ORIGIN. 

The Policy will not insure against loss or damage resulting from the terms and provisions of any lease or 
easement identified in Schedule A, and will include the following Exceptions unless cleared to the 
satisfaction of the Company:   

1. Taxes or assessments which are not shown as existing liens by the records of any taxing authority 
that levies taxes or assessments on real property or by the Public Records. 

2. Any facts, rights, interests, or claims which are not shown by the Public Records but which could be 
ascertained by an inspection of said Land or by making inquiry of persons in possession thereof. 

3. Easements, claims of easement or encumbrances which are not shown by the Public Records.  

4. Any encroachment, encumbrance, violation, variation, or adverse circumstance affecting the title 
including discrepancies, conflicts in boundary lines, shortage in area, or any other facts that would be 
disclosed by an accurate and complete land survey of the Land, and that are not shown in the Public 
Records.  

5. (a) Unpatented mining claims; (b) reservations or exceptions in patents or in Acts authorizing the 
issuance thereof; (c) water rights, claims or title to water, ditch or ditch rights, whether or not the 
matters excepted under (a), (b), or (c) are shown by the public records.  

6. Any liens, or rights to a lien, for services, labor or material theretofore or hereafter furnished, 
imposed by law and not shown by the Public Records. 

7. Any right, title or interest in any minerals, mineral rights or related matters, including but not limited 
to oil, gas, coal and other hydrocarbons, sand, gravel or other common variety materials, whether or 
not shown by the Public Records. 

https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637


 

This page is only a part of a 2016 ALTA ® Commitment for Title Insurance issued by Old Republic National Title Insurance Company. This Commitment 
is not valid without the Notice; the Commitment to Issue Policy; the Commitment Conditions; Schedule A; Schedule B, Part I - Requirements; Schedule 

B, Part II - Exceptions; and a counter-signature by the Company or its issuing agent that may be in electronic form. 
 
 

Copyright 2006-2016 American Land Title Association. All rights reserved. 
The use of this Form (or any derivative thereof) is restricted to ALTA licensees and ALTA members in good standing as of the date of use. All other 

uses are prohibited. Reprinted under license from the American Land Title Association. 
 

File No. 1110712  
 

  Page 8 of 9  
 

ALTA Commitment for Title Insurance (8-1-16) 
 

 

8. County road rights-of-way not recorded and indexed as a conveyance of record in the office of the 
Clerk and Recorder pursuant to Title 70, Chapter 21, M.C.A., including, but not limited to any right of 
the Public and the County of Yellowstone to use and occupy those certain roads and trails as depicted 
on County Surveyor's maps on file in the office of the County Surveyor of Yellowstone County. 

9. Any defect, lien, encumbrance, adverse claim, or other matter that appears for the first time in the 
Public Records or is created, attaches, or is disclosed between the Commitment Date and the date on 
which all of the Schedule B, Part I - Requirements are met. 

  

10. 2023 taxes and special assessments are an accruing lien, amounts not yet determined or payable. 

The first one-half becomes delinquent after November 30th of the current year, the second one-half 
becomes delinquent after May 31st of the following year. 
 
General taxes as set forth below.  Any amounts not paid when due will accrue penalties and interest 
in addition to the amount stated herein: 
 
Year First Half / Status Second Half / Status Parcel Number Covers 
2022  $193.88  Paid  $193.86  Paid  D08235A  Subject Land  
 
 
 

11. Unrecorded leaseholds;  rights of parties in possession, rights of secured  parties, vendors and 
vendees under conditional sales contracts of personal property installed on the premises herein, and 
rights of tenants to remove trade fixtures.  

12. Reservations in United States Patent, recorded May 7, 1923, , in Book 84, Page 230, as Instrument 
No. 171765 . 

13. Easement granted to Yellowstone Valley Electric Association, a corporation, recorded June 21, 1938, 
in Book 206, Page 59 as Instrument No. 329195. 

14. Easement for irrigation lateral and matters incidental thereto granted to United States, 
recorded August 27, 1969 in Book 903, Page 560, as Instrument No. 847071.  

15. All matters, covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements and any rights, interests or claims which 
may exist by reason thereof, disclosed by Record of Survey recorded December 28, 2004, as 
instrument number 3316814, but deleting any covenant, condition or restriction indicating a 
preference, limitation or discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex, handicap, familial status, or 
national origin to the extent such covenants, conditions or restrictions violate 42 USC 3604(c).  

16. Title as vested is subject to further administration upon the estate of Barbara K. Schmalz in the 
Yellowstone  District Court, Case No. DP-21-376. 

Jeffrey D. Schmalz was appointed Personal Representative on October 22, 2021. 

17. Any lien for federal estate tax payable by reason of the death of Barbara K. Schmalz. 

18. Any judgments against Yellowstone County. 
  

https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM5OLSflv9egLFHkzSEh2ncM%3d&h=fbcd7d80-f7c9-4d1c-9547-014a65eb0119
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM5CruDTOXs648s1gEAdyVcypt0%3d&h=9ccb948b-0e0d-4237-9745-3c13bc2ce108
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPMzP4F934NijRWFOpEE4S8xk%3d&h=bdee586d-cbb9-4a12-ae64-d0505a4169f1
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM1DGvKbvMd2F5fHc2NPgDcyptc%3d&h=1636bced-64b3-4e00-8fa5-dc715fb06681
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3v8B6tF4eKqeyptyXgqROUcN4%3d&h=066daf69-a5d2-473a-8094-c1f609a54be1


 

This page is only a part of a 2016 ALTA ® Commitment for Title Insurance issued by Old Republic National Title Insurance Company. This Commitment 

is not valid without the Notice; the Commitment to Issue Policy; the Commitment Conditions; Schedule A; Schedule B, Part I - Requirements; Schedule 
B, Part II - Exceptions; and a counter-signature by the Company or its issuing agent that may be in electronic form. 
 
 

Copyright 2006-2016 American Land Title Association. All rights reserved. 

The use of this Form (or any derivative thereof) is restricted to ALTA licensees and ALTA members in good standing as of the date of use. All other 
uses are prohibited. Reprinted under license from the American Land Title Association. 
 

File No. 1110712  
 

  Page 9 of 9  
 

ALTA Commitment for Title Insurance (8-1-16) 
 

 

  
INFORMATIONAL NOTES 

  

A. Notice: Due to the conflict between federal and state laws concerning the cultivation, distribution, 

manufacture or sale of marijuana, the Company may not be able to close and insure a transaction 
involving Land that is associated with these activities. 

  

https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637
https://fste.etitledocs.com/meta/index?m=65c9326e-c85d-4274-8f78-a1f4be133aea&q=PeKkLJ9dneyptLgN7U9nuLPM3ZKZBnylhmCQcypts8NcyptviFio%3d&h=cd72915b-6aba-426e-8344-07f2a20b4637


   
B.O.C.C. Regular 7. b.        
Meeting Date: 09/19/2023  
Title: Right of Entry Use Permit for Worden Ballantine Yellowstone County Water & Sewer District
Submitted For: Tim Miller, Public Works Director 
Submitted By: Tim Miller, Public Works Director

TOPIC:
Right of Entry Permit for the Worden Ballantine Yellowstone County Water & Sewer District

BACKGROUND:
The right of entry permit is to allow the Water & Sewer District and its contractors to access county property for
stream monitoring on Arrow Cr.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Place the permit to file

Attachments
Encroachment 




	Agenda
	AI 12328 September Recognition
	AI 12347 MetraPark Financial Update by Mike Mayott, Advisory Board President
	       ATT_Metra FY23 Report
	AI 12348 Bid Opening for Audit Services for Yellowstone County
	AI 12247 Public Hearing for MRM Unified Campus Low Income Housing Tax Credit Project 
	AI 12258 Onyx Pointe Subdivision - Preliminary Major Plat
	       ATT_Findings of Fact
	       ATT_Proposed Plat
	       ATT_SIA Draft
	AI 12123 Gresham Subdivision - County Major Preliminary Plat
	       ATT_Findings of Fact
	       ATT_Preliminary Plat
	       ATT_Draft Subdivision Improvement Agreement
	AI 12312 Olive Grove Subdivision - Preliminary minor plat
	       ATT_Findings of Fact
	       ATT_Proposed Plat
	       ATT_SIA Draft
	       ATT_Attachment A Variance
	AI 12293 Resolution of Intent to Adopt No Parking Area on a Portion of Iroquois Trail
	       ATT_No Parking Map
	       ATT_No Parking Resolution of Intent
	AI 12340 Johnson Lane Materials Covenant
	       ATT_Johnson Lane Ag
	AI 12332 Board Resignation Thank You Letter
	       ATT_Richard Klose 
	       ATT_Bob Wolske
	       ATT_Cheryle Fisher
	AI 12339 Board Openings
	       ATT_Board Openings 
	AI 12349 Board Appointment
	       ATT_Erika Guy 
	AI 12345 Letter to Director Beatty
	       ATT_Letter to MTDOR 
	AI 12329 Metra ARPA Infrastructure Contract Terracon for Materials Testing
	       ATT_Metra ARPA Arena Lot - Terracon
	AI 12336 Memorandum of Understanding- Yellowstone County-Marine Corp League-Riverside Cemetery Marker Placement
	       ATT_Riverside Cemetery MOU - Marine Corp League
	AI 12341 Metra Request to Expend Cattle Panels for 4-H
	       ATT_Metra RTE Cattle Panels 2023
	AI 12342 Metra Contract with Cushing Terrell - Architectural Services - Northwest Arena level & Concourse Level Concessions 
	       ATT_Metra Contract NW Concessions CTA
	AI 12343 Revised -MOU for MBCC Grant RSAT with Turn Key Health Clinics
	       ATT_MOU MBCC grant RSAT - Turn Key Health Clinics
	AI 12344 Revised -MOU for DPHHS Grant HEART and SOR with Turn Key Health Clinics
	       ATT_MOU DPPHS grant HEART_SOR - Turn Key Health Clinics
	AI 12331 MOU between Department of Justice and Sheriff's Office for the Transfer of Axon Taser X2 Equipment
	       ATT_MOU Taser X2 Equipment
	AI 12355 PARS
	       ATT_PARS
	       ATT_PARS1
	AI 12354 Conflict of Interest Statements 
	       ATT_Conflict of Interest Statements
	AI 12352 Board Minutes
	       ATT_Policy Coordinating Committee Board Minutes
	AI 12351 Disbursements and Checks for August 2023
	       ATT_Clerk of Court Disbursements 
	AI 12330 Public Comment - ZC 717
	       ATT_Public Comment 
	AI 12353 Detailed Cash Investment Report August 2023
	       ATT_Detailed Cash Investment Report August 2023
	AI 12350 Letter to Director of Emergency Management
	       ATT_Letter to Director of Emergency Management
	AI 12335 Land Appraisal for Schmalz Property, Contract for Land Appraisal and Commitment Letter
	       ATT_Gravel
	Cover Page
	Signed Letter
	Table of Contents
	Table of Contents Additional
	Section Divider I
	Limiting Conditions
	Scope of Work
	Scope of Work
	Hypothetical Conditions and/or Extraordinary Assumptions
	UAAR Value Definition '05
	Section Divider II
	Report Summary
	Area Description
	Market Area Location Map
	Subject Land Description
	Aerial Map
	FEMA Flood Hazard Map
	Property Access and Land Use Photos
	Subject History and Use
	Section Divider III
	Active Listing Summary Sheet
	Active Listing Photos
	Section Divider IV
	Sales Comparison (1-5) '04
	Summary of the Comparable Sales
	Explanation of Adjustments and Reconciliation of the Sales
	Sales Adjustment 1
	Sales Adjustment 2
	Sales Adjustment 3
	Sales Adjustment 4
	Sales Adjustment 5
	Sales Comparison Approach Location Map
	Comparative Sales Photos
	Section Divider V
	Reconciliation '04
	Certification
	Qualifications of the Appraiser
	Qualifications of the Appraiser
	Montana Appraiser License
	Section Divider VI
	Legal Description
	Certificate of Survey
	Section Divider VII
	Engagement Letter
	Engagement Letter
	Engagement Letter
	Engagement Letter

	       ATT_Gravel
	       ATT_Gravel
	AI 12338 Right of Entry Use Permit for Worden Ballantine Yellowstone County Water & Sewer District
	       ATT_Encroachment

